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Defendant was convicted in the Ciccuit Court, Pinellas
County, Crockett Farnell, J., of firsi-degree murder
and was sentenced to death, and he appealed. The
Supreme Court held that: (1} admission of codefen-
dant's statement with instructions that it could be used
only against codefendant was harmless crror; (2)
Judge was sentencing authority and jury’s sentencing
role was not unconstitutionally denigrated by State;
(3) while sentence would not be overturned because
trial judge did not enter his written findings until three
months after oral sentencing of defendant, new pro-
cedural rule would be adopted that all written orders
imposing death sentence be prepared prior to oral
pronouncement of sentence for filing concurrent with
pronouncement; and (4) provisions of statute were
invalid insofar as they permitted introduction of vic-
tim impact evidence as aggravating factor in death
sentencing.

Affirmed.
Shaw . J.. concurred specially with opinion.
Kogan, J., concurred in result only.

Barkett, 1., concurred in part and dissented in part with
opinion.
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110 Criminal Law
110X X Continuance

110k6v2 Application and Alfidavits for Con-
unuance
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Criminal Law 110 €614(1)

110 Criminal Law
110X]1X Continuance
110k614 Second or Further Continuance

110k61401) k. In General. Most Cited Cases
Trial court could deny first-degree murder defendant's
request for continuance, filed four days prior to trial,
where defendant had been granted two prior conti-
nuances and cocounsel had been appointed to assist

counsel in trial preparation.
[2] Criminal Law 110 €=1166.6

110 Criminal Law

LIOXXIY Review

LLOXXIV(Q) Harmless and Reversible Ervor
110k 1166.5 Conduct of Trial in General
110k1166.6 k. In General, Most Cited

(Formerly 110k1166.11(1))
Release of evidentiary videotape during course of trial
was not prejudicial, absent evidence that jury violated
its oath and court instructions not to watch or read
news coverage of trial; such violations would not be
assumed.

3] Privileged Communications and Confidential-
ity 311H €52366

311H Privileged Communications and Confidentiality
311V Public Officers and Records
31L1HK366 k. Personnel Files. Most Cited
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Subpoena duces tecum for slain officer's personnel file
was properly denied; file was public record, and de-
fendant refused to particularize request as to specific
information desired despite court's invitation to do so.

4] Homicide 203 €954

203 Homicide
2031X Bvidence
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2031X(D) Admissibility in General
203k933 Circumstances Preceding Act
203k034 k. In General. Most Cited

(Formerly 203k 169(1))

Evidence ot slain officer's movements and conduct in
issuing cilation to uninvolved person minutes before
officer was murdered was relevant and admissible in
murder prosecution.

|5] Criminal Law 110 €2371(12)

LTOXV]T Evidence
P1XVIIE) Other Offenses
371 Acts Showing Intent or Malice or

Molive

110k371(12) k. Motive. Most Cited
Evidence of defendant's prior burglary during which
he obtained handgun and of other crimes for which
defendant was on probation was admissible in prose-
cution for first-degree murder of officer; that evidence
was relevant 1o defendant's motive in killing officer
when she apprehended him and seized weapon.

§6] Criminal Law 110 €2369.2(4)

ity Crimimal Law
1TOXVIT Evidence
1TOXVI{F) Other Offenses
110k369 Other Offenses as Evidence of
Offense Charged in General
110k369.2 Evidence Relevant o Of-
fense. Also Relating to Other Offenses in General
110k369.2(3) Particular Offenses,
Prosecutions {or
110k369.2(4) k. Assault, Homi-
cide, Abortion and Kidnapping. Most Cited Cases
Evidence of defendant’s threats o kill his housemate
was admissible in prosecution for officer's murder:
threat was relevant to housemate's motivation in no-
tifying police after defendant recounted story of kill-
ing to him.

|71 Homicide 203 €=1016
203 Homicide

20518 Evidence
2031X(123 Admissibitity in General
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Exculpatory Circumstances
203k 1016 k. Statements by Accused.
Most Clited Cases
(Formerly 203k174(8))

Homicide 203 €~21029

203 Homicide
2031X Evidence
2031X(D) Admissibility in General

Exculpatory Circumstances
203k1029 k. Suppression or Destruction
(Formerly 203k 174(8))
Evidence of defendant's orders to his housemate to
bury handguns was admissible in prosecution for
murder of officer with one of those guns; orders in-
dicated defendant's consciousness of guilt and enabled
jury to follow path of weapons from murder scene to
courtroom.

18t Criminal Law 110 €=438(6)

110 Criminal Law
110XV Evidence
TIOX VI Documentary Evidence
110k431 Private Writings and Publications

tres

L1 0k438(5) Depiction of Injuries or
Dead Bodies

110k438(6) k. Purpose of Ad-

Photographs of murder victim at crime scene and of
victim's head at autopsy were relevant evidence of
method and cause of death and, given nature of sub-
ject, were not unnecessarity gruesome.

9] Homicide 203 €=1413

203 Homicide
2013 X11 Instructions
203X11(B) Sufficiency
203k 1408 Killing in Commission of or with

Intent to Commit Other Unlawful Act
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(Formerly 203k289)
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Intent to Commit Other Unlawful Act
203k 1421 k. Robbery. Maost Cited Cases
{Formerly 203k289}
Felony-murder instructions based on burglary, rob-
bery, and escape were supported by evidence that
defendant charged with murder of officer was com-
mitting probation violation with handgun taken during
burglary of home when he was apprehended by victim
and that victim had taken possession of defendant’s
handgun and driver's license.

110} Homicide 203 €~21143

203 Homicide
203X Evidence
20U3IN(G) Weight and Sufhciency
03k1 138 First Degree, Capital, or Aggra-

vated Mu rder

203k1145 k. Dehberation and Preme-
ditation. Most Cited Cases
(Formerly 203k253(3))
First-degree murder conviction was supported by
evidence that defendant fired officer’s weapon into
back of her head during struggle after being appre-
hended while committing probation violation; jury
could believe that murder was premeditated, as mere
assault on officer and repossession of items she had
taken from him would not have satisfied defendant's
fear of going back to prison for probation violation
and would only have worsened his situation.

|11{ Criminal Law 110 €528

110 Criminal Law
1TOXVII Evidence
LIOXVEH(T) Confessions
110k328 k. Codefendants and Accomplices.

Most Cited Cases

Admission during joint murder trial of codefendant's
interlocking confession with instruction that it could
not be used against defendant was error. 1) 5.C.A.

Const. Amend. 0.

[12] Criminal Law 110 £=71169.7

110 Criminal Law
HIOXXIV Review
PIOXXIV(Q) Harmless and Reversible Error
L0k 169 Admission of Evidence
[10k1169.7 k. Acts, Declarations, and

Admissions of Accomplices and Codefendants. Most

Error from admission during joint murder trial of
codefendant's interlocking confession with instruction
that it not be considered against defendant was harm-
less under facts and circumstances; that statement
interlocked with and was fully consistent in all sig-
nificant aspects with other statements made by de-
fendant that were directly admissible against him and
bore sufficient indicia of reliability. U.S.C.A.
Const. Amend. f.

[13] Criminal Law 110 €749

110 Criminal Law
110X X Trial

11OXX(F) Province of Court and Jury in

General
110k733 Questions of Law or of Fact

Cited Cases
In Florida, judge is the sentencing authority and jury's
role is merely advisory.

4]  Sentencing and  Punishment 350H
E=1780(3)

350H Sentencing and Punishment
3500V The Death Penalty
I50HVITNG) Proceedings
3501VING)3 Hearing
350HK 1780 Conduct of Hearing
JS0HK1780(3) k. Instructions. Most
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Cited Cases
(Formerly 203k311)

Failure to instruct jury as to great weight that would be
given its advisory recommendation on life imprison-
ment or death penalty in murder prosecution was not
so misleading as to amount to unconstitutional deni-
gration; judge was required to make independent de-
termination of sentence based on aggravating and
mitigating factors notwithstanding jury's recommen-
dation.

|15] Sentencing and Punishment 350H £=1681

33011 Sentencing and Pumishment
501V The Deaih Penalty
JHVHI(D)Y Factors Related o Offense

ERY

OHK1681 k. Killing While Committing
Mher Offense or in Course of Criminal Conduct. Most
Cired Cases

{(Formerly 203k357(8), 203k354)
Sentencing and Punishment 350H €1682

35011 Sentencing and Punishment
350HV 1L1{13} Factors Related to Offense
A50HK 1682 k. Escape or Other Obstruction
of Justice. Most Cited Cases
{(Formerly 203k357(8), 203k354)

Sentencing and Punishment 350H €1684

33011k 1634 k. Vileness, Heinousncss, or

Atrocity. Most Cited Cases
{Formerly 203k357(8), 203k354)

Death sentence lor first-degree murder of wildlife
olficer, based on finding of aggravating circumstances
that murder was committed while engaged in com-
mission of or attempt o commit or flight after com-
mitting or attempting to commit crime of robbery or
burglary, was committed for purpose of avoiding or
preventing lawful arrest, was committed to disrupt or
hinder lawful exercise of government function or
cnforcement of laws, and was especially wicked, evil,
alrocious, or cruel, was supported by evidence that
defendant struck oflicer, who apprebended him during
commission of probation violation, 20 to 30 times
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with heavy duty flashlight before shooting her with
her own weapon.

L16] Sentencing and Punishment 350H €=1787

350H Sentencing and Punishment
350HVTII The Death Penalty
250HVIGY Proceedings
I50HVI(GY Determination and Disposi-
tion
350HK1787 k. Decision, and Order or
Judgment. Most Cited Cases
(Formerly 110k1208.1(6))
While death sentence in first-degree murder prosecu-
tion would not be overturned because trial judge did
not enter written findings until three months after oral
sentencing, procedural rule would become effective
30 days after finality of decision, requiring all written
orders imposing death sentence to be prepared prior to
oral pronouncement of sentence for filing concurrent
with that pronouncement. West's F.5.A. Const. Art, 3,

& 2la).

117] Sentencing and Punishment 3530H €1626

350H Sentencing and Punishment
350HVIIM The Death Penalty
350HVITI(A) In General
350HK1622 Validity of Statute or Regula-
tory Provision
350Hk1626 k. Procedure. Most Cited

Cases
(Formerly 203k351)

Provisions of statute permitting next of kin of homi-
cide victim to either appear before court or to submit
written statement under oath for consideration of
sentencing court prior to sentencing of defendant
convicted of homicide are invalid, insofar as they
permit intreduction of victim impact evidence as ag-
gravating factor in death sentencing. West's I'S.A. §¢§
921,141, 921.143(2).

118] Criminal Law 110 €21036.1(1)

110 Criminal Law
TIOXXIV Review
1 1OXXIV(E) Presentation and Reservation in
[ower Court of Grounds of Review
HTOXXIV{E)Y In General
110k 1036 Evidence
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H10k1036.1{1) k. Objections to
Evidence in General. Most Cited Cases
(Formerty 203k325)
Defendant convicted of homicide was procedurally
barred from seeking relief from admission of victim
impact evidence by his failure to object to introduction
thereof, West's FS AL § 921 141,

[19] Criminal Law 110 C1177.3(2)

110 Criminal Law

TIOXNIV Review

TTONXIV (O Harmless and Reversible Error
110kT177.3 Sentencing and Punishment
L LM 177.3(2) k. Sentencing Proceed-

{Formerly 110k1177)
Lrroneous introduction of victim impact evidence is
subjeet to harmless error analysis on case-by-case
basis.

[20]  Sentencing and  Punishment 350H
€521789(9)

33011 Sentencing and Punishment
A30HNVHI The Death Penalty
ISOHVIEI(G) Proceedings
I50HVIHG)E Determination and Disposi-
tion
23011789 Review of Proceedings to
[mpose Death Sentence
350HKI7R9Y) k. Harmless and Re-
versible Brror. Most Cited Cases
(Formerly 203k343)
Erroneous receipt of victim impact evidence in capital
murder case was harmless, as death penalty would
have been imposed in absence of that evidence; sen-
tencing judge's wrillen findings showed no reliance on
that evidence, and jury recommended death by twelve
to zero vote based on evidence of statutory aggravat-
ing circumstances only. West's 'S A § 921141,

21 Sentencing and  Punishment  350H

C=21784(2)

3501] Sentencing and Punishment
 3sOUVIIG) Proceedings
350HVIHGH Determination and Disposi-

tion
3501k1784 Verdict or Recommenda-

tion of Jury

350Hk1784(2) k. Effect of Recom-
mendation. Most Cited Cases

{Formerly 110k992)

Jury recommendation of death, reflecting conscience
of the community, is entitled to great weight.
*835 Elizabeth G. Mansfield of the Law Office of
Gary A. Carnal, St. Petersburg, for appellant.

Robert A. Butterworth, Atty. Gen. and Lauren Hafher
Sewell, Asst. Atty. Gen., Tampa, for appellee.

PER CURIAM.

Appellant Martin Grossman appeals his conviction for
first-degree murder and his sentence of death. We
have jurisdiction. Art. V., § 3(b)(1). Fla, Const. We
affirm the conviction and sentence.

The facts surrounding the case are as follows. Appel-
lant and a companion, Taylor, drove to a woodcd area
of Pinellas County on the night of December 13, 1984,
to shoot a handgun which appellant had recently ob-
tained by burglarizing a home. Appeflant lived in
neighboring Pasco County at his mother's home and
was on probation following a recent prison term.
Wildlife Officer Margarel Park, patrolling the area in
her vehicle, came upon the two men and became sus-
picious. She left her vehicle with the motor, lights, and
flashers on, and took possession of appellant's weapon
and driver's license. Appellant pleaded with her not to
turn him in as having a weapon in his possession and
being outside of Pasco County would cause him to
return to prison for violation of probation. Officer
Park refused the plea, opened the driver's door to her
vehicle and picked up the radio microphone to call the
sheriff's office. Appellant then grabbed the officer's
large flashlight and struck her repeatedly on the head
and shoulders, forcing her upper body into the vehicle,
Officer Park reported “I'm hit” over the radio and
screamed. Appellant continued the attack, and called
for hetp from Taylor, who joined in the assault, Of-
ficer Park managed to draw her weapon, a 357
magnum, and fired a wild shot within the vehicle.
Simultaneously, she temporarily disabled Taylor by
kicking him in the groin. Appellant, wha is a large
man, wrestled the officer's weapon away and fired a
fatal shot into the back of her head. The spent slug
exited her head in front and fell into a drinking cup

€ 2010 Thomson Reuters, No Claim to Orig. US Gov. Works.




525 S0.2d 833, 13 Fla. L. Weekly 349
(Cite as: 525 So.2d 833)

inside the vehicle. Blood stains, high velocity splat-
ters, the location ol the spent slug, and the entry and
exit wounds show that the victim's upper body was
inside the vehicle with her face turned inward or
downward at the moment she was killed. Appellant
and Taylor took back the seized handgun and driver's
license, and fled with the officer's weapon. They re-
turned to the Grossman home, where they told the
story of the killing, individuaily and collectively, to a
friend who lived with the Grossmans. The friend.
Brian Hancock, and Taylor buried the two weapons
nearby. Appcllant, who was covered with blood, at-
templed unsuccessfully to burn his clothes and shoes
which Taylor later disposed of in a ncarby lake. Ap-
proximately a week later appellant and Taylor, indi-
vidually and coilectively, recounted the story of the
murder to another friend, Brian Allan. Approximately
eleven days afier the murder, Hancock told his story to
the police and appellant and Taylor were arresied.
Taylor, upon his arrest, recounted the story of the
murder to a policeman and, later, appellant told the
story to a jailmate, Charles Brewer. Appellant and
Taylor were tried jointly over appellant's objection. At
trial, the state introduced the *836 testimony of Han-
cock, Allan, and Brewer against appellant. The state
also mroduced Taylor's statement to the policeman
against Taylor only. In addition, the state introduced
the charred shoes, the two weapons, prints taken from
the victim's vehicle, testimony from a neighbor who
observed the attempted burning of the clothes, appel-
lant's efforts o c¢lean the Grossman van, and the
changing of the van tircs. Expert testimony as to the
cause of death and the significance of blood splatier
evidence was alse introduced by the state. The jury
was instructed that Taylor's admissions to the po-
liceman could only be used against him, not appellant.
The jury was instructed on premeditation and felony
murder based on robbery, burglary, and escape. A
general verdiet of first-degree murder was returned
against the appellant and Taylor was found guilty of
third-degree murder. The judge followed the jury's
twelve-to-zero recommendation that the appellant be
senlenced to death.

Appellant raises eighteen issues for our consideration:
{1} did the trial court err in permiting the introduction
of codefendant Taylor's statement in a joint trial with
instructions that the stutement could only be used
against Taylor, not appellant; (2) did the court err in
refusing to suppress ilems found in a warrantless
scarch of the Grossman residence and cars in the res-
wence garape; (3) did the state and court violate

Caldhvell v, Mississippi, 472 U8, 320. 105 5.Ct. 2633,
a0 L. Ed.2d 231 (1983), by denigrating the importance
of the jury recommendation of life or death and by
failing to give a requested instruction on the weight to
be given to the jury recommendation; (4} did the court
err in denying a request for a continuance; (5) did the
court err in failing to exclude television cameras from
the courtroom and in releasing an cvidentiary video-
tape during the course of the trial; (6) did the court err
in denying a subpoena duces tecum for Officer Park's
personne! file and in permitting evidence at trial of
Officer Park's demeanor and conduct just prior to the
murder; (7) did the court err in permitting evidence of
appellant's prior burglary during which he obtained a
handgun, of other crimes for which appellant was on
probation, of appellant's threats to kill Hancock, and
of appellant's orders to Hancock to bury the two
handguns; (8) did the court err in permifting intro-
duction of a photograph of the victim at the crime
scene and of photographs of the victim's head at the
autopsy; (9) did the court err in permitting introduc-
tien of the shoes and T-shirt recovered from the lake;
{10) did the court err in permitting expert testimony on
blood splatter evidence; (11) did the court err in in-
structing the jury on burglary, robbery, and escape as
underlying felonies to felony murder; (12) was the
evidence sufficient to support the conviction; (13) did
the court err in refusing to give a jury instruction that
an accomplice's testimony should be received with
great caution; (14) did the court err in refusing to give
requested penalty phase instructions; (15) did the
court crr in finding four aggravating factors and no
mitigating factors; {16) did the court commit reversi-
ble error by failing to enter written findings on the
death senlence before the notice of appeal had been
filed; (17) is Florida's death penalty unconstitutional
on its face and as applied; and (18) was reversible
crror committed in permitting family members to
testify before the sentencing judge on the impact of the
murder on the next-of-kin.

LB A6 7URI9ILL0] We address first those
issues which merit only brief comment. On Issue 2,
the search in question was conducted with the per-
mission of the homeowner, Mrs. Grossman. Moreo-
ver, nonc of the items seized were introduced into
evidence. On [ssue 4, appellant had been granted two
prior continuances and co-counsel had been appointed
to assist counsel in trial preparation. We see no abuse
of discretion in denying the third request for a conti-
nuance which was filed four days prior to trial. On
Issue 3, there is no evidence that the cameras affected
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the trial and we sce no abuse of discretion in denying
the motion to exclude the cameras. Mouxwel! v 5
443 Su.2d 967 (Fla. 1983); Suwe v. € :

e, dne, 370 50.2d 704 (Fla 1979). Similarly, the
release of the evidentiary videotape could only be
prejudicial*837 if we agsume that the jury violated its
nath and the court instructions not to watch or read
news coverage of the trial. We decline to indulge in
such an assumption. /u Re Posi-Newsweek, 370 So.2d
. On lssue 6, the personnel record in question
was a public record available to appellant and the
court invited appellant 1o submit a more limited sub-
pocna addressed to the specific information desired.
Appellant refused to particularize his request. We find
no crrar. As to the evidence of Officer Park’'s demea-
nor and the conduct just prior to the murder, Officer
Park's movements and conduct in issuing a citation to
an uninvolved person minutes before the officer was
murdered was relevant evidence which the jury was
entitled to hear. On Issue 7, the fact that appeltant was
on probation for previous crimes and that the theft of a
gun violated his probation was relevant to his motive
in killing Officer Park when she apprehended him and
seized the weapon. The threat to Hancock's life was
relevant to Hancock's motivation in notifying the
police. The orders o bury the guns indicated a con-
scionsness of guilt and enabled the jury to follow the
path of the weapons from the murder scene to the
courtroom. On Issue §, the photographs of the crime
scenc and the victim's head were relevant evidence of
ihe methed and canse of death. Given the nature of the
subject. they are not unneccessarily gruesome; rele-
vancy is the test. Fosrer v Sfare, 309 50.2d 928, 930
(Fla.), cort, denied 444 1S, 885, 100 S.CuL 178, 62
L.Ld.2d 116 (1979). On Tssue 9, the T-shirt was not
admutted 1 evidence. On the question of whether the
sneakers admitted into evidence belonged to appel-
lant, the sneakers were partially bumed and the jury
was presented evidence of their attempted destruction,
disposition, and recovery. Whether they belonged to
appeilant was a jury question. On Issuc 10, the expert
wittiess was qualified as a blood splatter expert. We
are satisfied that he was qualified and performed suf-
ficient analysis to opine that the splatters were from a
high velocity weapon, and that the victim's mortal
wound was inflicted inside the vehiele. On Issue |1,
there was evidence to support felony murder instruc-
tions based on burglary, robbery, and escape. The jury
could have believed that the murder was motivated by
a desire to escape from custody and to take back from
the officer by force the handgun and driver's license.

Moreover, the cvidence suggests that the victim was
beaten or wrestled into the vehicle. On Issue 12, ap-
pellant asserts there was insufficient cvidence to prove
fist-degree murder on cither a felony murder or
premeditation theory. We disagree. There was suffi-
cient evidence to support either or both theories. On
premeditation, appellant's fear of going back to prison
for violation of probation would not have been satis-
fied by beating the officer into submission and taking
back the handgun and driver's license. Indeed, the
assault on the officer only worsened his situation as
she could have identified him as her assailant and his
vehicle. On the evidence, the jury was entitled to be-
lieve that the murder was premeditated. Roberts v,
State, 510 850.2d 835 (Fla. 1987), Wilson v, Swte, 493
Sa2d [019, 1021 (Fla. 1986); Preston v Srare, 444
S50.2d 939, 944 (Fla.1984). The argument that appel-
lant makes here, that he merely panicked and killed
the officer out of fear, is the same argument he made
to the jury and which it rejected. We are satisfied that
the evidence was legally sufficient to support the
convictions. Tibbs v Stare, 397 So.2d 1120
(Fla. 1981}, off'd, 457 U.S. 31, 102 S.Ct. 502, 70
L.Ed.2d 378 (1982). On Issue |3, appellant urges that
the jury should have been instructed that witness
[Tancock was an accomplice and that his testimony
should be received with great caution, Hancock was
not an accomplice to the murder for which appellant
was being tried. The standard jury instructions on
witness credibility and the jury's prerogative to believe
or disbelicve witnesses adequately covers Hancock's
status. On Issue 14, appellant challenges the refusal of
the court to give the jury a series of special instruc-
tions requested by appeflant. The standard jury in-
structions adequately address appellant's concerns. On
Issue 17, appellant argues that seven motions to dis-
miss should have been granted because Florida's death
penalty statute is unconstitutional*838 on its face and
as applied. All of appellant's arguments have been
previously resolved contrary to his position and merit
no conmuent.

Appellant and his codefendant were tried jointly, and
neither testified at trial. Codefendant Taylor's state-
ment to the police was introduced into evidence
against Taylor only and the jury was instructed that
this statement could not be wsed against appellant.
This was done on the rationale that Taylor's statement
interlocked with the three statements that appellant
made to witnesses Hancock, Allan, and Brewer. At the
time of trial this appeared to be permissible under
Parker v. Randolph, 442 U.S. 62,99 5.Ct. 2132, 60
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L.Ed.2d 713 (1979), where a plurality of the court held
that interlocking confessions of codefendants could be
introduced 1n a joint trial as an exception to Lriron v,
Cgired Stares, 391 ULS, 123, 88 S.Cr 1620, 20
L.l 2d 476 (196%), without violating the confronta-
tion clause of the sixth amendment, provided the jury
was instructed that the codefendant’s statement could
only be used against the codefendant. The plurality
view of Parker has since been rejected and we must
exanune this issue in light of Criec v, New York, 48]
CS R0 0TSO0 1714, 95 LEd.2d 162 (1987).

Parker was decided on the theory that introduction of
the confession of a non-testifying codefendant against
the codefendant only, which interlocked with a con-
[ession of the defendant, was permissible in a joint
trial because it presented nothing of evidentiary value
against the defendant which was not already properly
before the jury. Consequently, the theory went, the
jury could reasonably be expected to follow an in-
struction that it should not use the non-testifying co-
defendant's confession against the defendant and. even
il'it did not, the crror would be harmless. In rejecting
this theory, the majority in Cruz reasoned:

Quite obviously, what the “interlocking” nature of the
codefendant's confession pertains to is not its
harmfilness but rather its reliabilitv: If it confirms
essentially the same facts as the defendant's own
conlession it is more likely to be true. 1ts reliability,
however, may be relevant to whether the confession
should (despite the lack of opportunity for
cross-examination) be admitted as evidence against
the defendant, see Lee v, fHlinois, 470 115 5301106
S.CL 2050, 90 [LEd.2d 514] (1986). but cannot

conceivably be relevant to whether, assuming it

cannot be admitied, the jury is likely to obcy the
instruction to disregard it, or the jury's failure to
obey is likely to be inconsequential.

107 5.Ct al 171 8-1Y (emphasis in original). The Court
then went on to make three holdings, all of which arc
applicable herc. First, it is error to admit a
non-testifying codefendant's confession incriminating
the defendant notwithstanding an instruction not to
consider it against the defendant. This is so even (f the
defendant's own interlocking confession is admitted.
Second, the defendant's confession may be considered
as an indica of reliability in determining whether the
codefendant's confession may be directly admissible
against the defendant. Third, in recognition that its

ruling would impact on trials already conducted under
the Parker theory, the Court held that the defendant's
confession could be considered on appeal in deter-
mining whether admission of the codefendant's con-
fession was harmless.

LLLJEE2] It is clear from Cruz that admission of Tay-
lor's statement with instructions that it not be uscd
against appellant was error. It is alse clear from the
record that this error was harmless. Taylor's statement
interlocks with and is fully consistent in all significant
aspects with all three statements that appellant made to
Hancock, Allan, and Brewer and which were directly
admissible against appellant. The indicia of reliability
are sufficient to have permitted introduction of Tay-
lor's statement as evidence against appellant. Appel-
lant makes two arguments that this is not so, both of
which are contrary to the record. First, he argues that it
is only Taylot's statement which emphasizes appel-
lant's primary role in the murder. This is contrary to
the record which shows that appellant told Hancock,
Allan, and Brewer *839 that it was he who first at-
tacked and battered the officer and that it was he who
wrestled her weapon away and fired the single shot
which killed her. In all three statements, Taylor's role
is clearly subordinate while appellant's role as the
initiater and friggerman is dominant. Second, appel-
lant argues, he and Taylor jointly recounted the story
of the murder to Hancock and Allan and neither wit-
ness was able to identify for the court which defendant
said what. This is contrary to the record which shows
that the witnesses were able for the most part to iden-
tify appeilant as the person who narrated the critical
elements of the story. Moreover, even if this were not
true, the joint statements of appellant and Taylor given
in each other's presence would be admissible against
both as admissions against penal interest. We hold that
it was error to admit Taylor's statement in the joint
trial as evidence against Taylor only, but that this error
was harmless under the facts and circumstances of the
case. Cruz, Hurringion v. Califoraia, 395 U5, 25(), 89
S.CL 1726, 23 L.Ed.2d 284 (1969).

13] In a two-pronged argument, appellant argues that
the sentencing role of the jury was unconstitutionally
denigrated by the state and that the jury was not
properly instructed on the great weight which would
be given to its advisory recommendation on life im-
prisonment or the death penalty. Caldwell; Tedder v.
Sigre, 322 80.2d 908 (Ila, 1975). During the jury voir
dire, several potential jurors indicated misgivings
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about their ability to impose the death penalty. Instead
of attempting to challenge the jurors for cause as
permitted by edavrichr v Wiy 469 115 412, 105
SO0 S48 LEd 2d 841 (1985), the state sought to
reassure the jurors that the jury role was to make an
advisory recommendation to the judge and that the
judge had the ultimate responsibility for sentencing to
death. Florida's death penalty statute, section 921141,
Florida Statuies (1983), provides that the jury shall
hear the cvidence on aggravation and mitigation and
render an gdvisory sentence based on whether there
are sufficient aggravaling circumstances to warrant a
death sentence, and, if so, whether there are sufficient
mitigating circumstances to outweigh the aggravating
circumstances. The stwtute goes on to provide that,
notwithstanding the recommendation of the jury, the
judge shall weigh the aggravating and mitigating
circumstances and enter a sentence of life imprison-
ment or death based on the judge's weighing process.
In the event the death sentence is imposed, the judge is
required (o set forth in writing the findings on which
the death sentence 1s based. It is these written findings
of fact and the trizl record which furnish the basis for
this Court's review of the death sentences. 11 is clear
then, that the prosecutor correctly stated the law in
Florida: the judge is the sentencing authority and the
jury's role is merely advisory. Thus, Caldwef!, which
addressed the denigration of the jury acting as a sen-
tencer is clearly distinguishable. Conibs v, Stare, 525
So.2d RS2 (Fla 1988); Aldrider v, State, 503 So.2d
1257, 1259 (Flal987) Pope v Wabiwricht, 496
S0.2d 798, 804 (Fla, 1986, cert. denied 430 1.5, 951,
107 S.CL 1617, 94 L. Ed.2d RO (1987); Darden v,
Srate. 475 S0.2d 217, 221 (Fla.19R5).

[14] In the second prong to ihis argument, appellant
urges that the failure of the court to instruet the jury
that its recommended sentence would be given great
weight so misied the jury as to violate Caldwell In
Tedder, we held “[a] jury recommendation under our
trifurcated death penalty statute should be given great
weight” and, in order to sustain an override by the trial
judge of a jury recommendation of lifc "N “he facts
suggesting a sentence of death should be so clear and
convincing that virtually no reasonable person could
differ.” Tedder, 322 S0.2d al 910, The jury here
recommended death but appellant argues that the
deference paid to the jury recommendation under
Tedder is so great that the jury becomes the de facto,
*840 if not de jure, sentencer and our standard jury
instructions do not adequately inform the jury of the
overwhelming power it possesses to determine the
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sentence. Thus, appellant urges, had the jury unders-
tood the very nearly conclusive impact of its recom-
mendation under Tedder, it might have recommended
lifc imprisonment. We are not persuaded that the
weight given to the jury's advisory recommendation is
so heavy as to make it the de facto sentence. Qur case
law contains many instances where a trial judge's
override of a jury recommendation of life has been
upheld. See Craig v, Stare, S10 So,2d 857 (Fla. 1987},
cert. denied, 484 1U.S. 1020, 108 5.Cr. 732_ 98 | Ed.2d
680 (198R8), and cases cited therein. Notwithstanding
the jury recommendation, whether it be for life im-
prisonment or death, the judge is required to make an
independent determination, based on the aggravating
and mitigating factors. Randofph v, Stuie, 463 S0.2d
186, 192 (Fla. 1984}, cert. denied, 473 LU.8. 907, 105

§.01. 3533, 87 1. 1Ed.2d 656 (1983); Engle v. Siaie, 438
So2d 803, 813 (Fla.1983). ceri. denied, 465 .S
1074, 104 S.Ct 1430, 79 [L.EA.2d 753 (1984 Ross v,
State, 386 _So.2d 1191, 1197 (Fla, 1980). Moreover,
this procedure has been previously upheld against
constitutional challenge. Spazigng v, Florida, 468
U.S, 447, 466, 104 S.CL. 3154, 3165, 82 L..Ed.2d 340
(1984 Projffite v, Floridg, 428 U.S, 242, 96 S.Ct
2960, 49 1..Ed.2d 913 (1976). In the penalty phase of a
capital proceeding, the jury is instructed, in pertinent
part, that although the final responsibility for sen-
tencing is with the judge. that it should not act hastily
or without due regard to the gravity of the proceed-
ings, that it should carefully weigh, sift, and consider
evidence of mitigation and statutory aggravation,
realizing that human life is at stake, and bring to bear
its best judgment in reaching the advisory sentence.
We are satisfied that these instructions fully advise the
jury of the importance of its role and correctly state the
law.

FNI. We have also held that a jury recom-
mendation of death should be given great
weight. Ross v, Stafe, 386 So.2d 1191, 1197
(Fla. 19800, Lelhc v, State, 365 So.2d 149,
151 (Fla.1978), cert. denied 444 U.S. 883.
100 S.Cr. 175,62 L.Ed.2d 114 (1979).

[15] The sentencing order found four aggravating
circumstances: {1) the murder was committed while
engaged in the commission of or an attempt to com-
mit, or flight after committing or attempting to com-
mit, the crime of robbery or burglary; (2) the murder
was commilted for the purpose of avoiding or pre-
venting a lawful arrest; (3) the murder was committed
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to disrupt or hinder the fawful exercise of a govern-
ment function or the enforcement of laws; and (4} the
murder was especially wicked. evil, atrocious, or
cruel. Numbers two and three were treated as one
circumstance by the trial judge. Appellant argues that
none of these aggravating circumstances are present.
We disagrec. Concerning number one, 1t is clear from
the cvidence that appellant’s handgun and driver's
license and the victim's handgun were forcibly taken
and that the struggle occurred at least in part inside the
victim's vehicte, Thus, both a burglary and a robbery
occurred. Concerning aggravating factors two and
three, it is clear from the evidence that appellant ad-
vised the officer that he was in violation of his proba-
tion and that he committed the murder to escape from,
avoid, or preveni, an arrest and to disrupt or hinder the
enforcement of the probation laws. Moreover, the
evidence also shows that the handgun in his posses-
sion was obtained illegally, which fact would have
been revealed had he not escaped and taken back the
weapon. As to aggravating factor four, appellant ar-
gues that death occurred almost instantaneously and
ihat there were no additional acts 1o set the crime apart
from the norm. This argument overlooks the fact that
the murder was preceded by a brutal beating, Appel-
lant's statements indicate that he struck the officer
twenty Lo thirty times with a heavy-duty flashiight but
was unable to beat her into unconsciousness or to
subduc her despite his large size and the assistance of
Taylor.™ The ferocity of the attack and the ferocity
with which the officer defended herself, coupled with
her knowledge that appellant was attacking to prevent
a return to prison, lead inevitably to the conclu-
stion*841 that she knew she was fighting for her life
and knew that if she was subdued or her weapon taken,
her fife would be forfeited. ™ Under these circums-
lances, we are satisfied that the trial judge did not
abuse his discretion in finding that the murder was
heinous, atrocious, and crucl. Wilsen v, Staie, 436
S0.2d 908, 912 (Fla. 1983}, Appellant also argues that
there was substantial evidence that he had noe prier
history of violence, hc had a deprived and difficult
adolescence, he was only nineteen, he expressed re-
morse for the crime, and he had been a well-behaved
and cooperative prisoner. Neither the jury nor the

judge wus sufficiently impressed by this evidence to

find that it outweighed the aggravaling circumstances.
We sce no error. Robderts and cases cited thereimn,
Tedder.

FN2. Appellant, who 1s 63" and 225 pounds,
was approximately a foot taller and 100
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pounds heavier than the officer,

N3, The ferocity of the attack is partially
explained by appellant's contemptuous
statement to Brewer that he was not going to
bc arrested by a womar.

[16} Appellant's next point is that the sentence should
be overturned because the trial judge did not enter his
written findings until three months after orally sen-
tencing him to death. Appellant argues that the cir-
cumstances here are virtually identical to those in Fan
Ko v, Sigre, 497 S0.2d 6235 (Fla. 1986). We disagrec.
The judge's written findings were made prior to the
certification of the record to this Court. It is not de-
terminative that these written findings were made after
the notice of appeal was filed seven days after the oral
pronouncement of sentence. Under our death penalty
statute, appeal is automatic and under Florida Rule of
Appellate Procedure 9. 140(b)(4), governing capital
appeals, the trial court retains concurrent jurisdiction
for preparation of the complete trial record for filing in
this Court. Muehleman v. State, 503 So0.2d 310 (Fla.),
cert. denied 484 1).8. ®82. 108 S.Cr. 39, 98 L.Iid.2d
170 (1987).

Since Vun Royal issucd we have been presented with a
number of cases in which the timeliness of the trial
judge's sentencing order filed after oral pronounce-
ment of sentence has been at issue. In Van Royal and
its progeny, we have held on substantive grounds that
preparation of the writlen sentencing order prior to the
certification of the trial record to this Court was ade-
quate. At the same time, however, we have stated a
strong desire that written sentencing orders and oral
pranouncements be concurrent. Pulicrson v, Staie,
513 So.2d 1257 (Fla 1987y Muehleman, We recog-
nize that the trial court here, and the trial court in other
cases which have reached us or will reach us in the
near future, have not had the benefit of Var Royal and
its progeny. Nevertheless, we consider it desirable to
establish a procedural rule that all written orders im-
posing a death sentence be prepared prior to the oral
pronouncement of sentence for filing concurrent with
the pronouncement. Accordingly, pursuant lo our
authority under article V, scction 2(a). of the Florida
Constitution, effective thirty days after this decision
becomes final, we so order.

Since the briefs and arguments on this case werc
presented to the Court, the United States Supreme
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107 S.CL 2529, 96 L Ld 2d 440 (1987), holding that
introduction of victim impact evidence to a capital
punishment  sentencing  jury  violated the cighth
amendment 1o the United States Constitution. Because
our record review revealed that such victim impact
evidence was prescnted to the sentencing judge, but
not to the jury, we ordered that supplemental briefs be
subniitted on the impact of Bouth on the case at hand,

In Booth, the defendant chose to be sentenced by a
jury. [n accordance with Maryland law, a mandatory
victim impact staternent was prepared and submitted
to the jury. The thrust of this evidence was twofold.
First, that the two victims were exceptionally kind and
gentle persons and the bereavement of the family was
severe, Second, and following from the first, there was
no conceivable excuse for murdering such persons and
execution was the appropriate penalty. The Booth
court concluded that such evidence of victim impact
was irrelevant to any legitimate sentencing consider-
ation i capital punishment cases and *842 that in-
troduction of such evidence created a constitutionally
unacceplable risk that the jury may impose the death
penalty in an arbitrary and capricious manner. Con-
sequently, the Maryland statute was held to be invalid
insofar as it required victim impact information to be

: . . . I
considered in capital punishment cases.™™

FN4. The Court was careful to state that its
decision implied no opinion as to the use of
victim impact statements 0 non-capital cas-

5.

[17] Florida's death penalty statule, section 921,141,
limits the aggravating circumstances on which a sen-
tence of death may be imposed to the circumstances
listed in the statute, § 921.141(5). The impact of the
murder on family members and friends is not one of
these aggravating circumstances. Thus, vietim impact
is a non-statutory aggravating circumstance which
would not be an appropriate circumstance en which to
base a death sentence. Bluir v. Staie, 406 So.2d 1103
(Fla 1981 Miller v State, 373 S0.2d 882 (Fla, 1979);
Jilev v, State, 366 S0.2d 19 (Fla. 1978}, Florida law
provides, however, that prior to sentencing any de-
fendant convicted of a homicide, the next-ol-kin of the
homicide victim will be permitted to either appear
before the court or to subinit a written statement under
oath for the consideration of the sentencing court.
These statcments shall be limited solely “to the facts
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of the case and the extent of any harm, including so-
cial, psychological, or physical harm, financial losses,
and loss of earnings directly or indirectly resulting
from the erimc for which the defendant is being sen-
tenced.” § 921.143(2}, Fla.Stat. (1985). Thus, it is
clear that the Florida Legislature, like Congress and
the legislature of at least thirty-five other states, has
made the judgment “that the cffect of the crime on the
victims should have a place in the criminal justice
system.” Booth, 107 §.CL at 2536 n. 12, It is also
clear, however, from the Booth decision, that the leg-
islature may not make this judgment in capital pu-
nishment cases. Accordingly, we hold that the provi-
sions of scction 921.143 are invalid insofar as they
permit the introduction of victim impact evidence as
an aggravating factor in death sentencing."™

holding to death penalty cases.

| 18] The first question is whether appeltant's failure to
object to the introduction of the victim impact evi-
dence is a procedural bar to raising the issue on appeal.
Victim impact is not one of the aggravating factors
enumerated in section 921.141. We have previously
held that “[t]he aggravating circumstances specified in
the statute are exclusive, and no others may be used
for that purpose.” Mifler, 373 So.2d at 885 Thus,
appellant was entitled to object to the introduction of
the evidence. The state correctly points out that ap-
pellant made no objection, whereas in Booth there was
an objection to such evidence. There is nothing in the
Booth opinion which suggests that it should be re-
troactively applied to the cases in which victim impact
evidence has been received without objection. Except
for fundamental ervor, an appellate court will not
consider an issue unless it was presented to the lower
court. Steinhorst v. Srate, 412 S0.2d 332 (Fla. 1982).
Therefore, we hold that by his failure to make a timely
objection, appellant is procedurally barred from
claiming relief under Booth.

[19] While our consideration of the Booth 1ssue could
stop at this point, for the benefit of the bench and the
bar we choose to also discuss whether, had an objec-
tion been made, the error could be deemed harmless.

Appellant does not argue that harmless error analysis
may not be apptied to Booth errors, but we consider it
necessary o consider the question in view of its im-
portance.”™ We begin our consideration by not-
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ing“843 that the Boorh court did not specifically state
whether harmless error analysis was permitied, pre-
sumably because the issue was not raised. However,
its disposition of the case does not rule out application
of harmless error and, normally, the Court finds it
desirable to leave the determination of harmless error,
i the first instance, to the lower court. Rose v, Clark
AR S.CL 570, 106 S.CL 3101, 3109, 92 1 Ed.2d 460
(1986 Dedaweare v, Ve Arsdall, 475 1.5, 673, 684,
106 5. Cn 1431, 1438, 89 Load.2d 74 (1980); Unired
Sicos v Haseone, 401 LS 499 510, 103 S.Cr 1974
IO, fo o bd 2d Yo Lusd).

I'NG. Prior to 1984, only the vietim ot a crime
could testify during the sentencing proceed-
mg as to its impact. Since § 921,143 was
amended by ch. 84-363, Laws of Fla., the
next-of-kin of homicide victims are permit-
ted Lo testily on the impact of the homicide.
Presentence imvestigation (PSI) reports may
also include information on victim impact.
Here, for example, the PSI included the fol-
lowing:

James Park, the victim's father, states )
think he's shattered our family. This girl
was kind of the center of our family. It's
like taking my heart out. It will hurt me the
rest of my life. We have all seen a psy-
chiatrist or psychologist at least twice in-
cluding my other two children. My per-
sonal feeling is that he should receive the
death penalty.”

It is not unusual in Florida for the PSI re-
|JUI'tS to contain statements ﬁ'OITl the ‘\"iC'
tim's family relating the hurt wrought upon
them by the crime. If the mere fact that the
trial judge (the sentencer in Florida) is
exposed to such a report is sufficient to
render ihe crror per s¢ reversible, all death
penaltics in Florida are potentially subject
10 automatic reversal,

17 L.Ed. 2d 705 (1967), the Court held that the de-
wrntination of whether violation of a federal consti-
mtional right could be held harmless was the respon-
sibility of the United States Supreme Court, i the
absence of appropriate Congressional action, and
could not be left to the states themselves. Further, the

Court held, not all violations of the federal constitu-
tion mandate reversal of a conviction and that only
three constitutional rights had been identified as “so
basic to a fair trial that their infraction can never be
treated as harmless error.” /d. at 23, 87 S.Ct. at
827-82% (footnote omitted).™™ Since Chapman is-
sued, “the Court has consistently made clear that it is
the duty of a reviewing court to consider the trial
record as a whole and to ignore errors that are harm-
less, including most constitutional violations.” fHfast-
ine, 461 LS. at 509103 S.Ct.at 1980 (citations
omitted). In ¥an Arsdall, the Court emphasized again
the application and rationale of the Chapman rule.

N7, Those three rights or violations were
identified as a coerced confession, the right
to counsel and an impartial judge. The Court
has since held that an involuntary confession
crroncously admitted into evidence may be
held harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.
Milron v. Wainwrichs, 407 U.S. 371,92 8.CL.
2174, 33 L.Ed.2d 1 (1972). In Milton, the
involuntary confesston contained essentially
the same mformation as that in three other
confessions which were properly admitted.
Recently, in Fan Arsdall, the Court omitted a
coerced confession from the list of constitu-
tional viclations which mandate automatic
reversal, but see Rose, another 1986 case in
which the Court cites Chapman with ap-
proval and remands for application of the
Chapman standard.,

As we have stressed on more than one occasion, the
Constitution entitles a ¢criminal defendant to a fair
trial, not a perfect one. E.g., United Stutes v. Hast-
fng, 461 LS, 499, 508-509, 103 §5.CL 1974, 1980,

70 L.Ed.2d 96 (1983); Bruton v. United States, 391
U.S. 123, 135, 88 5.Ct. 1620, 1627, 20 L.Ed.2d 476

ment that all federal constitutional errors, regardless
of their nature or the circumstances of the case, re-
quire reversal of a judgment of conviction. The
Court reasoned that in the context of a particular
case, certain constitutional errors, no less than other
errors, may have been “harmless” in terms of their
cffect on the factfinding process at trial. Since
Chapman, we have repeatedly reaffirmed the prin-
ctple that an otherwise valid conviction should not
be set aside if the reviewing court may confidently
say, on the whole record, that the constitutional er-
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ror was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Fan Arsdall, 475 1S, at 681, 106 5.Ct at 1436, In
Rose, the Court stressed again the limited number of
exceptions to the harmless error rule.

Wc have emphasized, however, that while there are
some errors 1o which Chapman does not apply, they
are the exception and not the rule. Unired Stares v,

Hasiing, 461 U5, at 308, 103 S.CL._al
1980 Accordingly, if the defendant had counsel and
was tried By an impartial adjudicator, there is a
*844 strong presumption that any other errors that
may have ceeurred are subject to harmless ervor
analysis. The thrust of the many constitutional rules
governing the conducet of eriminal trials is o ensure
that those trials lead to fair and correct judgments.
Where a reviewing court can find that the record
developed at tral establishes guilt beyond a rea-
sonable doubt, the interest in fairmess has been sa-
uslied and the judgment should be affirmed. As we
have repeatedly stated, “the Constitution entitles a
criminal defendant to a fair trial, not a perfect one.”
Detavare v, Van Arsdadf 475 US., at 679-681, 106

Nl 1430 Unired Stentes v, Husting, supia, @
9, 103 5,01, at 1980,

Rose v Chark 106 5.C1 at 3100-07 (emphasis
added). 1t is clear then, that with the exceptions
noted, there is a strong presumption that constitu-
tonal errors are subject to harmless error analysis.

We turn then to the general question of whether
harmless error analysis may be applicd to the sen-
tencing phase of capital punishment cases and the
more specific question of whether a Booth error may
ever be held harmless. On the general question, it is
clear that harmless error analysis is applicable to cap-
ital sentences. This Court routinely applies harmless
error analysis o, and affirms, death sentences where
the judge has improperly found invalid aggravating
fuctors provided one or more valid aggravating factors
exist which are not overridden by one or more miti-
gating factors. Whige v, Sie. 446 S0.2d_ 1031
CPda lysd Sins v Staee. 444 So.2d 922
(Fla 198 Neers. denied 467 .5, 1246, 104 8§ .Ct. 3525,
R L. 2d 832 (1984 Afford v Srare, 307 So.2d 433
{[F1a.1973), cert. denied 428 LS. 912, 90 S.CL 3227
49 L.Ed.2d 1221 (1976). Even more significantly, in
Barcioy v [orida, 463 LS. 939, 103 §.CL 3418, 77
L.Ed.2d 1134 (19583), the Court specifically approved
the application of harmless error analysis to death
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sentences and held that consideration by the trial judge
of an invalid aggravating circumsiance does not, per
se, render the imposition of a death sentence uncons-
titutional.

We turn now to the specific question of whether Boot:
errors are one of those rare exceptions to Chapmun
where the violalion is so basic and pervasive that the
infraction can never be treated as harmless error. The
Booth court summarized the impact evidence and its
finding as follows.

The VIS [Victim Impact Statement] in this case
provided the jury with two types of information.
First, it described the personal characteristics of the
victims and the emotional impact of the crimes on
the family. Second, it set forth the family members'
opinions and characterizations of the crimes and the
defendant. For the reasons stated below, we find
that this information is irrelevant to a capital sen-
tencing decision, and that its admission creates a
constitutionally unacceptable risk that the jury may
impose the death penalty in an arbitrary and capri-
cious manner.

Booth, 107 5.Ct._at 2533 {emphasis added). The
Court's first finding, that such evidence is irrelevant,
poses no problem for harmless error analysis. Con-
ceptually, this is the easiest type of error to analyze
because the impermissible evidence can be ecasily
isolated from the permissible evidence. If the re-
viewing court can say beyond a reasonable doubt that
the death sentence would have been inmposed had the
irrelevant evidence not been introduced, the error is
harmless; if the court cannot say this beyond a rea-
sonable doubt, the error is harmful. The second find-
ing, that the evidence may cause jurics to impose the
death penalty in an arbitrary and capricious manner, is
more difficult to analyze, but by no means intractable.
The use of the word “may” and the internal analysis of
the Booth court show that some victim impact state-
ments will differ in impact from others. This is con-
sistent with common sense and experience. Indeed,
the very logic of the Court suggests that some Booth
errors are harmless. In illustrating why the impact on
family members was impermissible aggravation, the
court made the following revealing statement of ils
reasoning.

As evidenced by the full text of the VIS in this case,

see Appendix to this opinion, the family members

were articulate*845 and persuasive in expressing
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their grief and the extent of their loss. But in some
cases the victim will not leave behind a family, or
the Tamily members may be less articulate in de-
seribing their feelings even though their sense of
loss is cqually severe. The fact that the imposition of
the death sentence may turn on such distinctions
illustrates the danger of allowing juries to consider
this information. Certainly the degree to which a
family is willing and able to cxpress its grief is ir-
relevant to the decision whether a defendant, who
may meril the death penalty, should live or die. See [
Boath v Sigre ] 306 Md., {1721 at 223, 507 A 2d.
(LOvs] at 1129 {Cole, J., concurring in part and
dissenting in part) {concluding that it is arbitrary to
make capital sentencing decisions based on a VIS,
“which vary greatly [rom case to case depending
upon the ability ol the family member to express his
grief™).

Boorh, 107 S.C1.at 2534, Similarly, the Court also
noted that the character and reputation of the victim
would vary widely, some would be sterling members
of the communiry, others would be of questionable
character. Thus, the Court, in large part, grounded its
decision that systematically imposing the death pe-
nalty based on such evidence would be arbitrary and
capricious in violation of the eighth amendment on the
rationale that such irrelevant evidence would some-
times impel the sentencer to impose death, i.e., would
be harmful in those cases, but, in other cases, would
not so impel the sentencer, i.e., would be harmless.
This would result in a capital punishment sysfem
which arbitrarily and capriciously imposed death
sentences. In short, because some Booth ervors will be
harmiul and some will not, the system will be arbitrary
and capricious, i.e., lack uniformity, It can be scen,
then, that the rationale of Booth permits harmless crror
analysis. We hold that the erroneous introduction of
victim impact evidence is subject to harmless error
analysis on a case-by-case basis.

[201[21] We turn now to application of harmless error
analysis using Srare_ve DiGuilio, 491 50.2d 1129
(I'la. 1980). We begin by noting the salient distinction
between Baorh and the case here. In Broth, the scn-
tencing authority which heard the vietim impact evi-
dence was a jury; here the sentencing authority which
heard the evidence was a judge mandated by case law
to give great weight to the jury's recommendation of
death. Ross; LeDuc; Tedder. For the following rea-
sons we conclude beyond a reasonable doubt that the
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sentencing judge would have imposed the death pe-
nalty in the absence of the victim impact evidence.
First, under scction 921.141, the sentencing judge's
consideration of aggravating circumstances on which
a death penalty may be based is limited to those
enumerated in the statute. The statute does not include
impact of the murder on the family as an aggravating
circumstance. The judge is required to set out in
writing for appellate review the findings on which the
death sentence is based. The written findings here
show that there was no reliance, or even a hint of
reliance,"™ on the *846 evidence introduced regard-
ing the impact of the murder on the next of kin. =
Second, the trial judge found four aggravating cir-
cumstances, all of which are valid, and no mitigating
circumstances, The balance in favor of imposing the
death sentence is overwhelming. In view of this bal-
ance and the fact that the jury recommended death, the
trial judge's actual discretion here was relatively nar-
row, Third, for the purposes of appellate review, the
case is analogous to those cases where we affirm death
sentences based on valid aggravating circumstances
and no mitigation even though the sentence judge has
found and relied on invalid aggravating circums-
tances. Finally, the record shows that the jury did not
receive the improper cvidence of victim impact, but
recommended death by a twelve-to-zero vote based on
the evidence of statutory aggravating circumstances
only. A jury recommendation of death, reflecting the
conscience of the community, is entitled to great
weight. Ross; LeDuc. More significantly, from the
viewpoint of harmless error analysis, it shows that all
twelve members of the jury, who were not exposed to
the irrelevant evidence, were persuaded that death was
the appropriate penalty based on the permissible evi-
dence. We are persuaded beyend a reasonable doubt
that the death penalty would have been imposed ab-
sent the impermissible evidence. We hold (1) that
appeltant is procedurally barred from contesting the
receipt of victim impact evidence and (2) that the
receipt of such evidence in this case was harmless
error,

'N8, The findings are as follows:

The Defendant, MARTIN GROSSMAN,
was found guilty of the crime of Murder in
the First Degree of Peggy Park, the verdict
being returned on October 29, 1985. On
October 31, 1985, this Court conducted the
penalty phase of the trial and both the State
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and the defendant presented evidence as to
aggravating and mitigating circumstances,
After approximately one (1) hour and fif-
teen (15) minutes of defiberation, the jury
returned a recommendation to the Court
that it impose a sentence of death upon
Martin Grossman, by a vote of twelve (12)
to zero (0). The Court ordered a Presen-
tence Investigation in an effort to gain ad-
ditional insight into the Defendant's back-
ground, and the matter came on for sen-
tencing on December |3, 1983,

The Court imposed a sentence of death
after having found as aggravatung cir-
cumstances, the following:

1. The erime for which the Defendant is to
be sentenced was committed while he was
engaged in the commission of or an at-
tempt to commit or flight after committing
or attlempting w commit the crime of
Robbery or Burglary,

2. The crime for which the Defendant is to
be sentenced was committed for the pur-
puse of avoiding or preventing a lawful
arrest or effecting an escape from custody;
or,

The crime for which the Defendant is to be
sentenced was commitied to disrupt or
linder the lawful exercise of any govern-
mental function or the enforcement of
laws; these aggravating circumstances to
be treated only as one {1).

3. The crime for which the Defendant is to
be sentenced was especially wicked, evil,
atrocious or cruel, n that Peggy Parks, the
deceased victim, was much smaller than
the Delendant, Martin Grossman, and was
held down by him in the front seat of her
police vehicle and repealedly struck on or
about her head with her metal flashlight,
causing innumerable deep lacerations on
her head, resulting in extreme pain, but
according to the medical examiner, not
cuausing ber to be rendered unconscious;
then, with the deceased victim, Peggy
Parks, in this helpless position, taking her
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gun, all of which she realized as was re-
flected by the evidence presented during
trial, and using her weapon to end her life.

The only mitigating circumstance which
would have been found as a result of the
testimony presented in behalf of the De-
fendant and the Presentence Investigation,
was that the Defendant was nineteen (19)
years old at the time the crime was com-
mitted. However, this Court does not feel
that this constituted a mitigating circums-
tance in this case.

The Court does not find any other aspect of
the Defendant's character or record, or any
other circumstances of the offense as re-
flected in the testimony presented at trial
and in the penalty phase to be mitigating
factor.

The Court hereby finds that the aggravat-
ing circumstances far outweigh the miti-
gating circumstances and that the death
penalty is the appropriate sentence in this
case.

FN9. This is not surprising in that judges are
routinely exposed to inadmissible or irrele-
vant evidence but are disciplined by the de-
mands of the office to block out information
which is not relevant to the matter at hand.

We affirm appellant's conviction and sentence.
Tt is so ordercd.

McDONALD, C.J., and OVERTON, EHRLICH and
GRIMES, Jl., concur.

SHAW, J., concurs specially with an opinion.
KOGAN, J., concurs in result only.

BARKETT, J., concurs in part and dissents in part
with an opinion.SHAW, lustice, specially concurring.
I agree fully with the majority's disposition of the
issues presented. However, concerning Issue 3, I be-
hieve that Hainwrichs v, Wi, 469 US. 412, 105 §.C,
844, 83 1L.Ed.2d 841 (1985), and Caldwell v. Missis-
sippid, 472 U8, 320, 105 §.Ct. 2633, 86 L.EBEd.2d 23]
(1983), call for a reexamination of the Tedder™' rule
concerning the weight to be assigned to the jury's
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advisory recommendation on senteneing.

FNI. Tedder v, Siape, 322 So.2d 908
Fla. 1975).

in Tedder, a young husband kidnapped his estranged
wife and infant son from the home of his moth-
er-in-law and, in the course of doing so. murdered the
mother-*847 in-law. The jury recommended life im-
prisonment. The judge, however, sentenced Tedder to
death on the basis of three aggravating and no miti-
gating circumstances: (1) the murderer knowingly
created a great risk of death to many persons; (2} the
murder was especially heinous, atrocious, and cruel;
and, {3) the murder was committed in the course of a
kidnapping. We reversed the death sentence on the
basis that the “jury recommendation under our trifur-
cated death penalty statute should be given great
weight™ and “[i]n order to sustain a sentence of death
tollowing a jury recommendation of life, the facts
suggesting a sentence of death should be so clear and
convincing that virtually no reasonable person could
difter.” Tedder at 910. 1t is readily apparent from the
facts of Tedder that aggravating factors one and two
were invalid. Moreover, even the aggravating factor of
kidnapping, although valid, carried less weight than
normal because the murder and kidnapping occurred
in the context of a domestic quarrel. Wilson v, Stare,
493 S50.2d 1019 (Fla. 19806 Roys v, Stare, 474 So0.24d
1170 (Fla.1983), On the facts of the case, this was
simply not a case in which the death penalty was
warranted. Even if the jury had recommended death,
we would have been constrained under a proportio-
nality review to reverse because this was clearly not
onc of the more aggravated and indefensible crimes

Piven, 283 S0.2d 1. 8 (Fla.1973)
.S, 943 94 5.1 1950.40 L.Ed.2d 295 (1974). Thus,

Tedder wself does not rely on or test the Tedder rule,

In Tedder we gave no reasoned explanation of why a
jury recommendation was entitled to great weight, we
merely concluded that it was and cited Florida's death
penalty stawute as authority, Secuon 921.141, Florida
Stalues (1973 and thereafter) provides that "notwith-
standing” the jury recommendation the trial court will
welgh the evidence of aggravation and mitigation and
“shall™ enter a senience based on that weighing. The
Florida death statute thus makes the judge the sen-
tencer subject to a weighing of the aggravating and
mitigating circumstances and assures sufficicnt basis
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for appellate review by requiring that in instances
where the judge imposes a sentence of death, he shall
set forth in writing the findings upon which the sen-
tence is based. The statute simply cannot be read to
require that a judge follow the jury's recommendation
of life unless “the facts suggesting a sentence of death
larc] so clear and convincing that virtually no rea-
sonable person could differ.” Tedder 332 So.2d at 910,
Under furman v, Georgio, 408 ULS. 238 92 5.CL
2726. 33 [L.Ed.2d 346 {(1972), and its progeny, the
sentencer is not at liberty to ignore the factual balance
between the aggravating and mitigating evidence.

Under Florida law, the sentencing judge is required to
impose the death penalty on all first-degree mur-
derers as to whoin the statutory aggravating factors
outweigh the mitigating factors. There is good rea-
son lo anticipate, then, that as to certain categories
of murderers, the penalty will not be imposed frea-
kishly or rarcly but will be imposed with regularity;
and consequently it cannot be said that the death
penalty in Florida as to those categories had ceased
“to be a credible deterrent or mcasurably to contri-
bute to any other end of punishment in the criminal
Justice system.” Furman v, Georgia, 408 11§, 238
311.0925.C1. 2726, 33 [L.Ed.2d 346] (1972) (White,
J., concurring). Accordingly, the Florida statutory
scheme for imposing the death penalty does not run
afoul of this Court's holding in Furman v. Georgia.

Proffite v. Florida, 428 U.S. 242, 260-61, 96 5.Ct.
2060, 2970, 49 L Ed.2d 913 (19763 (White, 1., con-

- curring) (emphasis in original). It would appear,

therefore, that Florida's scheme for imposing the death
penalty would pass constitutional muster without the
benefit of Tedder in that it designates the sentencer
and spells oul an easily reviewable criteria which must
be set forth in writing when the death penalty is im-
posed. While there is nothing constitutionally wrong
with death penalty systems which place the sentencing
responsibility upon the jury and require a factual
finding *848 on which to base appellate review, and
many prefer that system, our legislature in its wisdom
has decided otherwise. We must defer to that legisla-
tive decision,

The Tedder rule injected confusion into the Florida
scheme by making the jury, by its recommendation,
the virtual sentencer without requiring that the jury
articulate any factual findings upon which it based its
recommendation and making the jury's recommenda-
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tion binding upon the trial judge unless “the facts
suggesting a sentence of death are so clear and con-
vincing that virtually no reasonable persen could
differ.” We thus end up with the very evit that Furman
found objectionable.!™ Moreover, the facts of Tedder
do not support or test the rule because the judge's
sentencing order, standing alone and notwithstanding
the jury recommendation, did not support a sentence
ol death. A true test of the validity of the Yedder rule
requires a factual situation where the sentencing order
of death, notwithstanding the jury recommendation, is
valid and would be affirmed except for the Tedder rule
of deference to the jury's recommendation of life. To

follow Tedder under those circumstances in the face of

our statute clearly violates Furman by imposing, or
not imposing, the death penalty in an arbitrary and
capricious manner. We recognized this in rgjecting a
double jcopardy challenge in Spazicnio v, Staie, 433
So.2d 308, 512 (Fla. 1Ys3).

N2 Justice White, in his dissent to Locken
v (Mo, 438 LLS 580, 621, 98 8.0 2954,
2981, 37 L.Ed.2d 973, 1000 (1978) (White,
)., dissenting), cxpressed a similar concern
about the return of unbridled jury discretion.

Id. at 623, 98 S.Ct. at 2982-83.

First, the jury's function under the Florida death pe-
nalty statute is advisory only. See Proffiti v. Florida,
428 LS 242 96 500 2960,

170). Second, allowing the jur}, s recommenda-
tion to be binding would viclate Furman v, Gedrgla.

408 ULs. 238 92 5.Ct 2726, 33 L.Ed.2d 346

(1972,
See also "ypu:rlma v Florida, 468 1.8, 447, 453-54,
104 5.C1 . 3158-3139, 82 1 1d.2d 340 (1984),

where the C0u1t affirmed our denial of the double
jeopardy challenge and noted our “understanding
that allowing the jury's recomimendation io be
hinding would violate the requirements of Fur-
man...." This understanding is correct in light ol our
particular statute which places no requircment upon
the jury to justify or give a reason for its recom-
mendation. In short, where a judge overrides the
advisory recommendatton of a jury, we should only
defer to the jury's advisory recommendation if we
find that the judge's sentencing order. standing
alone, does not support the imposition of death.

The above conclusion is also supported by an analysis
of Witherapoog v, {Hinois, 391 U8, 510, 88 S.CL
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1770, 20 L. Ed.2d 776 (1968), and Wainwricht v. Witt,
469 U5, 412,105 S§.C1 K44, 83 L Ed.2d 841 (1985).
In Witherspoon, the Court was concerned with the
automatic exclusion from capital punishment juries of
persons who opposed the death penalty or who had
conscientions scruples against capital punishment.
The Court held that opponents of capital punishment
could not be excluded from such juries unless they
expressed the view that they could not make an im-
partial decision on guilt or could never vote to impose
the death penalty. Tedder is actually groundced on the
Witherspoorn principle that juries reflect the con-
science of the community and it is this conscience
which should determine whether death is the appro-
priate penalty.”™ This Witherspoon concept of the
jury as a cockpit in which the jurors argue out their
religious, ideological, and political views of capital
punishment was at tension with the concept of the jury
as an impartial, non-emotional, fact-finding body
following the law as given to it by the court. One year
prior to Furman, the Court upheld, against due process
and equal protection challenges, the imposition of the
death penalty by juries acting, without standards *849
or substantive instructions, as the conscience of the
communily. McGautha v, California, 402 U.S, 183,

91 S.C't. 1454, 28 L.Ld.2d 711 {1987). This holding
was contingent on the selection of the jury in accor-
dance with the precepts of Witherspoon. {d. al 185 n.
191 S.CL at 1456 . 1™ Furman did not explicitly
override MeGautha and Witherspoon, but implicitly
found that imposition of the death penalty basced on the
conscience of the community principle was cruel and
unusual punishment because it resulted in the arbitrary
and capricious imposition of the death penalty. Al-
though it did not override McGautha and Withers-
poon, Furman did restore the jury to its traditional role
as a finder-of-fact whose discretion was strictly li-
mited and whose findings of fact on the impaosition of
the death penalty would be subject to judicial review.
The substantial tension, if not outright conflict, be-
tween the Witherspoon and Furman concepts of the
jury role in capital sentencing was not resolved until
Wit issued in 1985,

FN3. See Richardson v, Siate, 437 So.2d
1091 (Fla.1983), and Qdom_v. State, 403
S0.2d 936 (Fla. 1981), cert. denied 456 U.S.
025,102 S.CL 1970, 72 L.Ed.2d 440 {1982),
which attribute the great weight given to the
jury's recommendation to its reflection of the
conscience or judgment of the community.
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wus later withheld and the judgment vacated
and remanded for further proceedings con-
sistent with Furman. 403 US, 951, 91 S.CL
2273, 29 L.EJ.2d 862: [ Cravmprion v. Ol |,
408 1S, 941, 92 §.CL 2873, 33 L.1id.2d 763
19723,

In Wit the Court revisited and clarified Witherspoon,
In doing so. the Court recognized the inherent in-
compatibility of Witherspoon and Furman.

There is good reason why the Adwms [448 1S 38,
POt SO0 2527065 LoEd.2d 38T (19807 | test is
preferable for determimng juror exclusion. First,
although given Witherspoon's tacts a court applying
the general principles of ddwms could have arrived
at the “automatically” language of Witherspoon's
footnote 21, we do not believe that language can be
squared with the duties of present-day capital sen-
tencing juries (cmphasis supplied). In Witherspoon
the jury was vested with unlimited discretion in
choice of sentence. Given this discrction, a juror
willing to consider the death penalty arguably was
able to “follow the law and abide by his oath™ in
choosing the “proper” sentence, Nothing more was
required. Under this understanding the only ve-
niregmen who couid be deemed excludable were
those who would never vote for the death sentence
or who could not impartially judge guilt.

238 (92 S.Cu 2726, 33 L.Rd.2d 346] (1972), and
Greve v Georera, 428 UK 153,196 5,1, 2909, 49
Lol 2d 839] (1976), however, senfencing furies
could no longer be invested with such discretion
(emphasis supplicd). As in the State of Texas, many
capital sentencing juries are now asked specific
questions, often factual, the answers to which will
determine whether death is the appropriate penalty.
[n such circumstances it does not make sense to
require simply that a juror not “automatically” vote
against the death penalty: whether or not a venite-
wman might vote for death under certain personal
standards, the State still may properly challenge that
venireman if he refuses to follow the statutory
scheme and truthfully answer the questions put by
the trial judge. To hold that Witherspoon requires
anything more would be to hold, in the name of the
Sixth Amendment right to an impartial jury, that a
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State must allow a venireman to sit despite the fact
that he will be unable to view the case impartially.

i 409 U8, ot 421-22, 105 8.C1. at 851 (footnote
omitted).

Witt has two effects on our Tedder decision. First, Wit
makes clear that Witherspoon, as applied, permitted
Jjurors who were personally biased to participate in the
decision to recommend life or death. Under Withers-
poon, the state was not permitted to challenge jurors
for cause unless they made it unmistakably clear that
they would automatically vote against the death pe-
nalty regardless of the evidence developed at trial.
This meant that the trial court had no way of ensuring
that the jurors' discretion would be guided by aggra-
vating and mitigating circumstances and not by their
personal beliefs. From a Furman viewpoint, this de-
creased the reliability of the jury reccommendation
because *850 it increased the likelihood that juries
woutd act arbitrarily and capriciously based on per-
sonal biases. Win, by spelling out standards for de-
termining when prospective jurors may be excluded
for causc because of their views on capital punish-
ment, increased the likelihood that jurors will impar-
tially follow the law as announced by the trial judge
and not their personal views on the death penalty. Wit
should reduce the Witherspoon gap between the views
of the judge and jury and the number of occasions
where they disagree on the sentence. It should also
reduce the likelihood that the death penalty will be
arbitrarily and capriciously imposed.

A second impact of Wit is to take the constitutional
ground, Witherspoon, out from under Tedder. Argua-
bly, as long as Witherspoon stood unamended, it could
be said that there was some constitutional basis for
great deference to the jury recommendation as the
conscience of the community. However, as Wik
makes clear, the role of the jury under Witherspoon
cannot be squared with the role of the jury under
Furman and it is Furman which controls. This point is
reinforced by the structure of the Florida death penalty
system. Under our statute, the trial judge is the sen-
tencer and renders the written findings on which we
basc our constitutionally required review, When we
apply Tedder, we have no factual findings from the
jury to review and can only speculate as to the reasons
underlying the jury recommendation. In effect, from a
cold record, we attempt to find the facts supporting the
jury's recommendation. Skene, Review of Capital
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Cuses: Poes The Florida Supreme Court Know What
It's Doing?, 15 Stetson L.Rev. 263, 298-306 (Spring
1986). While it is constitutionally permissible for
gither the jury or the judge to act as sentencer, Tedder
tends to transform our system into a hybrid. Contrast
Tedder with Jurck v. Texas, 428 U.S. 262, 960 S.CL
2950, 49 1..Fd.2d 929 (1976) and Grees v, (eorvia,
428 1.5, 153. 96 S.C0 2909, 49 L.Ed.2d 39 (1976),
where the jury is the sentencer and is required to make
specilic findings of fact to support a death sentence
and the jury's findings fumish a basis for appellate
revicw.

There are two perunent and controtling propositions
of law to be drawn from Furmaen and its progeny.
First, it is cruel and unusual punishment to impose the
death penalty on a particular defendant if the penalty is
disproportionale to the facts surrounding the particular
murder. The penalty should be reserved for the most
aggravated and unmitigated crimes. Sigie v, _Divon,
233 Se.2d 17 (Fla 1973). Second, from a sysiemic
viewpoint, the system must impose the penalty with
regularity, not arbitrarily or capriciously. This is done
by “rattonally distinguish[ing] between the individu-
als for whom death is an appropriate sanction and
those for whom il is not.” Spaciairo, 468 U.S. at 460,
104 S.CL al 3162, Undifferentiated deference, by
either this Court or sentencing courts, to unsupported
and unreviewable jury recommendations docs not
meet either of the two propositions.

Culdwell also impacts on the viability of the Tedder
rule. In Caldwell, the error consisted of denigrating the
role ol the sentencing jury by suggesting that the re-
sponsibility for ihe sentence rested elsewhere; and, the
Court held, it was constitutionally impermissible to
rest a death sentence on a determination made by a
scntencer who had been led to believe that the re-
sponsibility for the sentence rested elsewhere. [ am not
persuaded that our application of Tedder violates
Caldwell. Combs v, Ste, 525 S0.2d 853 (Fla. 1938).
However, 1 do sugpgest that the Tedder rule unneces-
sarily obscures and confuses the identily of the sen-
tencer in Florida. OQur statute unquestionably makes
the judge the sentencer, but Tedder n its practical
application has reversed the roles by mandating that
the judge must defer t jury recommendation unless
“the facts suggesting a sentence of death [arce] so clear
and convineing that virtually no reasonable person
could differ.” 322 So.2d at 910. The practical import
of Tedder is to place the trial judge in the unegnviable
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position of either following the statute and basing his
sentence upon a weighing of the aggravating and
mitigating factors or following *&37 Tedder. During
1984-85, we affirmed on direct appeal trial judge
overrides in eleven of fifteen cases, seventy-three
percent. By contrast, during 1986 and 1987, we have
affirmed overrides in only two of eleven cases, less
than twenty percent. This current reversal rate of over
eighty percent is a strong indicator to judges that they
should place less reliance on their independent
weighing of aggravation and mitigation and more
reliance on the indecipherable recommendation of the
jury, If we continue to follow Tedder the independent
sentencing judgment of trial courts becomes more and
more debatable. This brings into question the consti-
tutionality of our death penalty statute as ap-
plied. ™ Caldwell.

FN3. In this connection, see Adums v
Wairmwrizht, 804 F.2d 1526 (1 ith Cir. [986),
modified by Adams v. Duvper, 816 F.2d
1493 (11th Cir 1987}, and Muin v, Dugwer,
817 F.2d 1471 (11th Cir. 1987), vacated and
rehearing granted en banc by Mann v. Dug-
ger, 828 F.2d 1498 (1 1th Cir.1987), where
the courts held that instructing the jury that
the judge was the ultimate sentencer deni-
grated the jury role contrary to Tedder and in
violation of Caldwell. 1t should be noted
under Florida law that alf capital punishment
juries are instructed that the judge is the ul-
timate sentencer. The practical effect of
Adams and Mann is to hold Florida's death
penalty statute unconstitutional as applied.

For the reasons set forth above, 1 feel that the only
forthright position is to recede from Tedder and an-
nounce to one and all that the only useful purpose of
the advisory recommendation of the jury under our
death penalty statute is to apprise the trial judge and
appellate court of the jury's reaction to the evidence of
aggravation and mitigation as a matter of information.
Short of a revision of section 921.141 to place the
sentencing responsibility upon the jury and to require
factual findings on which to base appellate review, the
jury recommendation does not carry the great weight
assigned to it by Tedder. 1t is as its designation indi-
cates, advisory only, nothing more, nothing less.
BARKETT, Justice, concurring in part, dissenting in
part.

1 concur in affirming the conviction in this case. As to
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the scntence, | agree that the majority's Caldwell
analysis is compelled by this Court's prior rulings.
However, 1 adhere to my view that Culdwell indeed is
applicable to the Florida advisory jury as well as the
Judge, since both exercise sentencing discretion. See
Copibs v, Sigre, 323 50.2d 833 (Flu. 1988} (Barkett, 1.,

v, Dugeer, 315 S0.2d 227 (Fla.1987) (Barkett, J.,

specially concurring).

As to the Pan Royalissue, 1 agree with the decision to
promulgate a new procedural rule requiring the entry
ot a written order prior to the oral pronouncement of a
sentence of death. However, unlike the majority, |
cannoet agree that the procedure followed in this in-
stance met the stafuiory requirements already existing
in this state. Specitically, I do not believe a trial judge
may support the death sentence with written “find-
ings” made three months after sentencing when he
failed ro enter specific oral findings at the time death
was imposed. In the proceedings below, the trial judge
made the following “findings™ at sentencing:

The Court has considered the aggravating and miti-
gating circumstances presented in evidence in this
case and has considered the recommendation of the
jury and the rccommendation included in the pre-
sentence investigation and determined that suffi-
clent aggravating circumstances exist and that there
are nsufficient mitigating circumstances to out-
weigh the aggravating circumstances,

Secrion 921.141¢3), Florida Statutes (1983), requires
that a death sentence be based upon specific circums-
tances. The pilain import of the statute is that death
may nol be imposed if the trial judge does not have
specific reasons for doing so; and [ cannot agree that it
is permissible to formulate those reasons after the fact.
Moreover, 1 fail to sce how the judge had jurisdiction
o enter findings of fact after the matter had been
appealed to this Cowrt. 1 cannot subscribe to the ma-
jority's suggestion that Muehleman stands for the
proposition that *852 in retaining concurrent jurisdic-
tion for purposes of transmitting the record, the trial
court also retains jurisdiction for preparing a docu-
ment statutorily crucial to this Court's appellate re-
VIEW.

I also write separately to address the views in Justice
Shaw's special concurrence. Although these views are
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inapplicable to this case because this jury recom-
mended death, [ cannot leave unchallenged the sug-
gestion that the Tedder standard may be unconstitu-
tional. To the contrary, the United States Supreme
Court has expressly upheld the validity of Tedder and
has suggested that the Florida death penalty statute is
constitutional at least partially because of it;

This crucial protection [the Tedder standard] demon-
strates that the new statute affords significantly
more safeguards to the defendant than did the old.
Death is not automatic, absent a jury recommenda-
tion of mercy, as it was under the old procedure. A
jury recommendation of life may be overridden by
the trial judge only under the exacting standards of
Tedder. Hence, defendants are not significantly
disadvantaged vis-a-vis the recommendation of life
by the jury....

Daobbert v, Florida, 432 1.5, 282, 295-96, 97 S5.Ct,
3260, 2299-2300, 53 L.Ed.2d 344 {1977) (footnote
omitted). Accord Spaziano v. Florida, 468 .S, 447,
465, 104 S.Ct. 3154, 3165, 82 [.13d.2d 340 {1984)
{Tedder standard expressly upheld as constitutional);
Barclav v. Florida, 463 U.S. 939, 955-30, 103 5.Ct
3418, 3427-3428, 77 L.Ed.2d 1134 ((983) {Tedder
standard cited as a factor contributing to individua-
lized sentencing); Proffirt v. Florida, 428 [J.8. 242, 96
S.CL 2960, 49 1L.ED.2d 913 (1976) (discussing Tedder
in upholding Florida statute).

Moreover, in his discussion of Spaziano, Justice Shaw
fails to note that the Supreme Court in that case sus-
tained Tedder against the precise criticism he now
levels. Instead of finding that Tedder resulted in un-
cqual treatment between some defendants who re-
ceived a life recommendation and some who did not,
the Spaziano Court found that

[wle see nothing that suggests that the application of
the jury-override procedure has resulted in arbitrary
or discriminatory application of the death penalty,
either in general or in this particular case.

468 LS. at 460, 104 S.Ct. at 3165, I also cannot agree
that Tedder rested on the rationale contained in ¥i-
therspoon v, Hiois, 391 US, 510, 88 S.Ct. 1770. 20
L.Ed.2d 776 {1968), and thus does not comport with
Furnear v, Georglo, 408 1.5, 238, 92 §.Ct. 2726, 33

allude to Witherspoorn, and was decided some three
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years aller Furmain at a time when this Court was
acutely aware of Furman 's dictates. In any event, this
issue already has been settled in favor of the Tedder
standard. Dobberr. 432 ULS. al 295-96, 97 S.CL al

22962300

In the same vein, | cannot agree that Wainwright v.
Wi, 469 .S, 412, 105 S.C1, 844, 83 L.Ed.2d 84)
i 19833, which clarified Witherspoon in light of Fur-
man, has any applicability to the 1ssue raised by Jus-
tice Shaw. Win is concemed not with specific sen-
tencing and appellate procedures 10 be followed in
ensuring reliability of the death penalty, but with the
reasons for which jurors can be excluded from a cap-
ital panel. It is the former, not the latter, that is pri-
marily the concern of the Furman line of cases. See
Proffie, 428 1S, at 233, 96 S.CL al 2967 (Furman
requires procedures that establish a meaningful basis
for distinguishing death cases from non-death cases).
The United States Supreme Court authoritatively has
ruled that reliability is advanced in Florida at least
partly because of Tedder. Dobberr, 432 LS. al
295-96. 97 5,01 ar 2299-2300.

Furthermore, 1 cannot agree with Justice Shaw's im-
plication that Caldvwell v. Mississippi, 472 UK. 320
103 S.C1. 2633, 86 L.Ed.2d 231 (1985), may be vi-
olated by Tedder. First, over my own objection, this
Court repeatedly has ruled that Caldwell has no ap-
plication in Florida. Combs: Foster; Phillips. If this is
true, then it necessarily follows that Tedder does not
violate Calchvell. Second, | do not agree that Tedder
somechow obscures the identity of the sentencer. This
assumes that only the judge *853 or jury can be the
sentencer, but not both. [ can find no federal case law
advancing this assumption, and the Supreme Court in
fact has held that no specific method of sentencing is
required if the procedures cmployed promote reliabil-
ity, Spozicne, 468 1LS, at 464, 104 5.t ar 3164, as
Florida's manifestly does. fd.; Barclay, Dobberi;
Proffitt. Since Caldwel! focuses on the cxercise of
sentencing discretion, the Tedder standard necessarily
means that both judge and jury constitute the sentencer
tor Caldwell purposes because both exercise this dis-
cretion. !

ENI, In the same vein, [ cannot agree with
Justice Shaw's interpretation of Adamy v
Wabmvrighi, 804 F.2d 1526 (11h Cir 1986),
modified 816 F.2d 1493 (1987). Adams
clearly was grounded on the fact that the trial

judge made several erroncous statements not
contained in the standard jury instructions.
These statements included observations that
the jury recommendation could be disre-
garded and that jurors were not to trouble
their consciences with it. 804 F 2d at 1528,
[532-33 & n. §: 816 F.2d at 1501 n. 9. There
is nothing in Adams suggesting that the
standard jury instructions themselves were
the source of the error.

Finally, any controversy over who actually is the
sentencer in Florida is not the kind of concern properly
characterized as a Caldwell probleni. Under Justice
O'Connor's concurring opinion, © Caldwell addresses
only erroncous statements made to the jury that mi-
nimize their sense of responsibility. 472 U.S. at
341-43, 105 5.Cr._at 2646-2647. It does not concern a
procedure mandated by the law of Florida as inter-
preted by this Court in Tedder. As Justice O'Connar
noted,

F'N2. This concurrence is the ground upon
which a majority of the Caldwell court
agreed.

a misleading picture of the jury's role is not sanc-
tioned [under federal case law].... But neither does
[this case law] suggest that the Federal Constitution
prohibits the giving of accurate instructions re-
garding postsentencing procedures.

472 U8 at 342, 105 S.CL. at 2646 (emphasis added). |
fail to see how a standard required by Florida law
and expressly approved by the United States Su-
preme Court runs afoul of Justice O'Connor's
Caldwell analysis, since it hardly paints “a mis-
leading picture of the jury's role.”

For these rcasons, 1 conclude that Tedder is valid
under the Constitution and should remain a part of the
law of Florida. As the nation’s highest court has noted,
Tedder affords defendants “a crucial protection,”
Dobberr, 432 1.8 a1t 295, 97 8.Ct. ar 2299, and 15 a
“significant safeguard.” Spaziciio, 468 U.S. at 463,
104 S.Ctat 3165, Moreover, in the dozen years since
Tedder issued, the legislature has never voted to
overrule this Court. A rule so firmly established in
twelve years of voluminous jurisprudence should not
be overruled for reasons that have been rejected by the
United States Supreme Court and our own legislature.
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Supreme Court of Florida.

Martin GROSSMAN, Petitioner,

V.
Richard L. DUGGER, etc., et al., Respondents.

Martin GROSSMAN, Appellant,

V.
STATE of Florida, Appellee.
Nos, 75738, 87121.

Dec. 18, 1997.
Rehearing Denied Feb. 26, 1998.

Following affirmance of conviction for firsi-degree
murder. 325 So.2d $33, defendant filed motion for
postconviction relief, which was denied by the Circuit
Court, Pinellas County, Crogkett Farnell, J. Defendant
appealed denial and also sought writ of habeas corpus,
The Supreme Court held that defendant failed to show
ineffective assistance by trial or appellate counsel.

Denial of motion affirmed, and habeas petition denied.
Anslead, J., concurred in result only.
West Headnotes
11} Criminal Law 110 €~1955
110 Criminal Law
FHOXXX] Counsel

1 TOXX X)) Adequacy of Representation
TTOXXXHC)2 Particular Cases and Issues

Regarding Sentencing. Mosl Cited Cases
(Formerty [10k641.13(7))

Competent substantial evidence supported postcon-
viction court's finding that murder defendant was not
denied cffective assistance of counsel, though counsel
determined not to use 33 mitigation withesses that
defendant provided. as counsel did not want to use
witnesses who had net scen defendant in years and
would say that he was into stcaling and heavy drug
use, but did call three mitigation witnesses, in addition
to defendant’s mother, who had had close contact with
him in recent years, U.S.C.A. Const. Amend. 6.

Page 1

[2] Criminal Law 110 €=>1618(8)

110 Criminal Law
1 OX XX Post-Conviction Relief
HOXXX(C) Proceedings
110X XX(O)2 Affidavits and Evidence
110k 1616 Sufficiency
110k 1618 Particular Issues

110k 1618(8) k. Conduct of Trial.

Must Cited Cases
(Formerly 110k998(17))

Competent substantial evidence supported postcon-
viction court's finding that murder defendant’s fellow
inmate who testified for state was not acting as state
agent when he procured incriminating information
from defendant, in light of evidence that inmate had
contacted law officials himself after hearing defendant
discussing case, spoke to detectives only once and did
not make any deals in exchange for statement.

|3} Criminal Law 110 €21968

110 Criminal Law

1TOXX X1 Counsel

HHOXXXIC) Adequacy of Representation
110X XXIHC)2 Particular Cases and [ssues
110k 1966 Appeal
110k 1968 k. Preservation of Error for

Appeal. Most Cited Cascs

(Formerly 110k641.13(7))
Appellate counsel's failure to raise prosecutorial
misconduct claim was not ineffective assistance, since
claim was not preserved for review. U.S.CA.
Const. Amend. 0.

[4] Habeas Corpus 197 €897

197 Habeas Corpus
1971 Operation and Effect of Determination; Res
Judicata; Successive Proceedings
197k894 Refusal to Discharge; Subsequent
Applications; Prejudice
197ks97 k. Claims Presented Earlier. Most
Cited Cases
Murder defendant's habeas corpus assertions that
appellate counsel should have argued more convin-
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cingly that capital sentencing statute was unconstitu-
tional. that death penalty is imposed in an arbitrary
tashion, and that severance should have been granted
were procedurally barred, as each was raised on direct
appeal.

|5] Criminal Law 110 €521038.3

110 Criminal Law

1TOXXIV{E) Presentation and Reservation in
Lower Court of Grounds of Review
TLHOXXIV(E) In General
110k 1038 Instructions
110k1038.3 k. Necessity of Requests.
Most Cited Cuses

Criminal Law 110 €21043(3)

110 Criminal Law
HOX Y]V Review
[1OXXIV(L) Presentation and Reservation in
Lower Court of Grounds of Review
1LOXXIV(E)! In General
110k 1043 Scope and Effect of Objcction

ing Grounds of Objection. Most Cited Cases

Claim that instruction on heinous, atrocious or cruel
(HAC) aggravating factor was vaguc was not pre-
served for review, even though trial counsel objected
on vagueness grounds during pretrial, as he did not
object to proposed instruction at trial except on ground
that evidence did not support it; nor did he propose
alternative mstruction.

#*250Robert L. Parks of Haggard, Parks & Stone, P.A.,
Coral Gables; Gail E. Anderson, Assistant CCR., Of-
fice of CCRC-Northern Region, Tallahassee; and
Terrt b Backhus and John W, Moser, CCRC-Middle
Region, Tampa, for Petitioner/Appellant.

Robert A, Butterworth, Attorney General, and Carol
M. Dittmar, Assistant Attorney General, Tampa, for
RespondentAppellee.

PER CURIAM,

Martin Grossman appeals an order of the trial court
denying relief under Florida Rule of Criminal Proge-
Jure 3,830 and petitions this Court for a writ of habeas
corpus. We have jurisdiction. Art. V. § 3(b)(1. 9). Fla.

Page 2

Const. We affirm the denial of rule 3.850 relief and
deny the writ.

The facts of this case are set out fully in our opinion on
direct appcal, See Grossman v, Stafe, 525 S0.2d 833
(Fla.198R). Martin Grossman and a friend were firing
a stolen handgun in a wooded area of Pinellas County
during the night of December 13, 1984, when wildlife
officer Peggy Park happened on the scene. Although
Grossman begged her not to report him because he
was on probation and would be sent back to prison,
Park nevertheless began to call in a report. Grossman
then struggled with her, beat her with her flashlight.
and shot her in the back of the head with her gun.
Grossman was arrested, was charged with first-degree
murder, gave numerous incriminating statements, was
convicted, and was sentenced to death pursuant to the
jury's unanimous recommendation. The court imposed
a sentence of death based on four aggravating cir-
cumstances =" and no mitigating circumstances. We
affirmed.

FNI. The court found that the murder was
committed: pursuant to a robbery or bur-
glary; to avoid arrest; to hinder enforcement
of the laws; and in a heinous, atrocious, or
cruel (HAC) manner, The courl counted the
second and third circumstances as one.

Before Grossman filed any postconviction motions,
Governor Martinez signed a death warrant in March
1990, and Grossman filed a petition for a writ of ha-
beas corpus in this Court. We granted a stay of ex-
ecution to allow Grossman an opportunity to seek
postconviction relief, He filed a rule 3.850 motion in
the trial court in August 1990 and at the same time
filed an amended habeas petition in this Court. The
trial court denied the rule 3.850 motion following an
evidentiary hearing, and Grossman now appeals that
denial. ™ He also secks relief under his pending
habeas petition.”™"

FNZ. Grossman raises ten issues, claiming
error on the following points: (1) imeffective
assistance of counsel at the penalty phase; (2)
Brady violations; (3) witness Brewer was a
State agent; (4) ineffective assistance of
counsel at the guilt phase; (5) ineffective as-
sistance of counsel in procuring a mental
health exam; (6) faulty HAC instruction; (7)
trial counsel had a conflict of interest; (8} the
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defendant was not present at all critical
slages; (9) prosecutorial misconduct; and
{10) improper weighing of aggravating and
mitigating circumstances.

EN3A. Grossman raises three issues, claiming
error on the following points: (1) ineffective
assistance of appellate counsel; (2) Caldweil
error; and (3) recent decisions of this Court,

3850 MOTION

[ 1] Grossman first claims that trial counsel provided

ineffective representation during the penalty phase of

the trial. We disagree. This Court set out the standard
for reviewing such claims following an cvidentiary
hearing in Blunco v. Staie, 702 S0.2d 1250 (Fla, 1997):

In reviewing a trial court's application of the [rele-
vant} law to a rule 3.850 motion following an evi-
dentiary hearing, this Court applies the following
standard of review: As long as the trial court’s
findings arc supported by competent substantial
evidence, “this Court will not ‘substitute its judg-
ment for that ol the trial court on questions of fact,
likewise of the credibility of the witnesses as well as
the weight to be given to the evidence by the trial
court.” ”

51 1d. at 1252 (quoting Demyps v, State. 402 S0.2d
1074, 1075 (Fla. 1984, In the present case, the trial
court addressed this first claim at length and con-
cluded:

The Court has weighed all the above matters in light
of Suickland v. Washingron, 400 1.5, 008 [104
S.Cr. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674] (1984). The Defendant
has failed to make the required showing of either
deficient performance or sufficient prejudice to
support his ineffectiveness clain.

*7)
3]
0

The Court has evaluated the conduct of the Defen-
dant's counsel from counsel's perspective at the time
of the wial. Defendant introduced thirty-three affi-
davits that were represented as possible mitigation
witnesscs that were available a the tume of triat but
were not used by the defense. Several of the possi-
ble witnesses represented by the affidavits were
known to the defensc, and the defense had deter-
mined not to use them.

Page 3

Defense counsel, Mr. McCoun, at the time of trial
recognized that while trying to present a favorable
picture of the Defendant, equally negative things
would also be presented. Mr. McCoun did not want
to use witnesses who would say that the Defendant
was 1nto stealing and heavy drug use. Moreover,
defense counsel called three mitigating witnesses in
addition to the Defendant's mother. The mitigating
witnesses that were called had close contact with the
defendant near the time that he committed the
crime; whereas, many of the potential witnesses that
were represented by the affidavits had not seen the
Defendant in vears.

The Court finds that Mr. McCoun did a competent,
effective job of representing the Defendant at all
phases of the trial. Even if counsel were deemed
ineftective for the reasens stated by the Defendant,
such alleged ineffectiveness did not come close to
being so prejudicial to the Defendant that it affected
the outcome of the casc. The facts of this case
showed the Defendant's conduct to be so egregious
that proof of mitigating circumstances was ex-
tremely difficult.

The trial court applied the right rule of law governing
ineffective assistance of counsel under Strickland v.
Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 _S.Ct. 2052, 80
L.Ed.2d 674 (1984),"™ and competent substantial
evidence supports its finding. We find no error.

iF'N4.See,e.g., Kennedy v. Staie, 547 So.2d
912 (Fla.1989).

Grossman next claims that the State withheld material
exculpatory evidence in violation of Brady v. Mary-
fand, 373 U8 83, 83 S.Cr 1194, 16 L.1id.2d 215
(1963). We disagree. In addressing this claim, the trial
court noted:

Defendant says that the state withheld material,
exculpatory evidence in violation of due process
under Brady v. Marvlund, 373 U.S. 83 [83 5.Ct,
1194, 10 L.1id.2d 215] (1963), and the Eighth
Amendment to the United States Constitution. This
claim relates to information that Defendant says the
State failed to disclose with respect to three of the
witnesses at Defendant's trial: Charles Brewer,
Brian Hancock, and Brian Allan. The greater weight
of the evidence refutes this claim.
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The court then addressed each aspeet of this claim at
length and concluded: “For the foregoing reason, there
is no basis to the Defendant's allegations that the State
withheid material, exculpatory evidence from the
delense; therefore, [this] ground has no mert.” The
trial court applied the right rule of law governing the
withholding of evidence under Brady,"™ and compe-
tent substantial evidence supports its findings. We find
no errar,

FN5.Seeeg., egwood v Stare. 575 So.2d
170 (Fla 19913,

[2] Grossman claims that inmate Charles Brewer, who
testified for the State, was acting as a State agent when
he procured incriminating information from Gross-
man. The trial court addressed this claim:

Defendant states that Charles Brewer, a trusty at the
Pinellas County jail while Defendant was being held
there awaiting trial, was a state agent, and the State
withheld this fact along with an agreement that Mr.
Brewer had reached with prosecutors rcgarding
charges that were pending®252 against Mr. Brewer.
Mr. Brewer testified that he had his brother contact
law enforcement after he heard Defendant discuss-
ing the casc. Mr. Brewer said that he talked to the
homicide detectives only one time and that was
wlhien they ook his laped stalement.

Detective Robert Rhodes testified that he taped Mr.
Brewer's statement on July 235, 1985, and that was
the only time he ever met with Mr. Brewer. The
State did not make any deals with Mr. Brewer in
exchange for the statement, and Detective Rhodes
did not suggest questions for Mr. Brewer to ask the
Defendant or ask Mr. Brewer to be an agent for the
Slate.

The State Attorney, Bernie McCabe, testified that
he interviewed Mr. Brewer at the State Attorney's
Office prior to the trial and that he emphasized to
My, Brewer thai there were no deals in exchange for
Mr. brewer's testimony, Defendant's claim that Mr.
Brewer wuas a state agent al the time that he dis-
cussed the Peggy Park murder with Defendant and
that the State struck a deal with Mr, Brewer in ex-
change for his testimony is without merit.

Competent substantial evidence in the record supports
the trinl conrt's finding that Brewer was not a State

Page 4

agent. We find no error.

Grossman claims that trial counsel provided ineffec-
tive representation during the guilt phase of the trial.
We disagree. The trial court stated:

[TThe Defendant claims that he was dented the ef-
fective assistance of counsel at the guilt phase of his
trial by the failure of his counsel to move for change
of venue or for individual and sequestered voir dire,
by the failure to adequatcly cross examine crucial
state witnesses, and by the failure to move for sc-
verance pursuant to Rule 3.152(b)2). Florida Rules
of Criminal Proccdure.

The court then addressed each aspect of this claim at
length, concluding: “Defendant’s claim that he had
ineffective assistance of counsel during the guilt phase
of his trial is without merit.” The record shows that the
trial court's conclusion is supported by competent
substantial evidence, We find no error.

Grossman claimed in his 3.850 motion before the trial
court that trial counsel failed to investigate Gross-
man's history of mental problems and thus did not
provide sufficient background information to the de-
fense mental health expert, Dr. Merin. Grossman now
claims that the trial court erred in failing to address
this issue during the evidentiary hearing. We disagree.
In its order granting an evidentiary hearing on certain
issues (but denying it on this issue), the trial court
addressed this issue at iength, concluding:

Defendant's claim is without merit as it fails the
second prong of Strickland, as there has been no
showing that but for such claimed ineffectiveness,
the outcome probably would have been different.
Furthermore, this Court concludes the jury would
not have been persuaded to arrive at a different re-
sult, nor would this Court have been persuaded to
reach a different result, assuming the substance of
Defendant's allegations had been introduced into
evidence.

Competent substantial evidence supports the trial
court's finding. We find no error. We find the re-
mainder of Grossman's rule 3.85( claims to be pro-
cedurally barred.™

FNG6. lssues 6-10 are procedurally barred.
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Il. HABEAS CORPUS

[34113] Grossman claims as his first issue in his
habens petition that appellate counsel provided inef-
fective representation in a number of ways. (A) He
claims that appellate counsel should have argued that
the trial court's sentencing order was insufficiently
speeilic, A review of the order, however, shows that it
comports with the law that was in effect at that time.
{13) tle asserts that appellate counsel should have
claimed prosecutorial misconduct. This issue was not
preserved since trial counsel failed to object to the
allegediy improper statements. (C) He asserts that
appellate counsel should have argued more convin-
cingly that Florida's capital sentencing statute is un-
constitutional. This claim is procedurally barred-it
was raised on direct appeal. (D) He asserts that *253
appellare counsel should have argued that the death
penalty is imposed in an arbitrary fashion. This claim
is procedurally barred-it was raised on direct appeal.
(E) He claims that appellate counsel should have ar-
gued that the HAC instruction was vague. This issue
was not preserved. Although trial counsel objected on
vagueness grounds to the HAC aggravating circums-
tance pretrial, he did not object to the proposed in-
struction at trial except on the ground that the evidence
did not support it; nor did he propose an alternative
instruction. Appeltate counsel cannot be faulted.
Ferguson v Singletary, 632 S0.2d 53 (Fl1a.1993).(F)
Grossman claims that appellate counsel should have
argucd  that codefendant Taylor's acquittal of
first-degree felony murder precluded such a convie-
ton for Grossman (and precluded application of the
felony murder aggravating circumstance to (Gross-
man) since Taylor was morc guilty than Grossman.
This issue has already been decided adversely to the
defendant.  Furon v Siwte, 438 S0.2d K22
{Fia.1983).(G) He claims that appellate counsel
should have argued that the trial court failed to hold a
hearing pursuant o Ricficrdson v, State, 246 5o0.2d
771 (Fla. 19713, The record, however, shows that de-
fense counsel never claimed that a discovery violation
took place and never requested a hearing. (H) He
claims that appellate counsel should have argued more
canvincingly that the trial court erred 1 failing to
granl a severance. This issue is procedurally barred-it
was raised on appeal. We find no merit to Grossman's
metfectiveness claim.

Grossman next claims that recent federal court deci-

Page 5

sions have rendered meritorious his claim under
Caldhwell v, Mississippi, 472 1.8, 320, 105 5.Ct. 2633,
86 _L.Ed.2d 231 (1985). This argument has already
been decided adversely to the defendant. See, e.g.,

Sofison v, State, 660 S0.2d 637 (Fla.1995). Grossman

also claims that recent decisions of this court warrant
relief. Our decision in Campbell v, State, 571 So.2d
415 (Fla.1990), however, is not retroactive. See
Turner v, Pugaer, 614 So.2d 1075 (Fla.1992). Our
decisions in Porter v, Stale, 564 So.2d 1060
(Fla 9Ky,  Hallman v, Steie, 500 So.2d 223
{Fla, 1990, and Brown v, Stafe, 520 So.2d 903
{Fla. 1988}, inaugurated no fundamental changes in
death penalty jurisprudence. See generally Wir v
Sterte, 387 50.2d 922 (Fia 1980), We find no merit to
these claims.

Based on the foregoing, we affirm the denial of

tion for writ of habeas corpus.
It is so ordered.

KOGAN, CJ., and OVERTON, SHAW, HARDING
and WELLS, JJ., and GRIMES, Senior Justice, con-
cur,

ANSTEAD, 1., concurs in result only,

Fla.,1997.

Grossman v. Dugger
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United States Court of Appeals,
Eleventh Circuit.
Martin E. GROSSMAN, Petitioner-Appellant,
V.

James McDONOUGH, Secretary, Florida Department
of Corrections, Charlie Crist, Attorney General of the
State of Florida, Respondents-Appellees.

No. 05-11150.

Oct. 16, 2006.

Background: Following affirmance on direct appeal
of his murder conviction and death sentence, 525
S0.2d 833, and demial of postconviction relief, 708
S0.2d 249, petitioner sought writ of habeas corpus.
The United States District Court for the Middle Dis-
trict of Florida, No.
98-01929-CV-T-17MSS,Elizabeth A. Kovachevich
T, 359 F.Supp.2d 1233, entered order denying peti-
tion, and petitioner appealed.

Holdings: The Court of Appeals, Marcus, Circuit
Judge, held that:

(1) Florida Supreme Court's determination as to
harmless nature of error that occurred when trial court
denied defendant's motion to sever his trial from that
of nontestifying codefendant and admitied codefen-
dant's confession at their joint trial was neither “con-
trary to” nor an “unreasonable application” of go-
verning United States Supreme Court case law;

(2) Florida courts did not make unreasonable factual
determinations or unreasonably apply clearly estab-
lished federal law in determining that state was not
aware of any falsity in statements of witnesses who
testified against petitioner or in concluding that un-
disclosed disorderly conduct charge against one wit-
ness or criminal investigation of another were not
material; and

(3) determination that attorney representing capital
murder defendant had not behaved deficiently at pe-
nalty phase of case was not unreasonable application
of Supreme Court precedent,

Affirmed.

West Headnotes

Page 1

[t] Habeas Corpus 197 £5=842

197 Habeas Corpus
197111 Jurisdiction, Proceedings, and Relief
19711{D)) Review
19711I(D)2 Scope and Standards of Review
197k842 k. Review De Novo. Most
Cited Cases

Habeas Corpus 197 €846

197 Habeas Corpus
197111 Jurisdiction, Proceedings, and Relief
19711(D) Review
197ITI(D}2 Scope and Standards of Review
197k846 k. Clear Error. Most_Cited

Cases
When examining district court's denial of habeas pe-
tition, Court of Appeals review questions of law and
mixed questions of law and fact de novo, and district
court's findings of fact for clear error. 28 1.S.C.A. §
2234, S

[2] Habeas Corpus 197 €450.1

197 Habeas Corpus
19711 Grounds for Relief; llegality of Restraint
19711I{A) Ground and Nature of Restraint
197k450 Federal Review of State or Terri-
torial Cases
197k450.1 k. In General. Most Cited
Cases

Habeas Corpus 197 €452

197 Habeas Corpus -
19711 Grounds for Relief; Illegality of Restrain
19711{A} Ground and Nature of Restraint
197k450 Federal Review of State or Terri-
torial Cases
197k452 k. Federal or Constitutional
Questions. Most Cited Cases
State court's decision is contrary to, or involves an
unreasonable application of, “clearly established fed-
eral law,” within meaning of statute governing a fed-
eral court's ability to grant state prisoner's petition for
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habeas relief on ground previously rejected by state
court, only when it is contrary to, or involves an un-
reasonable application of, the holdings of the United
States Supreme Court; “clearly established federal
law” is not case law of the lower federal courts, but
refers only to the Supreme Court's decisions as of time
of relevant state court decision. 28 US.C.A. §

2254(d)(1).
13] Habeas Corpus 197 €452

197 Habeas Corpus
19711 Grounds for Relief; Hlegality of Restraint
197H(A) Ground and Nature of Restraint

197k4350 Federal Review of State or Terri-

torial Cases
197k452 k. Federal or Constitutional

Questions. Most Cited Cases
State court deciston is “contrary to” clearly estab-
lished federal law, within meaning of statute govern-
ing a federal cowrt's ability to grant state prisoner's
petition for habeas relief on ground previously re-
jected by state court, if state court applied a rule that
contradicts the governing law set forth by Supreme
Court case law, or if, when faced with materially in-
distingnishable facts, state court arrived at result dif-
ferent from that reached in Supreme Court case. 28
U.S.C.A. §2254(d)(1).

[4] Habeas Corpus 197 £~450.1

197 Habeas Corpus
19711 Grounds for Relief; Illegality of Restraint
1971{A) Ground and Nature of Restraint

197k450 Federal Review of State or Terri-

torial Cases
197k450.1 k. In General. Most Cited

Cases
State court decision involves an “unreasonable ap-
plication” of clearly established federal law, within
meaning of statute governing a federal court's ability
to grant state prisoner's petition for habeas relief on
ground previously rejected by state court, if state court
identifies the correct legal rule from Supreme Court
case law but unreasonably applies that rule to facts of
petitioner's case, or if state court unreasonably ex-
tends, or unreasonably declines to extend, a legal
principle from Supreme Couit case law to new con-
text. 28 U.S.C.A. § 2254(d)(1).

[5] Habeas Corpus 197 €767
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197 Habeas Corpus
197101 Jurisdiction, Proceedings, and Relief
19711{C) Proceedings
1971I{CY Conclusiveness of Prior Deter-
minations
197k765 State Determinations in Fed-
eral Court
197k767 k. Issues and Findings of
Fact; Historical Facts; Credibility. Most Cited Cases
On petition for federal habeas relief filed by state
prisoner, state court's determination of facts is entitled
to substantial deference. 28 U.S.C.A. § 2254(d)}2),

(e).

[6] Habeas Corpus 197 €478

197 Habeas Corpus
19711 Grounds for Relief, [llegality of Restraint
19711(B) Particular Defects and Authority for
Detention in General
197k478 k. Joinder or Severance of Counts
or Defendants. Most Cited Cases

Habeas Corpus 197 €~481

197 Habeas Corpus
19711 Grounds for Relief; Illegality of Restraint

19711(B) Particular Defects and Authority for

Detention in General '
197k481 k. Conduct of Trial, in General.

Most Cited Cases
Florida Supreme Court's determination as to harmless
nature of error that occurred when trial court denied
defendant's motion to sever his trial from that of
nontestifying codefendant and admitted codefendant's
confession at their joint trial in violation of defendant's
Sixth Amendment confrontation rights was neither
“contrary to” nor an “unreascnable application” of
governing United States Supreme Court case law, as
required for federal court to grant defendant's petition
for habeas relief based on this Sixth Amendment vi-
olation, where co-defendant's confession was fully
consistent with imcriminating statements that defen-
dant had made to three other persons, and that were
directly admissible against him; violation of defen-
dant's confrontation rights could have had no sub-
stantial and injurious effect or influence in determin-
ing jury's verdict, given defendant's own incriminating
statements and overwhelming evidence against him,
including his fingerprints both on flashlight used to
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beat Florida wildlife officer and inside her vehicle.
U.5.C.A. Const. Amend. 6; 28 U.S.C.A. § 2254(d)(1).

[7] Habeas Corpus 197 €481

197 Habeas Corpus
1971 Grounds for Relief; Illegality of Restraint

19711(B) Particular Defects and Authority for

Detention in General
197k481 k. Conduct of Trial, in General.

Most Cited Cases
Brecht “harmless error” standard, under which error is
harmless unless it had substantial and injurious effect
or influence in determining jury's verdict, govemns
harmless error analysis in habeas corpus cases in-
volving Confrontation Clause transgressions asso-
ciated with improper admission of out-of-court
statements. U.S.C.A. Const. Amend. 6.

[8] Habeas Corpus 197 €481

197 Habeas Corpus
19711 Grounds for Relief; Illegality of Restraint

19711(B) Particular Defects and Authority for

Detention in General
197k481 k. Conduct of Trial, in General.

Most Cited Cases
In deciding whether Florida Supreme Court's prior
rejection of federal habeas petitioner's Sixth
Amendment Confrontation Clause claim was either
“contrary to” or an “unreasonable application” of
governing United States Supreme Court case law,
federal court could not consider United States Su-
preme Court case that was not decided until nearly
sixteen years afler the Florida Supreme Court reached
its decision. U.S.C.A. Const. Amend. 6: 28 U.S.C.A_§

2254(d)(1).

[9] Constitutional Law 92 £€=4594(1)

92 Constitutional Law
92X XVII Due Process
92X XVII{H) Criminal Law
92X XVII(H)4 Proceedings and Trial
92k4592 Disclosure and Discovery
92k4594 Evidence
92k4594(1) k. In General. Most
Cited Cases
(Formerly 92k268(5))
Suppression by prosecution of evidence favorable to

accused violates due process, where evidence is ma-
terial either to guilt or to punishment. U.S.C.A.
Const.Amends 5, 14.

[10] Criminal Law 110 €~°1991

110 Criminal Law
1 10XXXI Counsel
1IOXXXI(D) Duties and Obligations of
Prosecuting Attorneys
110XXXI(D)2 Disclosure of Information
110k1991 k. Constitutional Obligations
Regarding Diisclosure. Most Cited Cases
{Formerly 110k700(2.1))
Prosecutor has duty to disclose evidence favorable to
accused, even though there has been no request for
such evidence by accused.

[11] Criminal Law 110 €1992

110 Criminal Law
110XXXI Counsel
1HOXXXI(D) Duties and Obligations of
Prosecuting Attorneys
110XXXI(3)2 Disclosure of Information
110k1992 k. Materiality and Probable
Effect of Information in General. Most Cited Cases
{Formerly 110k700(4))
Prosecutor's duty to disclose evidence favorable to
accused encompasses impeachment evidence, as well
as exculpatory evidence,

[12] Criminal Law 110 €521992

110 Criminal Law
110XX X! Counsel
110XXXKD) Duties and Obligations of
Prosecuting Attorneys
110XXXI(IN?2 Disclosure of Information
110k1992 k. Materiality and Probable
Effect of Information in General. Most Cited Cases
(Formerly 110k700{2.1))
Evidence is “material,” for purposes of assessing
prosecutor's disclosure obligations under Brady, if
there is reasonable probability that, had evidence been
disclosed to defense, result of proceeding would have
been different.

[13] Habeas Corpus 197 €~770
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197 Habeas Corpus
197111 Jurisdiction, Procecdings, and Relief
19711I(C) Proceedings
1971I(CY¥ Conclusiveness of Prior Deter-
minations
197k763 State Determinations in Fed-
eral Court
197k770 k., Particular Issues and
Problems. Most Cited Cases
Federal habeas court had to defer to state
post-conviction court's factual determination that
witness testifying against defendant did not have any
undisclosed deal with state, notwithstanding witness'
statements that he had such a deal, where detective
and prosecutor testified to the contrary. 28 U.S.C.A. §

2254(e).
[14] Habeas Corpus 197 €480

197 Habeas Corpus
19711 Grounds for Relief; llegality of Restraint
1971(B) Particular Defects and Authority for
Detention in General
197480 k. Discovery and Disclosure. Most
Cited Cases
Florida courts did not make any unreasonable factual
determinations or unreasonably apply clearly estab-
lished federal law under Brady, as required for grant
of federal habeas relief, in determining that state was
not aware of any falsity in statements of witnesses
who testified against petitioner or in concluding that
undisclosed disorderly conduct charge against one
witness or criminal investigation of another were not
material nondisclosures given overwhelming evidence
against petitioner, including his incriminating state-
ments and fingerprint evidence that directly linked
him to crime charged. 28 U.S.C A, § 2234(d)(1, 2).

[15] Criminal Law 110 £€1880

110 Criminal Law
110XXXT Counsel
LTOXXXI(C) Adequacy of Representation
TI0XXXI(C) ] In General
110k 1879 Standard of Effective Assis-
tance in General
110k1880 k. In General. Most Cited
Cases
{Formerly 110k641.13(1))
Standard for evaluating counsel's performance on
ineffective assistance claim is one of reasonableness

under prevailing professional norms; for Sixth
Amendment purposes, court is not interested in grad-
ing counsel's performances, but in whether the ad-
versarial process at trial, in fact, worked adequately.
U.5.C.A. Const.Amend. 6.

[16] Criminal Law 110 €~>1880

110 Criminal Law
10X XXT Counsel
110XXX]1(C) Adequacy of Representation
1HOXXXI{C)1 In General
110k1879 Standard of Effective Assis-
tance in General
110k1880 k. In General. Most Cited
Cases
{Formerly 110k641.13(1))
On ineffective assistance claim, issue for court is not
what is possible or what is prudent or appropriate, but
only what is constitutionally compelled. U.S.C.A.
Const.Amend. 6.

[17] Habeas Corpus 197 €709

197 Habeas Corpus
19711 Jurisdiction, Proceedings, and Relief
1971I(C) Proceedings
19711{C)2 Evidence
197k705 Burden of Proof

197k709 k. Counsel. Most Cited
Cases
Burden of persuasion is on habeas petitioner asserting
an ineffective assistance claim to prove, by prepon-
derance of evidence, that no competent counsel would
have taken the action that his counsel took. U.S.C.A.
Const. Amend. 6.

[18] Criminal Law 110 €1960

110 Criminal Law
110XXX] Counsel
L10XXXI(C) Adequacy of Representation
110XXXIKC)2 Particnlar Cases and Issues
110k1958 Death Penalty
110k1960 k. Adequacy of Investiga-
tion of Mitigating Circumstances. Most Cited Cases
(Formerly 110k641.13(7))
In judging, for Sixth Amendment purposes, the ade-
quacy of counsel's investigation of potential mitigat-
ing circumstances in death penalty case, court con-
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siders counsel's perspective at time the investigative
decisions were made, and gives heavy measure of
deference to counsel's judgments. U.S.C.A
Const.Amend. 6.

[19] Habeas Corpus 197 €=2486(5)

197 Habeas Corpus
19711 Grounds for Relief; Illegality of Restraint
19711{B} Particular Defects and Authority for
Detention in General
197k482 Counsel
197k486 Adequacy and Effectiveness of
Counsel
197k486(5) k. Post-Trial Proceed-
ings; Sentencing, Appeal, Etc. Most Cited Cases
Florida Supreme Court's determination that attorney
representing capital murder defendant had not be-
haved deficiently at penalty phase of case in failing to
call the 33 character witnesses that defendant con-
tended could have given testimony favorable to him,
and that any deficiency in counsel's performance
could not have affected outcome, did not involve
unreasonable application of governing Supreme Court
case law, as required for grant of federal habeas relief,
given that much of these uncalled witnesses' proffered
testimony was cumulative of testimony of the four
character witnesses that defense counsel called or
would have opened door to evidence regarding de-
fendant's drug and alcohol abuse and prior criminal
activity, and given the substantial evidence that was
presented of defendant's brutal acts against his young
female victim in siriking her repeatedly with her own
flashlight and then shooting her in head with her own
gun. US.C.A. ConstAmend. 6; 28 US.CA. §

2254(d)(1).

120} Sentencing and Punishment 350H €~1782

350H Sentencing and Punishment
350HVII The Death Penalty

350HVIII(G) Proceedings

350HVII(G)3 Hearing
350Hk1782 k. Reception of Evidence.

Most Cited Cascs

Evidence that presecutor elicited from one of capital
murder defendant's penalty phase witnesses, regarding
defendant's alleged vandalization of third party's car
and alleged threats to kill this third party, was proper
rebuttal evidence, which was offered in response to
witness' direct testimony that defendant was a normal,
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nonviolent person who acted wholly out of character
when he murdered victim; accordingly, defense
counsel did not behave deficiently in failing to object
to this evidence. U.S.C.A. Const, Amend. 6.

[21] Sentencing and Punishment 350H
€=1780(2)

3350H Sentencing and Punishment
350HVII1 The Death Penalty
350HVILI(G) Proceedings

350HVIII(G)3 Hearing
350H%1780 Conduct of Hearing

350Hk1780(2) k. Arguments and
Conduct of Counsel. Most Cited Cases
Prosecutor's argument at penalty phase of capital
murder case regarding fear and pain that were re-
flected in Florida wildlife officer’s final radio trans-
mission for help as she was being assaulted, and ul-
timately murdered, in her own vehicle by defendant
was not improper “Golden Rule” argument, where

- prosecutor's statements were not designed to elicit

sympathy for victim, but were made in support of
“heinous, atrocious or cruel” aggravating factor.

[22] Criminal Law 110 €71942

110 Criminal Law
110XXXI Counsel
1HOXXXI(C) Adequacy of Representation
HOXXXI(C)2 Particular Cases and Issues
110k1941 Argument and Conduct of
Defense Counsel
110k1942 k. In General. Most Cited
Cases
(Formerly 110k641.13(2.1))
Defense attomeys who presented a reasoned and ra-
tional theme to jury during closing argument did alt
that the Constitution required, and did not behave in
deficient manner for Sixth Amendment purposes.
U.S.C.A. Const.Amend. 6.
¥1329James Vincent Viggiano (Court-Appointed),
Capital Collateral Regional Counsel, Tampa, FL, for
(Grossman.

Carol M. Dittmar, Tampa, FL, for Respon-
dents-Appellees,

Appeal from the United States District Court for the
Middle District of Florida.
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Before TJOFLAT, BLACK and MARCUS, Circuit
Judges.

MARCUS, Circuit Judge:

In this death case Martin E. Grossman appeals from
the district court's denial of his petition for a writ of
habeas corpus pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2254 He
claims that his Sixth Amendment right to confronta-
tion was violated when the state trial court refused to
sever his case from his co-defendant, whose confes-
sion-which also implicated Grossman-was introduced
at trial, albeit against only the co-defendant. Grossman
also maintains that the state impermissibly withheld
Brady material concerning three prosecution wit-
nesses, and that he received ineffective assistance of
counsel at the penalty phase of his capital trial. The
Supreme Court of Florida affirmed his conviction and
sentence on direct appeal and affirmed the denial of
his post-conviction requests for collateral relief. After
thorough review, we affirm.

L

Grossman was convicted of first-degree murder by a
state-court jury in Pinellas County, Florida, after he
shot and killed Margaret Park, a wildlife officer em-
ployed by the Florida Game & Fish Commission,
while she was engaged in the lawful performance of
her duties. The same jury unanimously recommended
that Grossman be sentenced to die, and the state trial
judge entered an order consonant with that recom-
mendation. The Supreme Court of Florida affirmed
Grossman's conviction and sentence on direct appeal.
Grossman v, Stafe, 525 So0.2d 833 (Fla.1988)
(Grossman I). Grossman then filed a state petition for
post-conviction relief, *1330 which was denied by the
trial judge™" in an order subsequently affirmed by the
Supreme Court of Florida. Grossman v. Dugger, 708
So.2d 249 (Fla.1997) (Grossman 1I). Thereafter,
Grossman filed a habeas petition in the United States
District Court for the Middle District of Florida, al-
leging eighteen constitutional errors. In a
well-reasoned and comprehensive order, the district
Jjudge denied habeas relief on all grounds, Grossman v.
Crosby, 359 F.Supp.2d 1233 (M.D.Fla.2005) (
Grossman IIl), and we granted a certificate of appea-
lability on three issues: first, whether the state trial
court violaied Grossman's Sixth Amendment right of
confrontation when it refused to sever Grossman's trial
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from his co-defendani, Thayne Taylor; second,
whether the prosecutors violated Brady v. Marviand,
373 U.S. 83, 83 S.Ct. 1194, 10 L.Ed.2d 215 (1963),

and its progeny by failing to disclose exculpatory
material relating to witnesses Charles Brewer, Brian
Hancock, and Brian Allan; and, finally, whether
Grossman received ineffective assistance of counsel at
the penalty phase of his trial. 2

FNI1. The judge who resolved Grossman's
post-conviction claim for relief was the same
judge who presided over the original trial.

FN2. The district court considered ¢ighteen
claims: 1) whether the failure to sever vi-
olated Grossman's Sixth Amendment rights;
2) whether the state public defender's office
had an impermissible conflict of interest; 3)
whether the state sentencing court violated
Grossman's rights under the FEighth and
Fourteenth Amendments by failing to timely
state the reasons for imposing a death sen-
tence; 4 & 5) whether the state trial judge
violated the Constitution by refusing to give
certain requested jury instructions; 6)
whether Grossman received ineffective as-
sistance of counsel on direct appeal; 7)
whether the state withheld Brady material; 8)
whether state prosecutors impropetly ques-
tioned Grossman outside the presence of
counsel; 9 & 17) whether Grossman reccived
ineffective assistance of counsel at the pe-
nalty phase; 10) whether the jury was prop-
erly instructed on aggravating factors at the
penalty phase; 1!) whether Fla. Stat. §
921.141 is unconstitutional; 12) whether the
state trial court violated Grossman's consti-
tutional rights by denying a continuance; 13)
whether the state trial court violated Gross-
man's constitutional rights by admitting gory
and gruesome photographs; 14) whether the
state trial court erred in admitting victim
impact and character evidence; 15) whether
Florida's capital sentencing scheme is un-
constitutional; 16) whether Grossman re-
ceived ineffective assistance of counsel at the
guilt phase; and 18) whether the Florida
capital sentencing scheme comports with
Ring v. Arizong, 536 U.S. 584, 122 S.Ct.
2428, 153 L.Ed.2d 556 (2002).
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The facts of this case, which we glean from the tnal
testimony, the state collateral hearing, and the opi-
nions of the Florida courts, are these. Grossman and a
companion, Thayne (Tommy) Taylor, drove to a
wooded area of Pinellas County on December 13,
1984, to shoot a handgun that Grossman, Taylor, and
Brian Hancock, Grossman's friend and roommate, had
recently stolen. At the time, Grossman was living in
nearby Pasco County and was on probation following
a recent prison term. Florida wildlife officer Margaret
(Peggy) Park was on patrol in the area and became
suspicious when she saw Grossman and Taylor. She
parked her patrol truck near Grossman's van and took
possession of Grossman's weapon, which she found
under the driver's seat of the van, and his driver's
license.

Grossman pleaded with the officer not to arrest him
because possessing a weapon and being outside of
Pasco County would have violated the terms of his
probation. Officer Park refused his pleas, opened the
driver's door to her vehicle, and reached in to pick up
her radio microphone so she could call the sheriff's
office. Grossman then grabbed the officer’s large me-
tallic flashlight and struck her repeatedly on the *1331
head and shoulders, forcing her upper body into the
truck. Officer Park managed to exclaim “I'm hit” over
the radio, and deputies from the Pinellas County She-
riff's Office began responding to her location.

Grossman continued his attack on Officer Park and
called for help from Taylor, who then joined in the
assault. Officer Park drew her firearm, a .357 mag-
num, and fired one shot that narrowly missed hitting
Taylor in the head. Simultaneously, she temporarily
disabled Taylor by kicking him in the groin. Gross-
man, who was significantly larger than Officer Park,
gained control of her weapon and fired one shot into
the back of her head, killing her.

Grossman and Taylor then took back the seized
handgun and driver's license and fled with Officer
Park's weapon. They returmned to Grossman's home
where they told the story of the shooting, both indi-
vidually and collectively, to Brian Hancock. Hancock
and Taylor buried the two guns near the crime scene.
Grogsman, whose clothing was covered in blood,
unsuccessfully attempted to burn the clothes and shoes
he was wearing during the attack.™ Taylor eventually
discarded those items in a nearby lake. The next day,
Grossman and Taylor thoroughly cleaned the van they

were driving on the night of the murder and changed
the tires on the vehicle.

FN3. Lawrence Black, one of Grossman's
neighbaors, testified that he saw a fire behind
the Grossman house on the evening of De-
cember 14, 1984, Black said he saw Gross-
man and another man carrying things out of
the house and burning them in the yard.
Black could not see exactly what items
Grossman and his accomplice were burning,

Approximately one week later, on December 20,
1984, Grossman and Taylor told the story of the
shooting to yet another friend, Brian Allan. Then, on
December 25, Hancock, who testified that he was
scared of Grossman, went to the police and told them
what he knew. Shortly thereafter, Grossman and
Taylor were arrested. Upon his arrest, Taylor con-
fessed to the police and gave them a similar and de-
tailed account of the events that took place on the
night of the murder. After Grossman was arrested, but
before he was tried, Grossman told the story of the
killing, and his central role in it, to still one more
person, fellow inmate Charles Brewer.

Grossman and Taylor were charged with first-degree
murder, and, over Grossman's objections, were tried
together. The state introduced significant physical and
forensic evidence. A latent prints examiner testified
that Grossman's fingerprints were found on the driv-
er's door handle of Officer Park's vehicle and on her
flashlight 2 Brian Moyer, a deputy sheriff in Pasco
County, testified that Brian Hancock led him to the
location of two guns buried in a wooded area of Pasco
County. One was a semiautomatic pistol and one was
a 357 magnum. The serial number on the .357
matched that of Officer Park’s weapon.

FN4. Taylor's fingerprints were also recov-
ered from the driver's door handle of Officer
Park's vehicle.

The police had recovered two discharged bullets from
the scene, one from inside a cup in Officer Park's
vehicle and another from inside a wall of that vehicle,
An FBI agent qualified as an expert in the field of
elemental composition analysis tested the lead com-
position of those bullets and determined that it was
identical to the lead composition of one bullet later
recovered from Officer Park's gun.™ Another FBI
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*1332 agent, qualified as a firearms and gunpowder
expert, testified that the bullet recovered from the cup
inside Officer Park's vehicle could only have been
fired from her own gun.™

FN3. Four bullets were subsequently recov-
ered from Officer Park's gun. Three of them
had identical lead compositions. One had a
slightly different composition, and it was that
bullet that matched the two discharged bul-
lets recovered from the scene.

FN6. The agent testified that the other bullet,
which had been fired into the metal wall of
the vehicle, was damaged. He was able to say
that it had been fired from a .357 caliber
weapon, which is the kind of weapon Officer
Park carried that night, but was not able to
definitively establish that it was fired from
Officer Park's gun. There were no finger-
prints recovered from any of the weapons.

Dr. Edward Corcoran, an associate medical examiner
for Pinellas County, conducted an autopsy on Officer
Park. The doctor testified that she died of a single
gunshot wound to the head. The shot made an entrance
wound in the back of her head on the left side and an
exit wound in the right temporal region. He said that
the bullet went in at about a 45 degree angle from the
left back to the right side, with a slight deviation up-
wards of about 10 degrees. In the doctor's opinion,
“this would indicate that the bullet went in, someone
holding the gun down firing upwards, or else the gun
going in and the head bent over.”

Dr. Corcoran testified that in addition to the gunshot
wounds, he discovered two lacerations on the top of
the right side of the head, a laceration on the back right
side of the head, three large defects on the top left side
of the head, a bruise on the right side of the forehead,
small bruises on the chin, a scrape on the left cheek, a
bruise on the left shoulder, bruises and scrapes on the
right hand, a scrape on the left hand near the knuckles,
and small bruises around the knees and thigh. There
was hemorrhaging inside the scalp and extensive
fracturing of the skull. The doctor testified that the
skull fractures were caused by the bullet. Some of the
lacerations on the head were caused by the bullet, and
others were caused by external blunt trauma.

Finally, the state introduced the charred shoes; the two
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weapons; testimony from Black, the neighbor who
observed the fire outside Grossman's home; and ex-
tensive testimony regarding Grossman's efforts to
clean his van and change the van's tires. The state also
presented expert testimony as to the significance of
blood spatter evidence 2

FN7. An investigator from the medical ex-
aminer's office testified that blood spatter
evidence in the victim's vehicle indicated that
when she was shot, Officer Park was proba-
bly standing outside the wvehicle with her
head above the driver's seat, facing the inte-
rior of the vehicle, probably toward the area
of the radio, '

In addition to the physical evidence, the state intro-
duced the testimony of Hancock, Allan, and Brewer,
and the details of Taylor's confession to the police.
Because Grossman claims that he was prejudiced by
the admission of Taylor's confession at their joint trial,
we recount at some length the powerful similarities
between Taylor's confession, on one hand, and the
trial testimony of Hancock, Allan, and Brewer, de-
scribing what Grossman told them about the crime, on
the other.

Hancock testified that Grossman and Taylor “come
back, they run through the door. Grossman was cov-
ered full of blood with two guns int his hand saying he
just shot a police officer .... Grossman told me he shot
a police officer. And Tommy told me the same thing.”
Hancock added that Grossman told him that Grossman
shot the officer because he did not want to go back to

- N8
prison. ——

FN8. Grossman's aftorney cross-examined
Hancock about this point and got Hancock to
admit that Grossman did not actually say, on
the night of the murder, that he shot the of-
ficer because he did not want to go back to
prison. Hancock clarified that he had en-
gaged in numerous conversations with
Grossman during which Grossman told
Hancock that he did not want to go back to
prison. The jury heard the following ex-
change on cross-examination, which best
encapsulates Hancock's testimony on this
point:

Q (Defense Counsel McCoun): These
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are-your testimony with regards to that
point about his fear about going back to
jail, you've already told the jury that was
something that he didn't say, but something
that you surmised or determined in your
mind; correct?

A (Brian Hancock): No. He told me several
times before the shooting ever-before he
even killed her he said that, he would never
go back to jail.

Q: I appreciate that. He had been to prison
one time and he did not like it; right?

A: That's right.

Q: Okay. But he never told you, sir, that
that was the reason why this lady was
killed, did he? That's just something that
you figured out?

A That's right.

*1333 Hancock further testified that when he was
alone with Grossman he asked Grossman specifically
what had happened. Grossman provided a detailed
account of the circumstances surrounding the murder.
He explained that when Officer Park came upon
Grossman and Taylor she asked what they were doing,
and whether they had any guns, They denied having
any fircarms. Park asked both Grossman and Taylor to
step outside the vehicle and proceeded to search it.
She found a gun under Grossman's seat and placed
him under arrest. Grossman pleaded with her not to
arrest him because he was on parole. As she went to
call in the incident on her radio Grossman hit her on
the head with her flashlight, perhaps as many as
twenty or thirly times. Grossman called Taylor for
help, who then grabbed Park's legs. The officer then
kicked Taylor in the groin, pulled out her .357 mag-
num, and got off one shot, which grazed Taylor.
Grossman grabbed Officer Park's weapon from her
hand and shot her in the head at point blank range. He
then took back the nine-millimeter weapon lying on
the seat, along with the officer's weapon, and with
Taylor, fled in his van. The next day Grossman and
Taylor washed and cleaned the van and changed its
tires.
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Allan testified that he met up with Grossman and
Taylor on December 20, 1984, after returning to Pasco
County from Jacksonville, where he had been serving
a probationary sentence at a halfway house, Grossman
showed Allan a newspaper article detailing the ac-
count of Officer Park's death, and told Allan, “I did it,
man, I killed her.”

According to Allan's testimony, Grossman told him
that Officer Park had found a firearm in his van.
Thereafter, she walked back to her vehicle and said,
“Mr. Grossman, you are going back to prison.”
Grossman pleaded with the officer not to arrest hin,
but she persisted. Allan testified that “Martin grabbed
the flashlight and repeatedly hit her over the head.
Couldn't get a good grip, couldn't get a good hit, so, he
got a better grip on the flaghtight and hit her a couple
more times.” Grossman, while attacking Officer Park,
yelled to Taylor, “Tom, she still won't go. Tom, she
still won't go.” After thinking he had beaten her into
unconsciousness, Grossman told Allan, he let go of
the officer, at which point she pulled out her gun and
fired the shot that narrowly missed hitting Taylor.
Then, Allan recounted, Grossman “had her around the
neck, and he grabbed her gun, ripped it out of her
hands, let her go.” Like Hancock, Allan testified that
he, too, had conversations with Grossman, prior to the
murder, during which Grossman told him that he did
not like prison and did not want to go back.

Charles Brewer, a fellow inmate of Grossman's, testi-
fied that Grossman gave *1334 him a magazine article
detailing the facts of the murder, but that Grossman
complained about some inaccuracies in the account,
Thus, for example, the article indicated that Officer
Park was shot in the back of the head, and Grossman
told Brewer “[t]hat was a damned lie. It was in the side
of the head.” Like Hancock and Allan, Brewer testi-
fied that Grossman admitted that he grabbed Park's
flashlight, struck her in the head with it, and shot her
once in the head with her own weapon. Brewer also
testified that Grossman told him he did not want to be
arrested by a female officer and that he did not want to
go back to jail.

Finally, the state introduced only against Taylor the
testimony of Wayne Desmarais, a detective with the
Pinellas County Sheriff's Department, who took
Taylor's confession. It is this testimony that Grossman
claims prejudiced his trial. Taylor told the detective
that he and Grossman had driven to the Covered
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Bridge Estates area of Pinellas County on the night of
December 13, 1984, so that they could shoot a
nine-millimeter weapon. Before they could begin
firing, Ofticer Park drove up to the location, exited her
vehicle, and asked Grossman for his driver's license.
Officer Park asked Grossman and Taylor to step out of
their van and stand to the side while she searched the
vehicle. She asked if they had any guns, and they
replied they did not. Grossman told her that he was on
probation, =2 that he did not want any trouble, and that
he did not want to go back to jail. Officer Park soon
found the nine-millimeter gun in the van and told
Grossman he was under arrest.

FN9. Taylor was unsure whether Grossman
used the word “probation” or “parole.”

The detective testified that Taylor told him he then lost
sight of Grossman and Officer Park for a short pe-
riod. 2222 Taylor heard Grossman yelling his name, and
he went over to the officer's vehicle, where Grossman
had Officer Park pinned down on the driver's seat.
Grossman was on top of Officer Park, and he was
hitting her head with an aluminum flashlight she had
been carrying. Officer Park was kicking her legs
frantically, and Taylor attempted to stop her. Officer
Park managed to draw her weapon and fire one shot
that narrowly missed hitting Taylor in the head, while
simultaneously kicking him in the groin. Taylor said
that he was lying on the ground and saw Grossman
take Officer Park's gun and fire one round into the
back of her head. Taylor then retrieved Grossman's
license and the nine-millimeter weapon from the of-
ficer's car, Grossman and Taylor returned to their van,
and they left the scene. The detective testified that
Taylor confirmed the firearms were buried near the
crime scene and that the clothes Grossman wore at the
crime scene had been discarded in a lake.

FN10. According to Taylor, his vision was
obscured by the glare from the headlights on
Officer Park's vehicle.

The defense called no witnesses at the guilt phase. The
trial judge instructed the jury on premeditation and
felony murder based on escape and the robbery or
burglary of Officer Park's gun and the seized driver's
license. The jury returned a general verdict of
first-degree murder against Grossman and a general
verdict of third-degree murder against Taylor.
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At the penalty phase of Grossman's capital trial, the
state did not present any additional evidence. The
defense presented the testimony of Myra Grossman,
Martin Grossman's mother, who said that her son was
a non-violent person who helped to care for his father
{who died when Martin was only fifteen years old).
She *1335 recounted that Martin Grossman did not
complete junior high and that she loved her son.
Grossman also presented the testimony of Thomas
Campbell, a detention officer from the Pinellas
County Sheriff's Office, who stated that Grossman did
not cause any problems while he was incarcerated.
Carolyn Middleton, a correctional social worker,
provided similar testimony, noting that Grossman was
respectful to guards and able to express emotions.
Finally, Grossman's best friend, Steven Martakas,
testified that he considered Martin to be like a brother
and recounted that Grossman was respectful to his
mother and had always encouraged him to avoid
smoking and taking drugs.

The jury unanimously recommended, and the trial
judge agreed, that Grossman should be sentenced to
die. The trial judge expressly found, as aggravating
circumstances, that Grossman committed the murder
while committing the crime of robbery or burglary,
that the murder was committed for the purpose of
avoiding lawful amrest or escaping from custody, and
that the murder was especially wicked, evil, atrocious
or cruel. The only mitigating circumstance, the trial
court observed, that “could have been found” based on
the testimony was that the defendant was nineteen
years old at the time the murder was committed. The
Jjudge squarely rejected this factor, concluding that it
did not “constitute[ ] a mitigating circumstance in this
case.” The trial court then determined that “the ag-
gravaling circumstances far outweigh[ed] the muti-
gating circumstances” and sentenced Grossman to
death.

IL

Grossman commenced his federal habeas petition
after the effective date of the Antiterrorism and Ef-
fective Death Penalty Act of 1996 (“AEDPA”), Pub.L.
No. 104-132, 110 Stat. 1214 (1996), and, therefore,
the provisions of that Act govern this appeal. Wadz v.
Bartle, 379 F.3d 1254, 1259 (11th Cir.2004). Under
AEDPA, Grossman was required to obtain a Certifi-
cate of Appealability (“COA”) before he could appeal
the district court's decision, see28 U.S.C. §
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2253(c)(1)(A), and “appellate review is limited to the
issues specified in the COA.” Murray v. United States,
145 F.3d 1249, 125] (11th Cir.1998). Therefore, our
review is limited to the three issues noted in the COA.

{1] When examining a district court's denial of a §
2254 habeas petition, we review questions of law and
mixed questions of law and fact de novo, and findings
of fact for clear error. Maharaj v. Sec'y for Dep't of
Corr., 432 F.3d 1292, 1308 (11th Cir.2005), cert.
denied, 549 1).8. 819, 127 S.Ct. 348, 166 L.Ed.2d 33
(2006). However, in reviewing the decisions of the
Supreme Court of Florida, we are governed by the
explicit terms of AEDPA, which provides that we may
grant a writ of habeas corpus only if 1) the state deci-
sion was “contrary to, or involved an unreasonable
application of, clearly established Federal law, as
determined by the Supreme Court of the United
States,” or 2) the state decision was “based on an
unreasonable determination of the facts in light of the
evidence presented in the State court proceeding.” 23

U.5.C. § 2254(d}.

[2] The phrase “clearly established Federal law,” as
used in § 2254(d)(1), encompasses only the holdings
of the Supreme Court of the United States, Wifliams v.
Tavior, 529 1.5, 362, 412, 120 S.Ct. 1495, 146
L.Ed.2d 389 (2000) (holding that the language of §
2254(dX(1) expressly “restricts the source of clearly
established law to [the Supreme Court's] jurispru-
dence™). “Clearly established federal law is not the
case law of the lower federal courts, including this
Court.” *1336Pwman v. Head 268 F.3d 1223, 1241
(11th Cir.2001}. And, clearly established federal law
“refers to the holdings ... of [the Supreme Court's]
decisions as of the time of the relevant state-court
decision.” Williams, 529 U.8. at 412, 120 8.Ct. 1495
{emphasis added).

3]{4] “Moreover, section 2234(d¥(1) provides two
separate bases for reviewing state court decisions; the
‘contrary to’ and ‘unreasonable application’ clauses
articulate independent considerations a federal court
must consider.” Maharai, 432 F.3d at 1308, A state
court decision is contrary to clearly established federal
law if either (1) the state court applied a rule that
contradicts the governing law set forth by Supreme
Court case law, or (2) when faced with materially
indistinguishable facts, the state court arrived at a
result different from that reached in a Supreme Court
case.” Putman, 268 F.3d at 124]. An “unreasonable
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application” of clearly established federal law may
occur if the state court “identifies the correct legal rule
from Supreme Court case law but unreasonably ap-
plies that rule to the facts of the petitioner's case.” Id.
“An unreasonable application may also occur if a state
court unreasonably extends, or unreasonably declines
to extend, a legal principle from Supreme Court case
law to a new context.” fd.

[5] Finally, a federal court may grant a writ of habeas
corpus to a state prisoner when the state court's deci-
sion “wag based on an unreasonable determination of
the facts in light of the evidence presented in the State
court proceeding.” 28 US.C. § 2254(d)(2). A state
court's determination of the facts, however, is entitled
to substantial deference. 28 U.S.C. § 2254{e)}(1)
(noting that “a determination of a factual issue made
by a State court shall be presumed to be correct™ and
that an “applicant shall have the burden of rebutting
the presumption of correctness by clear and convinc-
ing evidence™).

II.

[6] As we have noted, Grossman was jointly tried with
co-defendant Taylor. Grossman made numerous mo-
tions to sever, each of which was denied by the state
trial judge. Plainly, Grossman did not want the jury to
hear the inculpatory statements co-defendant Taylor
made to the police shortly after Taylor was arrested,
even though the trial court found them admissible
against only Taylor. Because Taylor did not testify,
Grossman had no opportunity to cross-examine Taylor
about those statements, and, accordingly, Grossman
contends his Sixth Amendment right of confrontation
was violated.

This argument was rejected by the Supreme Court of
Florida on direct appeal. We quote from its analysis in
some detail to show that the Supreme Court of Flori-
da's determination was neither contrary to nor an un-
reasonable application of clearly established federal
law:

Appellant and his codefendant were tried jointly,
and neither testified at trial. Codefendant Taylor's
statement to the police was introduced into evidence
against Taylor only and the jury was insiructed that
this statement could not be used against appellant.
This was done on the rationale that Taylor's state-
ment interlocked with the three statements that ap-
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pellant made to witnesses Hancock, Allan, and
Brewer. At the time of trial this appeared to be
permissible under Parker v. Randolph, 442 U.S. 62,
99 S.Ct. 2132, 60 L.Ed.2d 713 (1979}, where a
plurality of the court held that interlocking confes-
sions of codefendants could be introduced in a joint
trial as an exception to *1337Bruton v. United
States, 391 U.S. 123, 88 S.Ct. 1620,20 L.Ed.2d 476
(1968), without violating the confrontation clause of
the sixth amendment, provided the jury was in-
structed that the codefendant's statement could only
be used against the codefendant. The plurality view
of Parker has since been rejected and we must
examine this issue in light of Cruz v. New York, [481
1.8, 186], 107 S.Ct. 1714, 951, Ed.2d 162 (1987).

Parker was decided on the theory that introduction
of the confession of a non-testifying codefendant
against the codefendant only, which interlocked
with a confession of the defendant, was permissible
in a joint trial because it presented nothing of evi-
dentiary value against the defendant which was not
already properly before the jury. Consequently, the
theory went, the jury could reasonably be expected
to follow an instruction that it should not use the
non-testifying codefendant’s confession against the
defendant and, even if it did not, the error would be
harmless. In rejecting this theory, the majority in
Cruz reasoned:

Quite obviously, what the “interlocking” nature of the
codefendant's confession pertains to is not its
harmfulness but rather its reliability: If it con-
firms essentially the same facts as the defendant's
own confession it is more likely to be true, Its re-
liability, however, may be relevant to whether the
confession should (despite the lack of opportunity
for cross-examination) be admitted as evidence
against the defendant, see Lee v. filinois, 476 1].5.
530 [106 S.Ct. 2056, 90 L..Ed.2d 514] (1986), but
cannot conceivably be relevant to whether, as-
suming it cannot be admitted, the jury is likely to
obey the instruction to disregard it, or the jury's
failure to obey is likely to be inconsequential.

107 S.Ct. at 1718-19 {emphasis in original). The Court
then went on to make three holdings, all of which
are applicable here, First, it is error to admit a
non-testifying codefendant's confession incrimi-
nating the defendant notwithstanding an instruction
not to consider it against the defendant. This is so

even if the defendant's own interlocking confession
is admitted. Second, the defendant's confession may
be considered as an indica of reliability in deter-
mining whether the codefendant's confession may
be directly admissible against the defendant. Third,
in recognition that its ruling would impact on trials
already conducted under the Parker theory, the
Court held that the defendant's confession could be
considered on appeal in determining whether ad-
mission of the codefendant's confession was harm-
less.

It is clear from Cruz that admission of Taylor's
statement with instructions that it not be used
against appellant was error. It is also clear from the
record that this error was harmless. Taylor's state-
ment interlocks with and is fully consistent in all
significant aspects with all three statements that
appellant made to Hancock, Allan, and Brewer and
which were directly admissible against appellant.
The indicia of reliability are sufficient to have
permitted introduction of Taylor's statement as
evidence against appellant. Appellant makes two
arguments that this is not so, both of which are
contrary to the record. First, he argues that it is only
Taylor's statement which emphasizes appellant's
primary role in the murder. This is contrary to the
record which shows that appellant told Hancock,
Allan, and Brewer that it was he who first attacked
and battered the officer and that it was he who
wrestled her weapon away and fired the single shot
which killed her. In all three statements, Taylor's
role is clearly subordinate while appellant's role
#1338 as the initiator and triggerman is dominant.
Second, appellant argues, he and Taylor jointly re-
counted the story of the murder to Hancock and
Allan and neither witness was able to identify for
the ¢ourt which defendant said what. This is con-
trary to the record which shows that the witnesses
were able for the most part to identify appellant as
the person who narrated the critical elements of the
story. Moreover, even if this were not true, the joint
statements of appellant and Taylor given in each
other's presence would be admissible against both as
admissions against penal interest. We hold that it
was error to admit Taylor's statement in the joint
trial as evidence against Taylor only, but that this
error was harmless under the facts and circums-
tances of the case. Cruz; Harrington v. California,
395 U.8. 250, 89 S.Ct. 1726, 23 1. .Ed2d 284

(1969).
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Grossman f, 525 So.2d at 838-39.

In short, the Supreme Court of Florida held that the
admission of Taylor's confession at a joint trial with
Grossman, even with instructions to disregard the
statement as to Grossman, was error under Cruz, but
that the error was harmless. On habeas review, the
district court concluded that the Supreme Court of
Florida had identified the appropriate Supreme Court
case law (Cruz), and that the application of the Cruz
principles was not objectively unreasonable. Specifi-
cally, the district court found that although it was error
under Cruz to admit Taylor's statement, even with the
limiting instruction, it was harmless because “Taylor's
statements were fully consistent with Grossman's
statements [to Hancock, Allan, and Brewer], which
were properly admitted against Grossman.” Grossnian
L7, 359 F.Supp.2d at 1253.

Grossman argues, nevertheless, that: 1) the admission
of Taylor's statement was constitutional error; and 2)
the error was fatally prejudicial in light of the Supreme
Court's recent decision in Crawford v. Washingion,
541 U.S. 36, 124 S.Ct. 1354, 158 I..Ed.2d 177 (2004).
As for his first argument, we agree with Grossman, the
Supreme Court of Florida, and the district court that
admission of Taylor's statement was erroneous. In
Cruz, the Supreme Court held that “where a nontes-
tifying codefendant's confession incriminating the
defendant is not directly admissible against the de-
fendant, the Confrontation Clause bars its admission at
their joint trial, even if the jury is instructed not to
consider 1t against the defendant, and even if the de-
fendant's own confession is adnutted against him,”
481 U.S. at 193, 107 S,Ct. 1714 (citation omitted).

The factual circumstances described in Cruz largely
mirror what occurred in this case, Taylor did not tes-
tify, yet his statement to the police, which implicated
Grossman, was admitted against Taylor with instruc-
tions to disregard the statement as to Grossman, pre-
cisely because it interlocked with Grossman's confes-
sions to Hancock, Brewer, and Allan. Plainly, there
was Cruz error. Nevertheless, that alone does not
entitle Grossman to habeas relief; as Cruz made ab-
undantly clear, “the defendant’s confession may be
considered ... on appeal in assessing whether any
Confrontation Clause violation was harmless.” Cruz,
481 U.S. at 193-94. 107 S.Ct. 1714. The Supreme
Court of Florida determined that the error was harm-

less. The evidence was overwhelming and Taylor's
statements interlocked with and were consistent in all
significant aspects with each of the three detailed and
inculpatory statements Grossman made to Hancock,
Allan, and Brewer.

*1339 On direct appeal, the Supreme Court of Florida
specifically found that the Cruz error was harmless
beyond a reasonable doubt. See id at 839 (citing
Harringion v. California, 395 U.8. 250,89 S.Ct. 1726,
23 L.Ed.2d 284 (1969), which analyzed whether a
Confrontation Clause error raised on direct appeal was
harmiess beyond a reasonable doubt). However, in a
habeas corpus proceeding under 28 U.S.C. § 2254, we
analyze Grossman's claim under a different harmless
error standard of review: whether the Confrontation
Clause error alleged in this case “had substantial and
injurious effect or influence in determining the jury's
verdict.” See Brecht v. Abrahamson, 507 11.S. 619,
623, 113 §.Ct. 1710, 123 L..Ed.2d 353 (1993) (internal
quotation marks omitted).

In Brecht, the Supreme Court held that constitutional
trial errors raised collaterally in a habeas proceeding
are subject to the harmless error standard enunciated
in Kotreakos v. United States, 328 1U.S. 750, 66 S.Ct.
1239, 90 L.Ed. 1557 (1946), where it opined that an
error is harmless unless the error “had substantial and
injurious effect or influence in determining the jury's
verdict.” Id at 776, 66 S.Ct. 1239. In Brecht, the Su-
preme Court noted the differences between the Kot-
teakos harmless error standard and the “harmless
beyond a reasonable doubt” standard, and determined
that the harder-to-establish Kotteakos formulation was
more appropriate in the habeas context, which is de-
signed to afford relief only to those whom society has
“grievously wronged.” Brecht, 507 U.S. at 637, 113
S8.Ct. 1710. The Brecht Court cited as compelling
factors “the State's interest in the finality of convic-
tions that have survived direct review within the state
court system,” principles of “comity and federalism,”
the need to avoid degrading the significance of trial or
encouraging relitigation of claims, the character of
habeas corpus as an unusual remedy, and the social
costs and practical difficulties of retrying a defendant
after a grant of habeas relief. See id at 635-37, 113
S5.Ct. 1710

[7] Since then, we have had occasion to say more than
once that the Brecht standard governs harmless error
analysis in habeas corpus cases involving Cruz viola-
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tions and other Confrontation Clause transgressions
associated with the improper admission of
out-of-court statements. See Glock v. Singletary, 63
F.3d 878, 891 (11th Cir.1995) (en banc) (adopting the
harmless error analysis of the vacated panel opinion,
which had applicd the Brecht standard to a Cruz claim
presented in a state habeas petition filed pursuant to §
2254); see also Washington v. Crosby, 324 F.3d 1263

1266 n. 2 (11th Cir.2003) (“Even if we assumed that
the district court did not err in finding a Confrontation
Clause violation, we would hold that the violation was
harmless under Brechi ...”"); Mcintyre v, Williams, 216
E.3d 1254, 1258-59 (11th Cir.2000) (stating in dictum
that “admission of the out-of-court statement of a
nontestifying codefendant in violation of the Sixth
Amendment Confrontation Clause™ is trial error sub-
ject to Brecht harmless error analysis); Cargill v.
Turpin, 120 F.3d 1366, 1375-76 (11th Cir.1997)
{concluding that admission of a statement for purposes
other than proving the truth of the matters contained in
the statement did not violate the Confrontation Clause,
but finding that even if there had been an error, it
would have been harmless under the Brecht standard);
Cumbie_v. Singletary, 991 F.2d 715, 724 (11th
Cir.1993) (applying Brecht harmless eiror analysis to
erroneous admission of one-way video testimony); ¢f
Ventura v. Aty Gen,, 419 F.3d 1269, 1279 0. 4 (11th
Cir,2005) (noting the difference between the harmless
error standards of review and opining that the “beyond
a reasonable doubt” formulation *1340 “has little
application to a case before us on collateral review”).
Thus, the Brecht formulation provides the standard

against which to measure harmless error in this case.
EN11

ENI1. It is of no moment that Brecht was
decided after Grossman's direct appeal in the
state courts had run its course and while state
collateral proceedings were pending. Nota-
bly, Grossman's federal habeas corpus pro-
ceedings commenced after Brecht was de-
cided. Indeed, the Supreme Court and our
court have applied Brecht even in those cases
where the federal habeas action was com-
menced before Brecht was decided. See
Brecht, 507 U.S. at 638, 113 8.Ct. 1710 (ap-
plying the Brecht rule in Brechr itself);
Cumbie, 991 F.2d _at 724 (applying the
Brecht standard in a case in which the panel
heard oral arguments before Brechs was de-
cided).

Grossman offers no convincing explanation for why
we should find that the admission of Taylor's incul-
patory statement was harmful. The evidence against
him-both physical and testimonial-was overwhelm-
ing. Grossman's fingerprints were found on the door
handle of the officer's vehicle and, significantly, on
her flashlight. One of Grossman's neighbors testified
that he observed a fire outside Grossman's home, and
the state introduced the charred shoes that Grossman
atternpted to destroy. And, most importantly, each of
the recitations Grossman separately gave to Hancock,
Allan, and Brewer duplicates each important aspect of
Taylor's confession-that Grossman was the one who
first attacked the officer, repeatedly beating her with a
metal flashlight; that it was Grossman who gained
contro] of the officer’s weapon, that Grossman played
the dominant role, as the Supreme Court of Florida put
it; and that Grossman fired the fatal shot. More spe-
cifically, Hancock testified that Grossman told him
that Grossman followed the officer to her car, re-
peatedly struck her with her flashlight, took the of-
ficer's gun away from her, and shot her at point blank
range, Allan's testimony likewise established that
Grossman related the same basic facts he had told
Hancock. Finally, as the district court observed,
“Grossman admitted the same motivation in state-
ments to fellow inmate Brewer”-to avoid going back
to jail. In light of the overwhelming physical and
testimonial proof, we cannot say the Cruz error had a
substantial and injurious effect or influence in deter-
mining the jury's verdict ™2

EN12. The Supreme Court of Florida also
determined that Taylor's statement was en-
tirely consistent with the detailed confessions
Grossman made to Hancock, Brewer, and
Allan, and thus that there were sufficient in-
dicia of reliability to have admitted Taylor's
statement directly against Grossman. See
Ohio_v. Roberts, 448 U.S. 36, 65-66, 100
S.Ct. 2531, 65 L.Ed.2d 597 (1980) (holding
that admission of a statement from an un-
available hearsay declarant does not violate
the Confrontation Clause so long as there are
sufficient indicia of reliability supporting the
statement); see also Lee v. fllinois, 476 U.S.
530, 545, 106 S.Ct. 2056, 90 L.Ed.2d 514
(1986) (holding that “[i]f those portions of
[2] codefendant's purportedly ‘interlocking’
statement which bear to any significant de-
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gree on the defendant's participation in the
crime are not thoroughly substantiated by the
defendant's own confession, the admission of
the statement” violates the Confrontation
Clause (emphasis added}). Notably, Cruz did
not disturb the holdings of Roberts and Lee,
which were undeniably good law at that time.
Cruz, 481 U.S. at 193-94, 107 S.Ct. 1714
(observing that “the defendant’s confession
may be considered at trial in assessing
whether his codefendant's statements are
supported by sufficient ‘indicia of reliability’
to be directly admissible against him ... de-
spite  the lack of opportunity for
cross-examination” and citing Lee). The Su-
preme Court of Florida's finding that there
were sufficient indicia of reliability to have
permitted the admission of Taylor's state-
ment directly against Grossman also was
neither contrary to nor an unreasonable ap-
plication of clearly established federal law.

The long and short of it is that the Supreme Court of
Florida reasonably determined*1341 that the admis-
sibility of Taylor's statement amounted to harmless
error.

[8] Grossman argues, however, that his inability to
cross-examine Taylor constituted harmful error under
the Supreme Court's recent decision in Crawford. This
claim fails for two reasons, First, we have held that
under the Supreme Court's analysis in Teague v. Lane,
489 1).S. 288, 310, 109 S.Ct. 1060, 103 L..Ed.2d 334
(1989), Crawford does not apply retroactively to cases
on collateral review. Espy v. Massac, 443 F.3d 1362,
1367 (11th Cir.2006) (holding that “Crawford did not
announce a watershed rule of criminal procedure, and
it therefore does not apply retroactively to cases on
collateral review™). Second, it fails because AEDPA
requires us to consider only clearly established federal
law, which “refers to the holdings ... of [the Supreme
Court's] decisions as of the time of the relevant
state~-court decision.” Williams, 529 1).8. at 412, 120
8.Ct. 1495 (emphasis added); Harf v. Att'y Gen., 323
F.3d 884, 891 (11th Cir.2003); Putman, 268 F.3d at
1241. Because Crawford was decided in 2004, nearly
sixteen years after the Supreme Court of Florida is-
sued its opinion on the severance issue in 1988, it does
not qualify as clearly established federal law that we
may consider. ™ Simply put, the Supreme Court's
decision in Crawford cannot affect our analysis. We,

therefore, agree with the district court that the state
court's decision was neither contrary to nor an unrea-
sonable application of clearly established federal law,
and that it was not based on an unreasonable deter-
mination of the facts in light of the evidence presented
in the state court proceeding.

FN13. We need not decide the extent to
which AEDPA codifies the exceptions to
non-retroactivity set forth in Teague, see
Teague, 489 U.S. at 311, 109 S.Ct. 1060,
because, under Teague, Crawford is not re-
troactively applicable to cases on collateral
review. See Mungo v. Duncan, 393 F.3d 327,
334-35 (2d Cir.2004) (“In any case, whether

2254(d)(1) was intended, or out of pru-
dence should be read, to adopt the Teague
exceptions is a question we need not answer
because we conchude that the Crawford rule
does not qualify as a watershed rule coming
within the exception to Teague.”).

Iv.

Grossman's next habeas claim is that the state prose-
cutor erroneously failed to disclose exculpatory ma-
terial concerning witnesses Brewer, Hancock, and
Allan. Grossman raised this issue in his state
post-conviction proceeding and presented evidence at
a hearing conducted by the state trial judge. The state
court squarely rejected Grossman's Brady claims and
the Supreme Court of Florida affirmed. See Grossman
1, 708 So.2d at 251. The district court similarly found
that there were no Brady violations. Grossman f1], 359
F.Supp.2d at 1261-63.

[S1101[11][12] In Brady, the Supreme Court set forth
the now firmly-established constitutional rule that “the
suppression by the prosecution of evidence favorable
to an accused upon request violates due process where
the evidence is material either to guilt or to punish-
ment.” Brady, 373 U.S. at 87, 83 S.Ct. 1194. Indeed,
the “duty to disclose such evidence is applicable even
though there has been no request by the accused, and
... the duty encompasses impeachment evidence as
well as exculpatory evidence.” Strickler v. Greene,
3527 U.8 263, 280, 119 S.Ct. 1936, 144 L.Ed.2d 286
{1999) {citation omitted). Evidence is material “if
there is a reasonable probability that, had the evidence
been disclosed to the defense, the result of the pro-
ceeding *1342 would have been different.” United
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States v. Bagley, 473 U.8. 667, 682, 105 S.Ct. 3375,
87 1.Ed.2d 481 (1985). The state post-conviction
court and the Supreme Court of Florida recognized
Brady as establishing the relevant law, and Grossman
does not claim any error in that regard; instead, he
contends that the state courts unreasonably applied
Brady and its progeny to the facts of this case, We
disagree.

Grossman first says that the state withheld exculpatory
information that it had cut a deal with Brewer to give
him assistance on other charges in exchange for his
testimony, that the state attorneys knmew Brewer's
testimony was false, and that Brewer was an agent of
law enforcement, as well as information regarding the
number of Brewer's prior convictions.

[13] The state trial court took extensive evidence on
this claim at a collateral hearing, and concluded that
Brewer did not receive any deal in exchange for his
testimony and was not acting as an agent of law en-
forcement. The court relied specifically on the hearing
testimony of Pinellas County Detective Robert
Rhodes and State Attorney Bernie McCabe, both of
whom unambiguously said that there were no deals
with Brewer. The Supreme Court of Florida affirmed
for the reasons offered by the trial judge. Grossman /1,
708 S0.2d at 251-52. The district court, in turn, found
that the state court's conclusion was supported by
“competent, substantial evidence presented at the
hearing,” Grossman fIf, 359 F.Supp.2d at 1262, and
we agree. Although Brewer testified that he had an
agreement with the state, the state post-conviction
court was entitled to credit the contrary testimony of
the detective and the prosecutor, and we are obliged to
defer to that fact-finding.

{14] Grossman also says that Brewer provided false
testimony at trial regarding what he heard from
(Grossman and about Brewer's prior convictions. The
state court determined, however, that to the extent
Brewer provided any false testimony at trial, the state
was not aware of the falsehood, and that Grossman
failed to show how the alleged falsities affected the
conviction or the sentence. The Supreme Court of
Florida again affirmed, and we agree with the district
court that the state court's conclusions are supported
by substantial, competent evidence. Grossman offers
us no argument other than the testimony of Brewer
himself, which stands in stark contrast to the accounts
provided by the police detective and state attorney.
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Moreover, he does not begin to establish how the
evidence was material-that is, how there is a reasona-
ble probability that the outcome would have been
different if the alleged falsities had been disclosed ™4
As the district court correctly noted, the evidence of
Grossman's guilt was “overwhelming.” Grossman 17
3359 F.Supp.2d at 1263,

FN14. The parties have argued this issue
under the rubric of Brady. Some of Gross-
man's arguments come close to alleging
Giglio error, “a species of Brady error that
occurs when the undisclosed evidence de-
monstrates that the prosecution's case in-
cluded perjured testimony and that the pros-
ecution knew, or should have known, of the
perjury.” Ventura v. Any Gen, 419 F.3d
1269, 1276-77 (11ih Cir.2005) (internal qu-
otation marks omitted). The materiality
standard under Giglio is less stringent than
under a garden variety Brady claim; under
Giglio, a failure to disclose evidence is ma-
terial if “there is any reasonable likelihood
that the false testimony could have affected
the judgment of the jury.” Ventwra, 419 F.3d
at 1278 (internal quotation marks omitted).
But, whether we evaluate Grossman's claim
under Brady or Giglio, the outcome is the
same; the allegedly withheld evidence was
not material.

#1343 Grossman also alleges that the state, again in
violation of Brady, failed to disclose that: 1) his friend
and roommate Brian Hancock had charges pending
against him in Martin County; 2} Hancock was inter-
ested in receiving reward money in exchange for his
testimony; and 3) the police instructed Hancock to
testify that Grossman told him he hit Officer Park “20
to 30 times” with her flashlight. The state court re-
jected each claim.

In the first place, the state trial judge found that
Hancock did not lie at trial about his Martin County
arrest and that Hancock purposefully withheld the
details of that incident from the Pinellas County au-
thorities. The state court also found that Hancock
never lied about any reward money and that his tes-
timony concerning the number of times Grossman hit
Officer Park was based on information he leamed
from Grossman, not information he got from the po-
lice. The Supreme Court of Florida affirmed, and the
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district court again concluded that the findings were
supported by substantial testimony from the
post-conviction hearing,

At trial, the prosecutor asked Hancock if “anyone
promised you anything with regard to any possible
charges you might have faced for your involvement in
this case” and Hancock answered, “No, they haven't.”
On cross-examination, the defense attorney asked
Hancock, “You have not been arrested in this incident,
you have not been charged with anything during the
past ten months, have you?” Hancock answered, “No,
I have not.” According to Hancock, he had been ar-
rested in Martin County for disorderly conduct shortly
before he testified. Hancock claimed that he told Pi-
nellas County officials about the arrest, Eventually-it
is not clear when-Hancock failed to appear on the
disorderly conduct charges and was sentenced to 45
days in jail.

Tt is not clear from the record whether Hancock lied
when he said he had not been “charged” with anything
in the previous ten months. First, the initial part of the
guestion (“You have not been arrested in this incident,
... have you?”) expressly asked about this incident
(i.e., the murder), and the disorderly conduct arrest
was unrelated to the killing of Officer Park. Moreover,
it is not clear whether Hancock had been charged with
disorderly conduct when he testified. He had been
arrested at that point, but it is unclear when he was
formally charged. Regardless of whether he lied,
however, we agree with the district court's conclusion,
that even if the state knew about the Martin County
arrest, and even if the state withheld that information,
there was no Brady error because there is no possibil-
ity that the result of the proceeding would have been

different if the defense knew about that arrest 2

FN15. Again, the evidence was not material
regardless of whether we evaluate Gross-
man's claim under Brady or Giglio.

As for the reward money and the testimony about the
mumber of times Grossman struck Officer Park, the
state court's conclusions are adequately supported by
the post-conviction testimony of Pinellas County
Detective Robert Rhodes, Detective John Halliday,
and State Attorney McCabe. Again, the state court's
decision was neither an unreasonable application of
clearly established federal law nor an unreasonable
determination of the facts.
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Finally, Grossman maintains that the state failed to
disclose that Brian Allan *1344 was the subject of a
criminal investigation when he testified. At the state
court post-conviction hearing, a sergeant with the
Pasco County Sheriff's Office testified that he first
began investigating Allan on September 9, 1985, at
which time he purchased a small amount of marijuana
from Allan. Allan was arrested soon thereafter by the
Pasco County officers on October 31, 1985-the same
day that the penalty phase of Grossman's trial began.
The Pasco County sergeant said it was three to four
days later before he learned that Allan was a witness in
Grossman's case, at which time he notified the state
attorney's office.

The state trial court found that the state did not know
of the Allan investigation and that it would not have
been helpful for impeachment purposes. The Supreme
Court of Florida affirmed. Grossman does not explain
why that ruling was erroneous; he simply restates the
facts noted above. We agree with the district court that
there was no Brady violation; there is simply no evi-
dence that the prosecutors knew about the Allan in-
vestigation. But, even if the state did know about the
investigation, and even if the information could have
been used for the purposes of impeachment, there is
no real possibility that the result of the proceeding
would have been different.

In short, the Supreme Court of Florida correctly de-
termined the relevant federal law, applied that law in a
reasonable manner, and did not make any unreasona-
ble factual determinations in rejecting Grossman's
Brady claims.

V.

Finally, Grossman maintains that he received ineffec-
tive assistance of counsel because his attorneys did not
effectively prepare for the penalty phase of the trial,
failed to object to the state's presentation of
non-statutory aggravating factors, failed to object to
the state's use of a “Golden Rule” argument, and did
not present an effective closing argument. Grossman
argues that his attorneys should have interviewed
more of his family and friends, and he offers affidavits
from thirty-three individuals he contends could have
provided mitigation testimony at the penalty phase.
After painstaking review, the district court concluded
that Grossman received effective assistance at the
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penalty phase, and we agree.

Ineffective assistance claims are governed by the
well-established standard enunciated in Strickiond v.
Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80
L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). In Strickland, the Supreme Court
held that to prevail on an ineffective assistance claim,
a criminal defendant must show both that counsel's
performance was deficient and that counsel's perfor-
mance prejudiced the defense. fd at 687, 104 S.Ct.
2052, The Florida courts recognized and followed the
Strickland standard in this case, and Grossman does
not contend otherwise. Rather, he says that the Florida
courts unreasonably determined that, based on the
facts of this case, counsel’s performance at the penalty
phase was constitutionally sufficient.

Grossman argues that his two trial attorneys were
ineffective because they failed to interview family and
friends who could have provided beneficial testimony
at the penalty phase. His attorneys erred, he says, in
relying on only three sources for potential penalty
phase witnesses-Grossman himself, his mother, and
his grandmother-and he put forth thirty-three addi-
tional mitigating affidavits. The *1345 Supreme Court
of Florida rejected this claim, and in doing so quoted
at length from the state post-conviction court’s opi-
nion:

The Court has weighed all the above matters in light
of Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 663, [104
S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674] (1984). The Defen-
dant has failed to make the required showing of
either deficient performance or sufficient preju-
dice to support his ineffectiveness claim.

The Court has evaluated the conduct of the Defen-
dant's counsel from counsel's perspective at the
time of the trial. Defendant introduced thir-
ty-three affidavits that were represented as poss-
ible mitigation witnesses that were available a[t]
the time of trial but were not used by the defense.
Several of the possible witnesses represented by
the affidavits were known to the defense, and the
defense had determined not to use them.

Defense counsel, Mr, McCoun, at the time of trial
recognized that while trying to present a favorable
picture of the Defendant, equally negative things
would also be presented. Mr. McCoun did not
want to use witnesses who would say that the
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Defendant was into stealing and heavy drug use.
Moreover, defense counsel called three mitigat-
ing witnesses in addition to the Defendant's
mother. The mitigating witnesses that were called
had close contact with the defendant near the time
that he committed the crime; whereas, many of
the potential witnesses that were represented by
the affidavits had not seen the Defendant in years.

The Court finds that Mr. McCoun did a competent,
effective job of representing the Defendant at all
phases of the trial. Even if counsel were deemed
ineffective for the reasons stated by the Defen-
dant, such alleged ineffectiveness did not come
close to being so prejudicial to the Defendant that
it affected the outcome of the case. The facts of
this case showed the Defendant's conduct to be so
egregious that proof of mitigating circumstances
was extremely difficult.

The trial court applied the right rule of law go-
verning ineffective assistance of counsel under
Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct.
2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984), and competent sub-
stantial evidence supports its finding. We find no
errof.

Grossman_ I, 708 So.2d at 251 (second alteration
added and footnote omitted).

[15][16][17][18] The standard governing counsel's
performance is “reasonablencss under prevailing
professional norms.” Strickiand, 466 U.S. at 638, 104
8.Ct. 2052, “We are not interested in grading lawyers'
performances; we are interested in whether the ad-
versarial process at trial, in fact, worked adequately.”
White v. Singletary, 972 F.2d 1218, 1221 (1ith
Cir.1992). “To state the obvious: the trial lawyers, in
every case, could have done something more or
something different. So, omissions are inevitable. But,
the issue is not what is possible or what is prudent or
appropriate, but only what is constitutionally com-
pelled.” Chandler v. United States, 218 F.3d 13035,
1313 (11th Cir.2000) (en banc) (internal quotation
marks omitted). The burden of persuasion is on the
petitioner to prove by a preponderance of the evidence
that no competent counsel would have taken the action
that his counsel did take. See *¥1346Marquard v. Sec’y
for_Dep’t of Corr, 429 F.3d 1278, 1304 (1ith

Cir.2005), cert. denied, 547 U.S. 1181, 126 S.Ct. 2356,
165 1..Ed.2d 283 (2006). In judging the adequacy of
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counsel's investigation of potential mitigating cir-
cumstances, we consider “counsel's perspective at the
time investigative decisions are made” and give “a
heavy measure of deference to counsel's judgments.”
Rompilla v. Beard 545 U.8. 374, 125 8.Ct. 2456,
2462, 162 L.Ed.2d 360 (2003) (internal quotation
marks omitted).

[19] The district court determined, we think properly,
that Grossman's counsel did an effective and compe-
tent preparation for the penalty phase. Grossman's
attorneys talked to Grossman, his mother, and his
grandmother; attemipted to develop other witnesses
based on those conversations; notably researched
Grossman's past addresses, and his educational, med-
ical, and emotional background; located witnesses
who had known Grossman while he was in jail and
who could testify about his courteous, cooperative,
and nonviolent demeanor; and explored the possibility
of mental mitigating facts with Dr. Sidney Merin.
Grossman's trial counsel presented four mutigating
witnesses, including Myra Grossman (Grossman's
mother), Steven Nicholas Martakas (Grossman's best
friend), and two jail employees who interacted with
Grossman while he was incarcerated. ™8

FN16. These efforts far exceed those the
Supreme Court found deficient in Rompilla.
In that case, the Court found deficient per-
formance where defense counsel failed to
examine a prior conviction file that the state
attorneys said they intended to use (and quote
from) at the penalty phase. Rompiffa, 545
U.S. 374, 125 S.Ct. at 2467, 162 L.Ed.2d
360. Here, Grossman does not allege that his
counsel failed to review any files they knew
the state would present at the penalty phase;
indeed, the state presented ne evidence at the
penalty stage. More importantly, defense
counsel undertook substantial efforts in
preparation for the penalty phase.

As the district court recognized, “[t]he defense strat-
egy for penalty phase was to demonstrate that
Grossman was not an animal but a young man with
positive characteristics who did not deserve 1o die.”
Grossman {If, 359 ¥ Supp.2d at 1268. The district
judge addressed the thirty-three affidavits this way,
and, after thorough review, we agree with her analysis:

Many of the affidavits offered to support Grossman's
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argument in this case presented facts cumulative to
the testimony of Myra Grossman and Steve Mar-
takas. In addition, many of the affidavits, and much
of the mitigation now suggested by the defense,
were inconsistent with the penalty phase strategy,
because the evidence would have reminded the jury
of Grossman's negative character traits, such as his
drug use and prior criminal history,

The affidavits themselves were of limited eviden-
tiary value. They are distinctly one-sided, and the
testimony at the statc evidentiary hearing estab-
lished that the affiants had very limited knowledge
of Martin Grossman. The affiants who knew
Grossman as a child had lost touch with him after
his family moved to New Port Richey, Florida.
Some of the affidavits were identified as inaccurate;
some affiants felt pressured into signing the state-
ments, and many affidavits were based on specula-
tion and information heard through other people.

Both Attorney McCoun's and Attorney Ira Berman's
testimony revealed why they would not have used
as witnesses many of the affiants, such as Rosol and
Paul Melton, who were instrumental in turning
Grossman in to the *1347 police. They chose not to
put on witnesses who would have had negative
things to say about Grossman or his mother, or who
would have opened the door to testimony about
Grossman's drug and alcohol abuse and his previous
criminal activities. The testimony of the social
worker, Kevin Sullivan, strategically would not
have been presented for the same reason.

Id. at 1268-69 (citations and footnote omitted).

The district judge made clear that many of the affiants
were rejected for sound and considered reasons. The
practice of submitting post-hoc affidavits is not out of
the ordinary, and it is not often successful:

Tt is common practice for petitioners attacking their
death sentences to submit affidavits from witnesses
who say they could have supplied additional miti-
gating circumstance evidence, had they been called,
or, if they were called, had they been asked the right
questions .... But the existence of such affidavits,
artfully drafted though they may be, usually proves
little of significance .... That other witnesses could
have been called or other testimony elicited usually
proves at most the wholly unremarkable fact that
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with the luxury of time and the opportunity to focus
resources on specific parts of a made record,
post-conviction counsel will inevitably identify
shortcomings in the performance of prior counsel.
As we have noted before, in retrospect, one may
always identify shortcomings, but perfection is not
the standard of effective assistance.

The widespread use of the tactic of attacking trial
counsel by showing what “might have been” proves
that nothing is clearer than hindsight-except perhaps
the rule that we will not judge trial counsel's per-
formance through hindsight. We reiterate: The mere
fact that other witnesses might have been available
or that other testimony might have been elicited
from those who testified is not a sufficient ground to
prove ineffectiveness of connsel.

Waters v. Thomas, 46 _F.3d 1306, 1513-14 {(11th
Cir.1995) (citations, internal quotation marks, and
alterations omitted). Grossman's counsel conducted an
investigation, interviewed Grossman's family mem-
bers and friends, had a strategy for the penalty phase,
and called mitigation witnesses. The Supreme Court
of Florida did not unreasonably apply clearly estab-
lished federal law in finding the performance was not
ineffective.

Moreover, we agree with the district court that even if
the performance was ineffective, Grossman has not
successfully established the prejudice prong of the
Strickland analysis. As the Supreme Court of Florida
held, the conduct of Grossman's attormeys “did not
come close to being so prejudicial to the Defendant
that it affected the outcome of the case.” Grossman 11
708 So.2d at 251 (quoting the state post-conviction
court's opinion), The trial testimony shows that
“Grossman committed outrageous and brutal acts
against a young female wildlife officer, striking her
repeatedly with her own flashlight and then shooting
her in the head with her own gun.” Grossman I, 359
F.Supp.2d at 1270. Against a very substantial array of
evidence, there is simply no “reasonable probability
that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result
of the proceeding would have been different.”
Strickiand_466 1.8, at 694, 104 S.Ct. 2052. We can
discern nothing unreasonable in the state court's de-
termination on this point either.

*1348[20] Grossman also argues that counsel was
ineffective for failing to object to the state's introduc-
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tion of non-statutory aggravating factors. Specifically,
he claims that the prosecution elicited prejudicial,
irrelevant testimony from Myra Grossman about a
time when Grossman allegedly vandalized Brian
Hancock's car and when Grossman allegedly threat-
ened to kill Hancock. As the district court noted, this
testimony was proper rebuttal evidence, offered in
response to Myra Grossman's direct testimony that
Grossman, her son, was a normal, nonviolent person
who acted wholly out of character when he murdered
the victim. Counsel's performance was neither defi-
cient nor prejudicial on this score.

[21] Next, Grossman argues that counsel was ineffec-
tive for failing to object to the prosecution's improper
use of a “Golden Rule” argument. “A ‘golden rule’
argument asks the jurors to place themselves in the
victim's position, asks the jurors to imagine the vic-
tim's pain and terror or imagine how they would feel if
the victim were a relative.” Hufchinson v. State, 882
So.2d 943, 954 {F1a.2004). Grossman complains be-
cause the prosecutor, in closing argument, told the jury
there was “terror and pain” in the victim's voice when
she made a transmission on her police radic, that Of-
ficer Park suffered fear and pain before she died, and
that the blows to her head with the flashlight were
“terrorizing,” and because the prosecutor described
the struggle that occurred before Officer Park died.
The district court determined that these comments
were not improper “Golden Rule™ arguments because
they were not designed to elicit sympathy for the
victim, but rather were presented to the jury as rele-
vant arguments in support of the “heinous, atrocious,
or cruel” aggravating factor. We agree.

In Kennedy v. Dugger, the prosecutor offered the
following argument to the jury: “Can you imagine, in
your own living room not bothering a soul on a Sat-
urday afternoon? He stopped up at his relative's house
and had a beer and he walked back down to your own
house, and, a total stranger, because you got in his
way, destroys you” 933 F.2d 905, 913 (lith
Cir.1991). We found that was not an improper “Gol-
den Rule” argument because it was relevant to the
defendant's future dangerousness. /d. This case is even
clearer, where the prosecutor was permitted to com-
ment on those aspects of the crime that made this
particular murder arguably heinous, atrocious, or
cruel. Indeed, the prosecutor here never asked the
jurors to place themselves in the victim's position; he
simply described the circumstances of her death,
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which undeniably involved physical pain and
enormous emotional terror, circumstances that are
plainly relevant to whether the murder was heinous,
atrocious, or cruel. There was no “Golden Rule” vi-
olation, and Grossman's counsel did not provide defi-

cient representation by failing to object. =X

FNI17. Moreover, we agree with the district
court that even if there was error, there was
no showing of prejudice. The comments
were noi a focal point of the closing argu-
ment, and, in light of the significant number
of aggravating circumstances, there is no
reasonable probability that the outcome
would have been different if the prosecutor
had not made them. See Bertolotti v. State,
476 So.2d 130, 133 (Fla.1985) (noting that
because the jury's recommendation is only
advisory, prosecutorial misconduct must be
egregious before a new penalty phase is ap-
propriate, and finding that an improper Gol-
den Rule argument did not warrant
re-sentencing).

[22] Finally, Grossman argues that his attorneys were
ineffective because they *1349 did not present an
effective closing argument. Grossman maintains that
they should have presented additional mitigating fac-
tors and explained in greater detail why the aggra-
vating factors were not satisfied. The district court
rejected this claim and explained its reasoning in these
terms:

A review of defense counsel's closing argument re-
futes Grossman's claim of ineffectiveness based on
the alleged inadequacy of the closing argument.
While the defense may not have focused on em-
phasizing particular mitigating factors to current
counsel's satisfaction, the overall theme of the
closing argument was to repeatedly stress the pe-
nalty phase strategy emphasizing that Grossman
was a normal child, with family and friends who
cared about him; that he was not a morally corrupt
beast and that this incident was totally out of cha-
racter for him; and that his ability to behave appro-
priately in prison demonstrated that there was no
need for him to be executed, as society would be
protected by the imposition of a life sentence.
Counsel also emphasized the gravity of the decision
the jury was being asked to make and the impor-
tance of disregarding feelings of anger, sympathy or
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revenge.

Grossman II1, 359 F.Supp.2d at 1272 (citations omit-
ted). Grossman's attorneys presented a reasoned and
rational theme to the jury during closing argument,
That is all the Constitution requires. See Chandler.
218 F.3d at 1314 (noting that “counsel cannot be ad-
judged incompetent for performing in a particular way
in a case, as long as the approach taken might be
considered sound irial strategy” (internal quotation
marks omitted)).

VI

In short, the decisions of the Florida courts were nei-
ther contrary to nor unreasonable applications of
clearly established federal law; nor were the decisions
based on an unreasonable determination of the facts in
light of the evidence presented in the state court pro-
ceedings. Accordingly, we affirm the district court's
denial of habeas relief.

AFFIRMED.

C.A.11 (Fla.},2006.
Grossman v. McDonough
466 F.3d 1325, 20 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C 49
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Supreme Court of Florida

MARTIN EDWARD GROSSMAN,
Appellant,

VS,

STATE OF FLORIDA,
Appellee.

[February 8, 2010]

PER CURIAM.

Martin Edward Grossman, a prisoner under sentence of death and under an
active death warrant, appeals from the trial court’s order summarily denying his
motion to vacate his sentence pursvant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure
3.851. Because the order concerns postconviction relief from a sentence of death,
this Court has jurisdiction over the appeal under article V, section 3(b)(1), of the
Florida Constitution. In his successive motion filed after the death warrant was
signed, the summary denial of which is the subject of the present appeal, Grossman

\
|
No. SC10-118
raised claims that were either previously raised in his postconviction proceedings



that concluded in 1997 or repeatedly rejected by this Court as legally without

merit. Therefore, as more fully explained in this opinion, we affirm the trial
court’s order.

FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

In 1985, Martin Grossman was convicted of the 1984 first-degree murder of
Wildlife Officer Margaret Park and was sentenced to death on the recommendation
of a unanimous jury. This case has a long procedural history. The conviction and
death sentence have been reviewed and affirmed on direct appeal and have been
the subject of multiple state and federal proceedings.! The facts of this case are set
forth in this Court’s opinion in Grossman’s direct appeal of his conviction and
sentence:

Appellant and a companion, Taylor, drove to a wooded area of
Pinellas County on the night of December 13, 1984, to shoot a
handgun which appellant had recently obtained by burglarizing a
home. Appellant lived in neighboring Pasco County at his mother’s
home and was on probation following a recent prison term. Wildlife
Officer Margaret Park, patrolling the area in her vehicle, came upon
the two men and became suspicious. She left her vehicle with the
motor, lights, and flashers on, and took possession of appellant’s
weapon and driver’s license. Appellant pleaded with her not to turn

I. These cases are: Grossman v. State, 525 So. 2d 833 (Fla. 1988), cert.
denied, 489 U.S. 1071 (1989); Grossman v. Dugger, 708 So. 2d 249 (Fla. 1997);
Grossman v. Crosby, 880 So. 2d 1211 (Fla. 2004); Grossman v. Crosby, 359 F.
Supp. 2d 1233 (M.D. Fla. 2005), aff’d sub nom. Grossman v. McDonough, 466
F.3d 1325 (11th Cir. 2006), cert. denjed, 550 U.S. 958 (2007); Grossman v. State,
932 So. 2d 192 (Fla. 2006); and Grossman v. State, S So. 3d 668 (Fla. 2009).




him in as having a weapon in his possession and being outside of
Pasco County would cause him to return to prison for violation of
probation. Officer Park refused the plea, opened the driver’s door to
her vehicle and picked up the radio microphone to call the sherift’s
office. Appellant then grabbed the officer’s large flashlight and struck
her repeatedly on the head and shoulders, forcing her upper body mto
the vehicle. Officer Park reported “I’m hit” over the radio and
screamed. Appellant continued the attack, and called for help from
Taylor, who joined in the assault. Officer Park managed to draw her
weapon, a .357 magnum, and fired a wild shot within the vehicle.
Simultaneously, she temporarily disabled Taylor by kicking him in the
groin. Appellant, who is a large man, wrestled the officer’s weapon
away and fired a fatal shot into the back of her head. The spent slug
exited her head in front and fell into a drinking cup inside the vehicle.
Blood stains, high velocity splatters, the location of the spent slug, and
the entry and exit wounds show that the victim’s upper body was
inside the vehicle with her face turned inward or downward at the
moment she was killed. Appellant and Taylor took back the seized
handgun and driver’s license, and fled with the officer’s weapon.
They returned to the Grossman home, where they told the story of the
killing, individually and collectively, to a friend who lived with the
Grossmans. The friend, Brian Hancock, and Taylor buried the two
weapons nearby. Appellant, who was covered with blood, attempted
unsuccessfully to burn his clothes and shoes which Taylor later
disposed of in a nearby lake. Approximately a week later appellant
and Taylor, individually and collectively, recounted the story of the
murder to another friend, Brian Allan. Approximately eleven days
after the murder, Hancock told his story to the police and appellant
and Taylor were arrested. Taylor, upon his arrest, recounted the story
of the murder to a policeman and, later, appellant told the story to a
jailmate, Charles Brewer. Appellant and Taylor were tried jointly
over appellant’s objection. At trial, the state introduced the testimony
of Hancock, Allan, and Brewer against appellant. The state also
introduced Taylor’s statement to the policeman against Taylor only.
In addition, the state introduced the charred shoes, the two weapons,
prints taken from the victim’s vehicle, testimony from a neighbor who
observed the attempted burning of the clothes, appellant’s efforts to
clean the Grossman van, and the changing of the van tires. Expert
testimony as to the cause of death and the significance of blood
splatter evidence was also introduced by the state. The jury was
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instructed that Taylor’s admissions to the policeman could only be

used against him, not appellant. The jury was instructed on

premeditation and felony murder based on robbery, burglary, and

escape. A general verdict of first-degree murder was returned against

the appellant and Taylor was found guilty of third-degree murder.
Grossman, 525 So. 2d at 835-36.

During the penalty phase, defense counsel called four witnesses: (1) Myra
Grossman, Grossman’s mother; (2) Thomas Campbell, a correctional officer
overseeing Grossman; (3) Steven Martakas, Grossman'’s friend from junior high
school; and (4) Carolyn Middleton, a social worker at the jail housing Grossman.
These witnesses testified that Grossman’s father was disabled and that Grossman
was often tasked from a very young age with taking care of him. Grossman
dropped out of junior high school, and his father died when Grossman was fifteen
years old. Grossman respected his parents and was not a violent person.
Grossman never exhibited behavioral problems while in jail, and he was very
nervous and scared about being executed. Following the penalty phase, the jury
unanimously recommended death, and the judge imposed a sentence of death.

Grossman, 525 So. 2d at 836.2 This Court affirmed Grossman’s conviction and

death sentence on direct appeal. ld. at 846.

2. The trial court found four aggravating circumstances:

(1) the murder was committed while engaged in the commission of or
an attempt to commiit, or flight after committing or attempt to commit,
the crime of robbery or burglary; (2) the murder was committed for
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On March 8, 1990, before Grossman ﬁled‘ any postconviction motions,
Governor Bob Martinez signed a death \x}arrant setting the execution of Grossman
for the week of May 10, 1990. Grossman filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus
in this Court, and this Court granted a stay of execution to allow Grossman the
opportunity to seek postconviction relief. Grossman, 708 So. 2d at 250. Grossman
filed a motion to vacate his conviction and sentence under Florida Rule of Criminal
Procedure 3.850 in the trial court in August 1990 (“original postconviction
motion”) and simultaneously filed an amended habeas petition in this Court. Id.

In his original postconviction motion, Grossman made numerous claims, but
three claims are directly relevant to our determination that the present successive
motion includes claims that Grossman has previously raised. First, Grossman
argued in claim V1 of his original postconviction motion that he was denied the
effective assistance of counsel during the penalty phase because counsel failed to
have Grossman examined by a competent mental health professional as required by

Ake v. Oklahoma, 470 U.S. 68 (1985). The original court-appointed mental health

expert for the defense was Dr. Sidney Merin. However, Dr. Merin did not testify

the purpose of avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest; (3) the murder
was committed to disrupt or hinder the lawful exercise of government
function or the enforcement of laws; and (4) the murder was
especially wicked, evil, atrocious, or cruel. Numbers two and three
were treated as one circumstance by the trial judge.

1d. at 840. The trial court found no mitigating circumstances. Id. at 846,
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during Grossman’s penalty phase proceedings. After his evaluation of Grossman,
Dr. Merin advised defense counsel that “[his] findings would not be helpful to
[the] defense position in either the guilt or innocence phase or, if it is held, the
sentencing phase of Mr. Grossman’s trial.” In his original postconviction motion,
Grossman alleged that a new mental health expert, Dr. Brad Fisher, had evaluated
Grossman in March 1990 and had prepared a report that rebutted the contentions of
Dr. Merin.® Dr. Fisher’s report indicated that testing did not reveal any signs of “a
current psychotic condition or of any major affective disorder.” However, Dr.,
Fisher noted that his testing revealed “soft signs of organic impairment,” which
was supported by Grossman’s history of “chronic and extensive drug and alcohol
dependence,” and that *[f]urther testing would be required to determine the nature
and extent of this probable mental disability.” Grossman attached Dr. Fisher’s
report to his motion and was prepared to call Dr. Fisher to testify at an evidentiary
hearing.' The trial court summarily denied this claim, and this Court affirmed that

denial. Grossman, 708 So. 2d at 252.

3. This report by Dr. Fisher is the same report from Dr. Fisher attached by
Grossman to his third successive postconviction motion, the summary denial of
which is the subject of the present appeal.

4. In his current successive motion, Grossman alleges that in addition to Dr.
Fisher, Dr. Henry Dee, an expert who had evaluated Grossman, was also available
to testify at an evidentiary hearing to support Grossman'’s allegations under claim
VI of Grossman’s original postconviction motion. However, claim VI does not
refer to Dr. Dee. Grossman alleges that Dr. Dee is now deceased.
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Second, Grossman claimed in claim V of his original postconviction motion
that counsel was ineffective during the penalty phase for failing to investigate,
develop, and present mitigating evidence. Grossman received an evidentiary

hearing on this claim. The only expert offered by the defense at the evidentiary
hearing in 1994 was Kevin Sullivan, a licensed clinical social worker. Sullivan
testified that Grossman.was raised in a dysfunctional environment and that a
number of factors negatively impacted his development, including that Grossman
had been given inappropriate caretaking responsibilities from a young age; that his
family had relocated at a critical time in his development; and that he experienced
grief at the loss of his father and grandfather.

The trial court denied relief on this claim:

The Defendant has failed to make the required showing of
either deficient performance or sufficient prejudice [under Strickland
v. Washington, 466 1J.S. 668 (1984)] to support his ineffectiveness
claim.

The Court has evaluated the conduct of the Defendant’s counsel
from counsel’s perspective at the time of the trial. Defendant
introduced thirty-three affidavits that were represented as possible
mitigation witnesses that were available at the time of trial but were
not used by the defense. Several of the possible witnesses represented
by the affidavits were known to the defense, and the defense had
determined not to use them.

Defense counsel, Mr. McCoun, at the time of trial, recognized
that while trying to present a favorable picture of the Defendant,
equally negative things would also be presented. Mr. McCoun did not
want to use witnesses who would say that the Defendant was into
stealing and heavy drug use. Moreover, defense counsel called three
mitigating witnesses in addition to the Defendant’s mother. The
mitigating witnesses that were called had close contact with the
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Defendant near the time that he committed the crime; whereas, many
of the potential witnesses that were represented by the affidavits had
not seen the Defendant in years.

The Court finds that Mr. McCoun did a competent, effective
job of representing the Defendant at all phases of the trial. Even 1f
counsel were deemed ineffective for the reasons stated by the
Defendant, such alleged ineffectiveness did not come close to being
so prejudicial to the Defendant that it affected the outcome of the
case. The facts of this case showed the Defendant’s conduct to be so
egregious that proof of mitigating circumstances was extremely
difficult.

This Court affirmed the trial court’s denial of this claim. Grossman, 708 So. 2d at

[~
th

Third, also pertinent to the issues that he now raises, Grossman argued in his
original postconviction motion that inmate Charles Brewer, who testified for the
State, was acting as a State agent when he procured incriminating information from
Grossman, and that the State failed to disclose this fact in violation of Brady v.
Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963). After an evidentiary hearing, the trial court found:

Defendant states that Charles Brewer, a trusty at the Pinellas
County Jail while Defendant was being held there awaiting trial, was a
state agent, and the State withheld this fact along with an agreement
that Mr. Brewer had reached with prosecutors regarding charges that
were pending against Mr. Brewer. Mr. Brewer testified that he had
his brother contact law enforcement after he heard Defendant
discussing the case. Mr. Brewer said that he talked to the homicide
detectives only one time and that was when they took his taped
statement.

Detective Robert Rhodes testified that he taped Mr. Brewer’s
statement on July 25, 1985, and that was the only time he ever met
with Mr. Brewer. The State did not make any deals with Mr. Brewer
in exchange for the statement, and Detective Rhodes did not suggest




counsel during the penalty phase. Grossman, 359 F. Supp. 2d at 1245-47.° The

federal district court denied the habeas petition, id., and the Eleventh Circuit

aftirmed. Grossman v. McDonough, 466 F.3d 1325 (11th Cir. 2006).

Subsequently, Grossman filed his first and second successive motions for
postconviction relief, the summary denial of which was affirmed by this Court.

See Grossman, 932 So. 2d 192 (affirming summary denial of Grossman’s first

successive postconviction motion}); Grossman, 5 So. 3d 668 (affirming summary
denial of Grossman’s second successive postconviction motion). None of these
successive motions or appeals raised any issues related specifically to either the
guilt or penalty phase of Grossman’s trial.

On January 12, 2010, Governor Crist signed a death warrant for Grossman,
scheduling his execution for February 16, 2010. Grossman then filed his third
successive motion for postconviction relief, raising three claims as set forth below,
and the State filed its response. After holding an initial hearing pursuant to Florida
Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851(h)(6) on January 20, 2010, to determine whether
an evidentiary hearing should be held on this motion, the trial court summarily

denied claims one and two, and dismissed claim three.

5. Grossman'’s initial federal habeas petition was filed before his state
habeas petition, but it was stricken. Grossman, 359 F. Supp. 2d at 1245. Afier he
refiled the petition, the case was administratively closed pending the outcome of
two Florida cases that addressed issues arising from Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584
(2002). Grossman, 359 F. Supp. 2d at 1245,
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ANALYSIS

In the present appeal, Grossman argues that the trial court erred in
summarily denying his claims that (1) he was denied his constitutional rights
because he was not granted an evidentiary hearing on his claim in his original
postconviction motion that trial counsel provided ineffective assistance in the
penalty phase of Grossman’s trial by failing to have him examined by a competent
mental health professional and newly discovered evidence now supports his
ineffective assistance claim; (2) Florida’s death penalty statute is arbitrary and
capricious in violation of his constitutional rights because the trial court and jury
did not hear all of his available mitigating evidence, the State violated Giglio by
presenting the false testimony of witness Charles Brewer, and he was denied the
opportunity to present new evidence pertinent to his claim for clemency; and (3)
proceeding with the execution of Grossman will violate the Eighth Amendment of
the United States Constitution because he may be incompetent at the time of the
execution. We now address and reject all three claims.

I. Ineffective Assistance of Counsel During Penalty Phase

In his third successive postconviction motion, Grossman argued that his
constitutional rights were violated when the trial court considering his original
postconviction motion summarily denied his claim that trial counsel provided

ineffective assistance at the penalty phase of his trial by failing to have him
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examined by a competent mental health professional as required by Ake v.

Oklahoma. He contended that the sentencing court therefore did not hear all
possible evidence regarding mitigating circumstances before sentencing and
attached the report of Dr. Fisher to his motion. Grossman further alleged that he
would now call Dr. Michael Maher, who recently reviewed the raw data gencrated
by testing done by Dr. Fisher and Dr. Dee. He alleges that Dr. Maher, a new
expert, would “testify about Mr. Grossman’s life-long intellectual neurological
deficits[,] . . . how it affected Grossman’s statc of mind at the time of the crime,”
and about Grossman’s dependency on alcohol and drugs, which manifested at an
early age. Dr. Maher would “also conduct a clinical evaluation of his own to
establish statutory or non-statutory mitigation.” The postconviction court
summarily denied this claim as procedurally barred and untimely.

As we explained in Tompkins v. State, 994 So. 2d 1072, 1080-81 (Fla.

2008):

Florida Rule of Crinunal Procedure 3.851 governs the filing of
postconviction motions in capital cases. Rule 3.851(d)(1) generally
prohibits the filing of a postconviction motion more than one year
after the judgment and sentence become final. An exception permits
filing beyond this deadline if the movant alleges that “the facts on
which the claim is predicated were unknown to the movant or the
movant’s attorney and could not have been ascertained by the exercise
of due diligence.” Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851(d}2}A). ... Rule 3.851
also provides certain pleading requirements for 1nitial and successive
postconviction motions. Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851(e}(1)-(2). For
example, the motion must state the nature of the relief sought, Fla. R.
Crim. P. 3.851(e}(1}(C), and must inciude “a detailed allegation of the

-12 -




factual basis for any claim for which an evidentiary hearing 1s
sought.” Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851(e)(1)(D).

Rule 3.851(f)(5)(B) permits the denial of a successive
postconviction motion without an evidentiary hearing “[1]f the motion,
files, and records in the case conclusively show that the movant is
entitled to no relief.” A postconviction court’s decision regarding
whether to grant a rule 3.851 evidentiary hearing depends on the
written materials before the court; therefore, for all intents and
purposes, its ruling constitutes a pure question of law and is subject to
de novo review. See. e.g., Rose v. State, 985 So. 2d 500, 505 (Fla.
2008). In reviewing a trial court’s summary denial of postconviction
relief, this Court must accept the defendant’s allegations as true to the
extent that they are not conclusively refuted by the record. See
Rolling v. State, 944 So. 2d 176, 179 (Fla. 2006).

Because Grossman’s claim was summarily denied, our review is de novo. Walton
v. State, 3 So. 3d 1000, 1005 (Fla. 2009).

We conclude that summary denial of this claim was proper for two reasons.
First, as the trial court concluded, this claim is procedurally barred. Grossman’s
contention that his constitutional rights were violated when the original
postconviction court summarily denied his ineffective assistance claim is merely
an impermissible attempt to resurrect that ineffective assistance claim, the

summary denial of which was affirmed by this Court. See Grossman, 708 So. 2d

at 252. This claim was also raised in Grossman's federal habeas petition, which

was denied by the federal district court. See Grossman, 359 F. Supp. 2d at 1267-

70 (“Grossman has failed to demonstrate any error in the denial of his claim that
his attorneys were ineffective in the investigation and presentation of mitigating

evidence.”). In fact, Grossman was permitted an evidentiary hearing on his
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incffective assistance of counsel claim that his counsel was deficient in not

offering mental health testimony—claim V in his original postconviction motion.
Second, we agree with the trial court’s conclusion that Grossman’s claim
does not present newly discovered evidence and is therefore untimely. To obtain a
new trial based on newly discovered evidence, a defendant must meet two
requirements: First, the evidence must not have been known by the trial court, the
party, or counsel at the time of trial, and it must appear that the defendant or
defense counsel could not have known of it by the use of diligence. Second, the

newly discovered evidence must be of such nature that it would probably produce

an acquittal on retrial. See Jones v. State, 709 So. 2d 512, 521 (Fla. 1998).

We reject Grossman’s claim on the first prong of Jones and therefore need
not reach the second prong. Grossman attempts to argue that the proposed
testimony of his new expert, Dr. Maher, concerning nonstatutory mental
mitigation, is newly discovered evidence in light of the decision of the United

States Supreme Court in Porter v. McCollum, 130 S. Ct. 447 (2009), because

“Iplrior to Porter, Florida Courts did not consider non-statutory mental mitigation
as mitigation.” We reject this claim. Porter did not grant Florida courts the
authority to consider this type of mitigation, but rather recognized that Florida
courts already do so: “Under Florida law, mental health evidence that does not rise

to the level of establishing a statutory mitigating circumstance may nonetheless be
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considered by the sentencing judge and jury as mitigating.” 130 S. Ct. at 454

(citing Hoskins v. State, 965 So. 2d 1, 17-18 (Fla. 2007)).
Accordingly, we deny reliet on this claim.

IH. The Constitutionality of Florida’s Death Penalty Statute as Applied

We turn next to Grossman'’s claim that the Florida death penalty statute is

arbitrary and capricious as applied to him, in violation of Furman v. Georgia, 408

U.S. 238 (1972), because (1) the court and jury did not hear all available mitigating
evidence at the penalty phase; (2) the State violated Giglio by presenting the false
testimony of witness Charles Brewer; and (3) Grossman has not had the
opportunity to present newly discovered evidence in clemency prdceedings. In the
first of these three claims, Grossman merely reasserts the same allegations we
rejected above as procedurally barred—that the trial court and jury were not able to
consider all possible mitigating evidence at the penalty phase. Therefore, we do
not further address this subclaim.
A. Giglio Claim

Grossman alleged in his third successive postconviction motion that the
State violated Giglio by presenting the false testimony of witness Charles Brewer.
Specifically, Grossman contended that his death sentence 1s arbitrary and
capricious because he is being treated differently than another death row inmate,

Paul Beasley Johnson, whose sentence of death was recently vacated by this Court
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due to prosecutorial misconduct resulting from a Giglio violation.® See Johnson v.
p g

State, 35 Fla. L. Weekly S43 (Fla. Jan. 14, 2010).

We conclude that summary denial of this claim was proper. Johnson is
distinguishable and applied well-established precedent to the unique facts of that
case. There, a successive rule 3.851 motion presented newly discovered evidence
that the State committed a Giglio violation by knowingly presenting false
testimony:

Specifically. we conclude that newly disclosed evidence shows
the following. First, after Johnson was arrested and counsel was
appointed, the State intentionally induced Johnson to make
incriminating statements to a jailhouse informant in violation of
Johnson’s right to counsel. Because Johnson’s statements were
impermissibly elicited, the informant’s testimony concerning those
statements was inadmissible under United States v. Henry, 447 U.S.
264 (1980). Second, although the prosecutor at Johnson’s first trial
knew that Johnson’s statements were impermissibly elicited and that
the informant’s testimony was inadmissible, he knowingly used false
testimony and misleading argument to convince the court to admit the
testimony. And third, because the informant’s testimony was
admitted and then later used at Johnson’s 1988 trial, and because the
State has failed to show that this error did not contribute to the jury’s
advisory sentences of death, we must vacate the death sentences under
Giglio v. United States, 405 U.S. 150 (1972), and remand for a new
penalty phase proceeding before a new jury.

Johinson, 35 Fla. L. Weekly at S43.

6. To establish a Giglio violation, a defendant must show that: (1) the
prosecutor presented or failed to correct false testimony; (2) the prosecutor knew
the testimony was false; and (3) the false evidence was material. See Guzman v.
State, 941 So. 2d 1045, 1050 (Fla. 2006). If the first two prongs are established,
the false evidence is deemed material if there is any reasonable possibility that it
could have affected the jury’s verdict. See 1d.
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In Grossman’s original postconviction motion, he raised a claim of

prosecutorial misconduct regarding Brewer’s testimony. Following the 1995
evidentiary hearing on that claim, the trial court denied relief, finding that there
was no evidence that the State knew Brewer’s testimony was false at the time of
trial and further found that, in any event, Grossman had not shown how Brewer’s
allegedly false testimony affected the judgment or sentence in Grossman’s case. In
his third successive postconviction motion, Grossman does not provide any new
evidence or indication that prosecutorial misconduct occurred. Therefore, unlike
in Johnson, Grossman’s claim is successive, and we deny relief on that basis.
B. Clemency Proceedings

Grossman next argued in his third successive postconviction motion that the
death penalty is arbitrary and capricious as applied to him because he had a
clemency proceeding in October 1988, but has not had an opportunity to present
further information about his life in a recent clemency proceeding. He asserted
that newly discovered evidence would explain why he acted impulsively at
nineteen years of age when he committed the murder. He further contended that
the clemency procedures are impermissibly arbitrary.

We conclude that the trial court properly denied this claim without an
cvidentiary hearing. This Court recently rejected an identical claim in Johnston v.

State, 35 Fla. L. Weekly S64 (Fla. Jan. 21, 2010):
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Johnston contends that his original clemency hearing was
inadequate to protect his rights because it was conducted before his
full life history and mental illness history were developed. We
rejected a similar argument in Bundy that time must be given to
prepare and present a case for clemency in a second clemency
proceeding before the death sentence may be carried out. Bundy{v.
State], 497 So. 2d [1209] at 1211 [{Fla. 1986)]. We also noted 1n
Marek v. State, 14 So. 3d 985 (Fla. 2009), after Marek raised a second
challenge to the clemency process, that “five justices of the United
States Supreme Court concluded [in Ohto Adult Parole Authority v.
Woodard, 523 U.S. 272 (1998)] that some minimal procedural due
process requirements should apply to clemency . . . [b]ut none of the
opinions in that case required any specific procedures or criteria to
guide the executive’s signing of warrants for death-sentenced
inmates.” Marek, 14 So. 3d at 998. We again conclude that no
specific procedures are mandated in the clemency process and that
Johinston has been provided with the clemency proceedings to which
he is entitled.

Further, we decline to depart from the Court’s precedent, based
on the doctrine of separation of powers, in which we have held that it
is not our prerogative to second-guess the executive on matters of
clemency in capital cases. Johnston has not provided any reason for
the Court to depart from its precedents or to hold that an additional
clemency proceeding is required before a death warrant is signed.
Because these same claims have been raised and ruled on in the
Court’s prior precedents, and Johnston has provided no reason for the
Court to depart from those precedents, relief 1s denied.

Johnston, 35 Fla. L. Weekly at S69; see also Marek, 14 So. 3d at 998; Bundy, 497

So.2d at 121 1. Similarly, Grossman has not provided any reason why this Court

should depart from its well-established precedent on this issue, and we thus deny

relief on this claim.




I1I. Competency to be Executed

Grossman’s final argument in his third successive postconviction motion is
that executing him would be cruel and unusual punishment because he may be
incompetent at the time of execution. The trial court dismissed this claim on the
ground that the claim was premature under both section 922.07, Florida Statutes
{2009}, and Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.811(c). Rule 3.811(c) provides
that “[n]o motion for a stay of execution pending hearing, based on grounds of the
prisoner’s insanity to be executed, shall be entertained by any court until such time
as the Governor of Florida shall have held appropriate proceedings for determining
the issue pursuant to the appropriate Florida statutes.” See also § 922.07, Fla. Stat.
(2009) (outlining procedures for Governor to follow when he or she is informed
that a person under sentence of death may be insane). We conclude that the trial
court properly dismissed this claim because under rule 3.811(c) and section
922.07, Grossman must exhaust his administrative remedies before he can raise
this issue in court. The trial court also properly dismissed this claim on the basis
that it lacked jurisdiction to consider the claim under Florida Rule of Criminal
Procedure 3.811(d)(1). Rule 3.811(d)(1) provides in pertinent part: “The motion
shall be filed in the circuit court of the circuit in which the execution is to take

place . ...” Accordingly, we affirm the trial court’s dismissal of this claim.
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CONCLUSION

For the reasons discussed above, we affirm the trial court’s summary denial
of Grossman’s third successive motion for postconviction relief.

[t 15 so ordered.

PARIENTE, LEWIS, CANADY, POLSTON, LABARGA, and PERRY, J1J.
COncur.

QUINCE, C.J., recused.
NO MOTION FOR REHEARING WILL BE ALLOWED.
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Supreme Court of JFfloviva

No. SC10-118

MARTIN EDWARD GROSSMAN,
Appellant,

VS.

STATE OF FLORIDA,
Appellee.

[February 8, 2010]

PER CURIAM.

Martin Edward Grossman, a prisoner under sentence of death and under an
active death warrant, appeals from the trial court’s order summarily denying his
motion to vacate his sentence pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure
3.851. Because the order concerns postconviction relief from a sentence of death,
this Court has jurisdiction over the appeal under article V, section 3(b)(1), of the
Florida Constitution. In his successive motion filed after the death warrant was
signed, the summary denial of which is the subject of the present appeal, Grossman

raised claims that were either previously raised in his postconviction proceedings




that concluded in 1997 or repeatedly rejected by this Court as legally without

merit. Therefore, as more fully explained in this opinion, we affirm the trial
court’s order.

FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

In 1985, Martin Grossman was convicted of the 1984 first-degree murder of
Wildlife Officer Margaret Park and was sentenced to death on the recommendation
of a unanimous jury. This case has a long procedural history. The conviction and
death sentence have been reviewed and affirmed on direct appeal and have been
the subject of multiple state and federal proceedings.! The facts of this case are set
forth in this Court’s opinion in Grossman’s direct appeal of his conviction and

sentence:

Appellant and a companion, Taylor, drove to a wooded area of
Pinellas County on the night of December 13, 1984, to shoot a
handgun which appellant had recently obtained by burglarizing a
home. Appellant lived in neighboring Pasco County at his mother’s
home and was on probation following a recent prison term. Wildlife
Officer Margaret Park, patrolling the area in her vehicle, came upon
the two men and became suspicious. She left her vehicle with the
motor, lights, and flashers on, and took possession of appellant’s
weapon and driver’s license. Appellant pleaded with her not to turn

1. These cases are: Grossman v. State, 525 So. 2d 833 (Fla. 1988), cert.
denied, 489 U.S. 1071 (1989); Grossman v. Dugger, 708 So. 2d 249 (Fla. 1997);
Grossman v. Crosby, 880 So. 2d 1211 (Fla. 2004); Grossman v. Crosby, 359 F.
Supp. 2d 1233 (M.D. Fla. 2005), aff’d sub nom. Grossman v. McDonough, 466
F.3d 1325 (11th Cir. 20006), cert. denied, 550 U.S. 958 (2007); Grossman v. State, |
932 So. 2d 192 (Fla. 2006); and Grossman v. State, 5 So. 3d 668 (Fla. 2009). |




him in as having a weapon in his possession and being outside of
Pasco County would cause him to return to prison for violation of
probation. Officer Park refused the plea, opened the driver’s door to
her vehicle and picked up the radio microphone to call the sheriff’s
office. Appellant then grabbed the officer’s large flashlight and struck
her repeatedly on the head and shoulders, forcing her upper body into
the vehicle. Officer Park reported “I’'m hit” over the radio and
screamed. Appellant continued the attack, and called for help from
Taylor, who joined in the assault. Officer Park managed to draw her
weapon, a .357 magnum, and fired a wild shot within the vehicle.
Simultancously, she temporarily disabled Taylor by kicking him in the
groin. Appellant, who is a large man, wrestled the officer’s weapon
away and fired a fatal shot into the back of her head. The spent slug
exited her head in front and fell into a drinking cup inside the vehicle.
Blood stains, high velocity splatters, the location of the spent slug, and
the entry and exit wounds show that the victim’s upper body was
inside the vehicle with her face turned inward or downward at the
moment she was killed. Appellant and Taylor took back the seized
handgun and driver’s license, and fled with the officer’s weapon.
They returned to the Grossman home, where they told the story of the
killing, individually and collectively, to a friend who lived with the
Grossmans. The friend, Brian Hancock, and Taylor buried the two
weapons nearby. Appellant, who was covered with blood, attempted
unsuccessfully to burn his clothes and shoes which Taylor later
disposed of in a nearby lake. Approximately a week later appellant
and Taylor, individually and collectively, recounted the story of the
murder to another friend, Brian Allan. Approximately eleven days
after the murder, Hancock told his story to the police and appellant
and Taylor were arrested. Taylor, upon his arrest, recounted the story
of the murder to a policeman and, later, appellant told the story to a
jailmate, Charles Brewer, Appellant and Taylor were tried jomntly
over appellant’s objection. At trial, the state introduced the testimony
of Hancock, Allan, and Brewer against appellant. The state also
introduced Taylor’s statement to the policeman against Taylor only.

In addition, the state introduced the charred shoes, the two weapons,
prints taken from the victim’s vehicle, testimony from a neighbor who
observed the attempted burning of the clothes, appellant’s efforts to
clean the Grossman van, and the changing of the van tires. Expert
testimony as to the cause of death and the significance of blood
splatter evidence was also introduced by the state. The jury was |
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instructed that Taylor’s admissions to the policeman could only be

used against him, not appellant. The jury was instructed on

premeditation and felony murder based on robbery, burglary, and

escape. A general verdict of first-degree murder was returned against

the appellant and Taylor was found guilty of third-degree murder.
Grossman, 525 So. 2d at 835-36.

During the penalty phase, defense counsel called four witnesses: (1) Myra
Grossman, Grossman’s mother; (2) Thomas Campbell, a correctional ofticer
overseeing Grossman; (3) Steven Martakas, Grossman’s friend from junior high
school; and (4) Carolyn Middleton, a social worker at the jail housing Grossman.
These witnesses testified that Grossman’s father was disabled and that Grossman
was often tasked from a very young age with taking care of him. Grossman
dropped out of junior high school, and his father died when Grossman was fifteen
vears old. Grossman respected his parents and was not a violent person.
Grossman never exhibited behavioral problems while in jail, and he was very
nervous and scared about being executed. Following the penalty phase, the jury
unanimously recommended death, and the judge imposed a sentence of death.

Grossman, 525 So. 2d at 836.° This Court affirmed Grossman’s conviction and

death sentence on direct appeal. Id. at 846.

2. The trial court found four aggravating circumstances:

(1) the murder was committed while engaged in the commission of or
an attempt to commit, or flight after committing or attempt to commit,
the crime of robbery or burglary; (2) the murder was committed for
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On March 8, 1990, before Grossman ﬁled‘ any postconviction motions,
Governor Bob Martinez signed a death warrant setting the execution of Grossman
for the week of May 10, 1990. Grossman filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus
in this Court, and this Court granted a stay of execution to allow Grossman the
opportunity to seek postconviction relief. Grossman, 708 So. 2d at 250. Grossman
filed a motion to vacate his conviction and sentence under Florida Rule of Criminal
Procedure 3.850 in the trial court in August 1990 (“original postconviction
motion”) and simultaneously filed an amended habeas petition in this Court. Id.

In his original postconviction motion, Grossman made numerous claims, but
three claims are directly relevant to our determination that the present successive
motion includes claims that Grossman has previously raised. First, Grossman
argued in claim VI of his original postconviction motion that he was denied the
effective assistance of counsel during the penalty phase because counsel failed to
have Grossman examined by a competent mental health professional as required by

Ake v. Oklahoma, 470 U.S. 68 (1985). The original court-appointed mental health

expert for the defense was Dr. Sidney Merin. However, Dr. Merin did not testify

the purpose of avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest; (3) the murder
was committed to disrupt or hinder the lawful exercise of government
function or the enforcement of laws; and (4) the murder was
especially wicked, evil, atrocious, or cruel. Numbers two and three
were treated as one circumstance by the trial judge.

Id. at 840. The trial court found no mitigating circumstances. Id. at 346.
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during Grossman’s penalty phase proceedings. After his evaluation of Grossman,
Dr. Merin advised defense counsel that “[his] findings would not be helpful to
[the] defense position in either the guilt or innocence phase or, if'it is held, the
sentencing phase of Mr. Grossman’s trial.” In his original postconviction motion,
Grossman alleged that a new mental health expert, Dr. Brad Fisher, had evaluated
Grossman in March 1990 and had prepared a report that rebutted the contentions of
Dr. Merin.” Dr. Fisher’s report indicated that testing did not reveal any signs of “a
current psychotic condition or of any major affective disorder.” However, Dr.
Fisher noted that his testing revealed “soft signs of organic impairment,” which
was supported by Grossman’s history of “chronic and extensive drug and alcohol
dependence,” and that “[f]urther testing would be required to determine the nature
and extent of this probable mental disability.” Grossman attached Dr. Fisher’s
report to his motion and was prepared to call Dr. Fisher to testify at an evidentiary
hearing.® The trial court summarily denied this claim, and this Court affirmed that

denial. Grossman, 708 So. 2d at 252.

3. This report by Dr. Fisher is the same report from Dr. Fisher attached by
Grossman to his third successive postconviction motion, the summary denial of
which is the subject of the present appeal.

4. In his current successive motion, Grossman alleges that in addition to Dr.
Fisher, Dr. Henry Dee, an expert who had evaluated Grossman, was also available
to testify at an evidentiary hearing to support Grossman’s allegations under claim
VI of Grossman’s original postconviction motion. However, claim VI does not
refer to Dr. Dee. Grossman alleges that Dr. Dee is now deceased.
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Second, Grossman claimed in claim V of his original postconviction motion

that counsel was ineffective during the penalty phase for failing to investigate,
develop. and present mitigating evidence. Grossman received an evidentiary
hearing on this claim. The only expert offered by the defense at the evidentiary
hearing in 1994 was Kevin Sullivan, a licensed clinical social worker. Sullivan
testified that Grossman was raised in a dysfunctional environment and that a
number of factors negatively impacted his development, including that Grossman
had been given inappropriate caretaking responsibilities from a young age; that his
family had relocated at a critical time in his development; and that he experienced
grief at the loss of his father and grandfather.

The trial court denied relief on this claim:

The Defendant has failed to make the required showing of
either deficient performance or sufficient prejudice [under Strickland
v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984)] to support his ineffectiveness
claim.

The Court has evaluated the conduct of the Defendant’s counsel
from counsel’s perspective at the time of the trial. Defendant
introduced thirty-three affidavits that were represented as possible
mitigation witnesses that were available at the time of trial but were
not used by the defense. Several of the possible witnesses represented
by the affidavits were known to the defense, and the defense had
determined not to use them.

Defense counsel, Mr. McCoun, at the time of trial, recognized
that while trying to present a favorable picture of the Defendant,
equally negative things would also be presented. Mr. McCoun did not
warnt to use witnesses who would say that the Defendant was into
stealing and heavy drug use. Moreover, defense counsel called three
mitigating witnesses in addition to the Defendant’s mother. The
mitigating witnesses that were called had close contact with the
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Defendant near the time that he committed the crime; whereas, many
of the potential witnesses that were represented by the affidavits had
not seen the Defendant in years.

The Court finds that Mr, McCoun did a competent, effective
job of representing the Defendant at all phases of the trial. Even if
counsel were deemed ineffective for the reasons stated by the
Defendant, such alleged ineffectiveness did not come close to being
so prejudicial to the Defendant that it affected the outcome of the
case. The facts of this case showed the Defendant’s conduct to be so
egregious that proof of mitigating circumstances was extremely
difficult.

This Court affirmed the trial court’s denial of this claim. Grossman, 708 So. 2d at
251.

Third, also pertinent to the issues that he now raises, Grossman argued in his
original postconviction motion that inmate Charles Brewer, who testified for the
State, was acting as a State agent when he procured incriminating information from
Grossman, and that the State failed to disclose this fact in violation of Brady v.
Marvland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963). After an evidentiary hearing, the trial court found:

Defendant states that Charles Brewer, a trusty at the Pinellas
County Jail while Defendant was being held there awaiting trial, was a
state agent, and the State withheld this fact along with an agreement
that Mr. Brewer had reached with prosecutors regarding charges that
were pending against Mr. Brewer. Mr. Brewer testified that he had
his brother contact law enforcement after he heard Defendant
discussing the case. Mr. Brewer said that he talked to the homicide
detectives only one time and that was when they took his taped
statement.

Detective Robert Rhodes testified that he taped Mr. Brewer’s
statement on July 25, 1985, and that was the only time he ever met
with Mr. Brewer. The State did not make any deals with Mr. Brewer
in exchange for the statement, and Detective Rhodes did not suggest




questions for Mr. Brewer to ask the Defendant or ask Mr. Brewer to
be an agent for the State.

The State Attorney, Bernie McCabe, testified that he
interviewed Mr. Brewer at the State Attorney’s Office prior to the trial
and that he emphasized to Mr. Brewer that there were no deals in
exchange for Mr. Brewer’s testimony. Defendant’s claim that Mr.
Brewer was a state agent at the time that he discussed the Peggy Park
murder with Defendant and that the State struck a deal with Mr.
Brewer in exchange for his testimony is without merit.

The trial court also denied Grossman’s claim that the State violated Giglio v.
United States, 405 U.S. 150 (1972), by presenting the false testimony of Brewer:

Defendant claims that Mr. Brewer provided false testimony
about his prior record and about statements that Mr. Brewer attributed
to Defendant. It does not appear from the evidence that the State was
aware of the alleged falsity of Mr. Brewer’s testimony about his prior
record. Defendant states that Mr. Brewer’s testimony concerning
statements allegedly made by the Defendant was false; specifically,
that the Defendant shot the victim because she was a woman and that
if he had shot her in the back of the head it would have blown her face
away. State’s Exhibit Number Two is a transcript of Mr. Brewer’s
taped interview with Detective Rhodes. Mr. Brewer did not dispute
the accuracy of the transcript of the taped interview, and stated that he
did not remember at the time of the Rule 3.850 hearing what he had
said during the taped interview. Defendant has failed to show how the
alleged falsity of this aspect of Mr. Brewer’s testimony affected the
conviction or the sentence imposed in this case; therefore, this claim
has no merit.

On appeal, this Court found that competent, substantial evidence supported the trial
court’s finding as to the Brady claim concerning Brewer, but did not specifically
address the Giglio claim. Grossman, 708 So. 2d at 252.

Grossman later filed an amended federal habeas petition in which he raised,

inter alia, the same issues concerning witness Brewer and ineffective assistance of
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counsel during the penalty phase. Grossman, 359 F. Supp. 2d at 1245-47° The
[ederal district court denied the habeas petition, id., and the Eleventh Circuit

affirmed. Grossman v. McDonough, 466 F.3d 1325 (1 1th Cir. 2006).

Subsequently, Grossman filed his first and second successive motions for
postconviction relief, the summary denial of which was aftirmed by this Court.

See Grossman, 932 So. 2d 192 (affirming summary denial of Grossman’s first

successive postconviction motion}; Grossman, 5 So. 3d 668 (affirming summary
denial of Grossman’s second successive postconviction motion). None of these
successive motions or appeals raised any issues related specifically to either the
guilt or penalty phasc of Grossman’s trial.

On January 12, 2010, Governor Crist signed a death warrant for Grossman,
scheduling his execution for February 16, 2010. Grossman then filed his third
successive motion for postconviction relief, raising three claims as set forth below,
and the State filed its response. After holding an initial hearing pursuant to Florida
Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851(h)(6) on January 20, 2010, to determine whether
an evidentiary hearing should be held on this motion, the trial court summarily

denied claims one and two, and dismissed claim three.

5. Grossman’s initial federal habeas petition was filed before his state
habeas petition, but it was stricken. Grossman, 359 F. Supp. 2d at 1245. After he
refiled the petition, the case was administratively closed pending the outcome of
two Florida cases that addressed issues arising from Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584
(2002). Grossman, 359 F. Supp. 2d at 1245.
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ANALYSIS

In the present appeal, Grossman argues that the trial court erred in
summarily denying his claims that (1) he was denied his constitutional rights
because he was not granted an evidentiary hearing on his claim in his ortginal
postconviction motion that trial counsel provided ineffective assistance in the
penalty phase of Grossman’s trial by failing to have him examined by a competent
mental health professional and newly discovered evidence now supports his
ineffective assistance claim; (2) Florida’s death penalty statute is arbitrary and
capricious in violation of his constitutional rights because the trial court and jury
did not hear all of his available mitigating evidence, the State violated Giglio by
presenting the false testimony of witnf;-ss Charles Brewer, and he was denied the
opportunity to present new evidence pertinent to his claim for clemency; and (3)
proceeding with the execution of Grossman will violate the Eighth Amendment of
the United States Constitution because he may be incompetent at the time of the
execution. We now address and reject all three claims.

1. Ineffective Assistance of Counsel During Penalty Phase

In his third successive postconviction motion, Grossman argued that his
constitutional rights were violated when the trial court considering his original
postconviction motion summarily denied his claim that trial counsel provided

ineffective assistance at the penalty phase of his trial by failing to have him
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examined by a competent mental health professional as required by Ake v.
Oklahoma. He contended that the sentencing court therefore did not hear all
possible evidence regarding mitigating circumstances before sentencing and
attached the report of Dr. Fisher to his motion. Grossman further alleged that he
would now call Dr. Michael Maher, who recently reviewed the raw data generated
by testing done by Dr. Fisher and Dr. Dee. He alleges that Dr. Maher, a new
expert, would “testify about Mr. Grossman’s life-long intellectual neurological
deficits[,] . . . how it affected Grossman’s state of mind at the time of the crime,”
and about Grossman’s dependency on alcohol and drugs, which manifested at an
early age. Dr. Maher would “also conduct a clinical evaluation of his own to
establish statutory or non-statutory mitigation.” The postconviction court
summarily denied this claim as procedurally barred and untimely.

As we explained in Tompkins v. State, 994 So. 2d 1072, 1080-81 (Fla.

2008):

Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851 governs the filing of
postconviction motions in capital cases. Rule 3.851(d)(1) generally
prohibits the filing of a postconviction motion more than one year
after the judgment and sentence become final. An exception permits
filing beyond this deadline if the movant alleges that “the facts on
which the claim is predicated were unknown to the movant or the
movant’s attorney and could not have been ascertained by the exercise
of due diligence.” Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851(d)(2)(A). ... Rule 3.851
also provides certain pleading requirements for initial and successive
postconviction motions. Fla. R, Crim. P. 3.851(e)(1)-(2). For
example, the motion must state the nature of the relief sought, Fla. R.
Crim. P. 3.851(e)(1)(C), and must include “a detailed allegation of the
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factual basis for any claim for which an evidentiary hearing is
sought.” Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851(e)(1}(D).

Rule 3.851(f)}(5)(B) permits the denial of a successive
postconviction motion without an evidentiary hearing “[i]f the motion,
files, and records in the case conclusively show that the movant 1s
entitled to no relief.” A postconviction court’s decision regarding
whether to grant a rule 3.851 evidentiary hearing depends on the
written materials before the court; therefore, for all intents and
purposes, its ruling constitutes a pure question of law and is subject to
de novo review. See, e.g.. Rose v. State, 985 So. 2d 500, 505 (Fla.
2008). In reviewing a trial court’s summary denial of postconviction
relief, this Court must accept the defendant’s allegations as true to the
extent that they are not conclusively refuted by the record. See
Rolling v. State, 944 So. 2d 176, 179 (Fla. 2006).

Because Grossman’s claim was summarily denied, our review is de novo. Walton
v, State, 3 So. 3d 1000, 1005 (Fla. 2009).

We conclude that summary denial of this claim was proper for two reasons.
First, as the trial court concluded, this claim is procedurally barred. Grossman’s
contention that his constitutional rights were violated when the original
postconviction court summarily denied his ineffective assistance claim is merely
an impermissible attempt to resurrect that ineffective assistance claim, the

summary denial of which was affirmed by this Court. See Grossman, 708 So. 2d

at 252. This claim was also raised in Grossman’s federal habeas petition, which

was denied by the federal district court. See Grossman, 359 F. Supp. 2d at 1267-

70 (“Grossman has failed to demonstrate any error in the denial of his claim that
his attorneys were ineffective in the investigation and presentation of mitigating

evidence.”). In fact, Grossman was permitted an evidentiary hearing on his
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ineffective assistance of counsel claim that his counsel was deficient in not

offering mental health testimony—claim V in his original postconviction motion.
Second, we agree with the trial court’s conclusion that Grossman’s claim
does not present newly discovered evidence and is therefore untimely. To obtain a
new trial based on newly discovered evidence, a defendant must meet two
requirements: First, the evidence must not have been known by the trial court, the
party, or counsel at the time of trial, and it must appear that the defendant or
defense counsel could not have known of it by the use of diligence. Second, the
newly discovered evidence must be of such nature that it would probably produce

an acquittal on retrial. See Jones v. State, 709 So. 2d 512, 521 (Fla. 1998).

We reject Grossman’s claim on the first prong of Jones and therefore need
not reach the second prong. Grossman attempts to argue that the proposed
testimony of his new expert, Dr. Maher, concerning nonstatutory mental
mitigation, is newly discovered evidence in light of the decision of the United

States Supreme Court in Porter v. McCollum, 130 S. Ct. 447 (2009), because

“Ip]rior to Porter, Florida Courts did not consider non-statutory mental miti gation
as mitigation.” We reject this claim. Porter did not grant Florida courts the
authority to consider this type of mitigation, but rather recognized that Florida
courts already do so: “Under Florida law, mental health evidence that does not rise

to the level of establishing a statutory mitigating circumstance may nonetheless be
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considered by the sentencing judge and jury as mitigating.” 130 S. Ct. at 454

(citing Hoskins v. State, 965 So. 2d 1, 17-18 (Fla. 2007)).
Accordingly, we deny relief on this claim.

11. The Constitutionality of Florida’s Death Penalty Statute as Applied

We turn next to Grossman’s claim that the Florida death penalty statute is

arbitrary and capricious as applied to him, in violation of Furman v. Georgia, 408

U.S. 238 (1972), because (1) the court and jury did not hear all available mitigating
cvidence at the penalty phase; (2) the State violated Giglio by presenting the false
testimony of witness Charles Brewer; and (3) Grossman has not had the
opportunity to present newly discovered evidence in clemency prdceedings. In the
first of these three claims, Grossman merely reasserts the same allegations we
rejccted above as procedurally barred—that the trial court and jury were not able to
consider all possible mitigating evidence at the penalty phase. Therefore, we do
not further address this subclaim.
A. Giglio Claim

Grossman alleged in his third successive postconviction motion that the
State violated Giglio by presenting the false testimony of witness Charles Brewer,
Specifically, Grossman contended that his death sentence is arbitrary and
capricious because he is being treated differently than another death row inmate,

Pau! Beasley Johnson, whose sentence of death was recently vacated by this Court
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due to prosecutorial misconduct resulting from a Giglio violation.® See Johnson v.

State, 35 Fla. L. Weekly S43 (Fla. Jan. 14, 2010).

We conclude that summary denial of this claim was proper. Johnson is
distinguishable and applied well-established precedent to the unique facts of that
case. There, a successive rule 3.851 motion presented newly discovered evidence
that the State committed a Giglio violation by knowingly presenting false
testimony:

Specifically, we conclude that newly disclosed evidence shows
the following. First, after Johnson was arrested and counsel was
appointed, the State intentionally induced Johnson to make
incriminating statements to a jailhouse informant in violation of
Johnson’s right to counsel. Because Johnson’s statements were
impermissibly elicited, the informant’s testimony concerning those
statements was inadmissible under United States v. Henry, 447 U.S.
264 (1980). Second, although the prosecutor at Johnson’s first trial
knew that Johnson’s statements were impermissibly elicited and that
the informant’s testimony was inadmissible, he knowingly usecd false
testimony and misleading argument to convince the court to admit the
testimony. And third, because the informant’s testimony was
admitted and then later used at Johnson’s 1988 trial, and because the
State has failed to show that this error did not contribute to the jury’s
advisory sentences of death, we must vacate the death sentences under
Giglio v. United States, 405 U.S. 150 (1972), and remand for a new
penalty phase proceeding before a new jury.

Johnson, 35 Fla. L. Weekly at S43.

6. To establish a Giglio violation, a defendant must show that: (1) the
prosecutor presented or failed to correct false testimony; (2) the prosecutor knew
the testimony was false; and (3) the false evidence was material. See Guzman v.
State, 941 So. 2d 1045, 1050 (Fla. 2006). If the first two prongs are established,
the false evidence is deemed material if there is any reasonable possibility that it
could have affected the jury’s verdict. See id.
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In Grossman’s original postconviction motion, he raised a claim of
prosecutorial misconduct regarding Brewer’s testimony. Following the 1995
evidentiary hearing on that claim, the trial court denied relief, finding that there
was no evidence that the State knew Brewer’s testimony was false at the time of
trial and further found that, in any event, Grossman had not shown how Brewer’s
allegedly false testimony affected the judgment or sentence in Grossman’s case. In
his third successive postconviction motion, Grossman does not provide any new
evidence or indication that prosecutorial misconduct occurred. Therefore, unlike
in Johnson, Grossman’s claim is successive, and we deny relief on that basis.

B. Clemency Proceedings

Grossman next argued in his third successive postconviction motion that the
death penalty is arbitrary and capricious as applied to him because he had a
clemency proceeding in October 1988, but has not had an opportunity to present
further information about his life in a recent clemency proceeding. He asserted
that newly discovered evidence would explain why he acted impulsively at
nineteen years of age when he committed the murder. He further contended that
the clemency procedures are impermissibly arbitrary.

We conclude that the trial court properly denied this claim without an
evidentiary hearing. This Court recently rejected an identical claim in Johnston v.

State, 35 Fla. L. Weekly S64 (Fla. Jan. 21, 2010):




Johnston contends that his original clemency hearing was
inadequate to protect his rights because it was conducted before his
full life history and mental illness history were developed. We
rejected a similar argument in Bundy that time must be given to
prepare and present a case for clemency in a second clemency
proceeding before the death sentence may be carried out. Bundy[v.
State], 497 So. 2d [1209] at 1211 [(Fla. 1986)]. We also noted in
Marek v. State, 14 So. 3d 985 (Fla. 2009), after Marek raised a second
challenge to the clemency process, that “five justices of the United
States Supreme Court concluded [in Ohio Adult Parole Authority v.
Woodard, 523 U.S. 272 (1998)] that some minimal procedural due
process requirements should apply to clemency . . . [b]ut none of the
opinions in that case required any specific procedures or criteria to
guide the executive’s signing of warrants for death-sentenced
inmates.” Marek, 14 So. 3d at 998. We again conclude that no
specific procedures are mandated in the clemency process and that
Johnston has been provided with the clemency proceedings to which
he is entitled.

Further, we decline to depart from the Court’s precedent, based
on the doctrine of separation of powers, in which we have held that it
is not our prerogative to second-guess the executive on matters of
clemency in capital cases. Johnston has not provided any reason for
the Court to depart from its precedents or to hold that an additional
clemency proceeding is required before a death warrant is signed.
Because these same claims have been raised and ruled on in the
Court’s prior precedents, and Johnston has provided no reason for the
Court to depart from those precedents, relief is denied.

Johnston, 35 Fla. L. Weekly at S69; see also Marek, 14 So. 3d at 998; Bundy, 497
So.2d at 1211. Similarly, Grossman has not provided any reason why this Court
should depart from its well-established precedent on this issue, and we thus deny

relief on this claim.
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111. Competency to be Executed

Grossman'’s final argument in his third successive postconviction motion is
that executing him would be cruel and unusual punishment because he may be
incompetent at the time of execution. The trial court dismissed this claim on the
ground that the claim was premature under both section 922.07, Florida Statutes
(2009). and Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.811(c). Rule 3.811(c) provides
that “[n]o motion for a stay of execution pending hearing, based on grounds of the
prisoner’s insanity to be executed, shall be entertained by any court until such time
as the Governor of Florida shall have held appropriate proceedings for determining
the issue pursuant to the appropriate Florida statutes.” Seg also § 922.07, Fla. Stat.
(2009) (outlining procedures for Governor to follow when he or she is informed
that a person under sentence of death may be insane). We conclude that the trial
court properly dismissed this claim because under rule 3.811(c) and section
922.07, Grossman must exhaust his administrative remedies before he can raise
this issue in court. The trial court also properly dismissed this claim on the basis
that it lacked jurisdiction to consider the claim under Florida Rule of Criminal
Procedure 3.811(d)(1). Rule 3.811(d)(1) provides in pertinent part: “The motion
shall be filed in the circuit court of the circuit in which the execution is to take

place . ...” Accordingly, we affirm the trial court’s dismissal of this claim.
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CONCLUSION

For the reasons discussed above, we affirm the trial court’s summary denial
of Grossman'’s third successive motion for postconviction relief.

It 1s so ordered.

PARIENTE, LEWIS, CANADY, POLSTON, LABARGA, and PERRY, JJ.
CONCUT.

QUINCE, C.J., recused.
NO MOTION FOR REHEARING WILL BE ALLOWED.
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